

SANNA MÄKELÄ

Activation of Innate Immune Responses by Toll-Like Receptors and Influenza Viruses



DEPARTMENT OF INFECTIOUS DISEASES NATIONAL INSTITUTE FOR HEALTH AND WELFARE AND DEPARTMENT OF BIOSCIENCES FACULTY OF BIOLOGICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES DOCTORAL PROGRAMME IN INTEGRATIVE LIFE SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF HELSINKI

Activation of Innate Immune Responses by Toll-Like Receptors and Influenza Viruses

SANNA MÄKELÄ

Viral Infections Unit, Department of Infectious Diseases National Institute for Health and Welfare and Division of General Microbiology, Department of Biosciences Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences University of Helsinki and Doctoral Programme in Integrative Life Science University of Helsinki

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented for public examination with the permission of the Faculty of Biological and Environmental Sciences of the University of Helsinki in the small hall, University Main Building, Fabianinkatu 33, on Friday, 4th of March, 2016, at 12 o'clock noon.

Helsinki 2016

Supervisors	Professor Ilkka Julkunen, MD, PhD Department of Infectious Diseases National Institute for Health and Welfare, Finland and Department of Virology University of Turku, Finland	
	Docent Pamela Österlund, PhD Department of Infectious Diseases National Institute for Health and Welfare, Finland	
Thesis Committee	Docent Kaarina Lähteenmäki, PhD Advanced Therapies and Product Development Finnish Red Cross Blood Service, Finland	
	Docent Sampsa Matikainen, PhD Unit of Systems Toxicology Finnish Institute of Occupational Health, Finland	
Reviewers	Docent Varpu Marjomäki, PhD Department of Biological and Environmental Scienc University of Jyväskylä, Finland	
	Docent Petteri Arstila, MD, PhD Department of Bacteriology and Immunology University of Helsinki, Finland	
Custos	Professor Dennis Bamford, PhD Department of Biosciences and Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki, Finland	
Opponent	Professor Richard E. Randall, PhD School of Biology University of St Andrews, United Kingdom	
© Sanna Mäkelä Cover photo © National Instit Dissertationes Scholae Doctor Universitatis Helsinkiensis ISBN 978-951-51-1924-7 (pri ISSN 2342-3161 (print) ISBN 978-951-51-1925-4 (on ISSN 2342-317X (online) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi Hansaprint Oy, Helsinki 2016	ute for Health and Welfare ralis Ad Sanitatem Investigandam nt) line)	

To Samuel and Joosua

Abstract

Influenza viruses are human respiratory pathogens that cause seasonal epidemics and pandemics. The host restricts the virus infection by inducing immune responses aiming at virus clearance. The immune response has two arms. The innate immunity is the first line defense mechanism that is activated immediately after the recognition of the pathogen. The adaptive immunity, which consists of humoral and cellmediated immunity, takes more time to develop. The epithelial cells of the respiratory tract and innate immune cells, such as macrophages and dendritic cells, are equipped with a plethora of receptors and signaling molecules that are designed for pathogen recognition. These receptors include Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs). The pathogen recognition by these receptors leads to the activation of complex cellular signaling cascades that culminate in the production of cytokines, small proteins that mediate the communication between cells. In influenza infection, one important class of cytokines is interferons (IFNs) which induce the production of antiviral proteins that are able to inhibit virus infection. On the other hand, influenza viruses are capable of evading innate immune surveillance and there are differences between influenza virus types or strains in their immune evasion mechanisms

In this thesis work influenza virus-induced IFN responses were studied in human macrophages and dendritic cells *in vitro*. Firstly, we showed that in macrophages influenza B virus infection induced a very early IFN- β and IFN- λ 1 gene expression that coincided with the nuclear entry of the virus and the activation and nuclear import of IFN regulatory factor 3 (IRF3). This early activation did not take place in influenza A virus-infected cells. Furthermore, our study indicated that RIG-I receptor was essential for the early IFN gene expression. Secondly, we compared the cytokine responses induced by pandemic H1N1 influenza A virus to the ones induced by seasonal influenza A viruses in human macrophages and dendritic cells. We showed that the pandemic influenza A virus induced weak IFN responses but was highly sensitive to the antiviral actions of IFNs.

During the infection, different types of microbial structures are present and can be recognized by different cellular receptors. Another aim of this thesis was to elucidate the mechanism of receptor cooperation in inducing synergistic cytokine production. We confirmed the previous findings that TLR3 or TLR4 together with TLR7/8 induces synergistic interleukin (IL)-12 and IFN gene expression in human dendritic cells. We studied, which regulatory factors bound to IL-12 and IFN- λ 1 gene promoters during a synergistic stimulation and which cell signaling pathways took part in the cytokine production. We conclude that at the transcriptional level, several different IRF proteins and cell signaling pathways cooperate in the

synergistic IL-12 and IFN- λ gene expression. In addition, we propose that IFNs produced after stimulation of the TLR3 pathway induce the expression of TLR7 receptor and other cell signaling components that create a positive feedback loop that further augments the cytokine and IFN production during synergistic stimulation.

This thesis discusses the host-pathogen interactions in the human system and clarifies the cell signaling pathways leading to synergistic cytokine gene expression. Moreover, the early events in influenza B virus infection and IFN responses induced by pandemic H1N1 influenza A virus are described. More detailed knowledge of the human innate immune responses induced by host-pathogen interactions is needed for the development of effective vaccines and antiviral treatments against influenza virus.

Keywords: innate immunity, influenza, interferon, cytokine, Toll-like receptor, macrophage, dendritic cell

Tiivistelmä

Influenssavirukset aiheuttavat vuosittaisia epidemioita ja ajoittain ilmaantuvia pandemioita. Influenssavirusinfektio saa aikaan hengitystietulehduksen, joka voi johtaa vakavaan tautiin perussairailla, immuunipuutteisilla tai iäkkäillä henkilöillä. Ihmisen immuunipuolustuksen tehokas aktivoituminen virusinfektiossa johtaa yleensä taudin paranemiseen. Elimistön immuunipuolustus voidaan jakaa synnynnäiseen eli luontaiseen sekä hankittuun eli adaptiiviseen immuniteettiin. Luontainen immuniteetti käynnistyy nopeasti heti taudinaiheuttajan havaitsemisen jälkeen, kun taas adaptijvisen vasta-aine- ja soluvälitteisen imuniteetin käynnistyminen tapahtuu hitaammin. Hengitysteiden epiteelisolut ja luontaisen immuniteetin solut, kuten makrofagit ja dendriittisolut, tunnistavat mikrobirakenteita reseptoreillaan. Tunnistus johtaa solunsisäisten viestintäketjujen käynnistymiseen, luontaisen immuniteetin geenien luennan aktivoitumiseen ja solujen viestiaineiden. sytokiinien tuottoon. Sytokiinit ohjaavat immuunipuolustuksen toimintaa monin tavoin; influenssainfektiossa tärkeitä sytokiinejä ovat interferonit, jotka saavat aikaan useiden virusta rajoittavien proteiinien tuotannon. Toisaalta influenssavirus kykenee monin tavoin estämään elimistön immuunipuolustuksen käynnistymistä ja toimintaa

Tässä työssä tutkittiin influenssavirusinfektion aikaansaamia interferonivasteita ihmisen immuunisolumallissa. Näytimme, että influenssa B-virus laukaisee hyvin nopean interferonivasteen, mikä tapahtuu selvästi influenssa A-viruksen aktivoimaa vastetta aikaisemmin. Ihmisen makrofageissa tämä aktivaatio tapahtuu jo ennen kuin influenssa B-virus alkaa monistua. Osoitimme solunsisäisen, viruksen RNA molekyylejä tunnistavan RIG-I-reseptorin olevan tärkeä aikaisen interferonivasteen käynnistymiselle. Toisessa työssä vertasimme interferonivasteita pandeemisen H1N1-alatyypin influenssa A-viruksen ja kausi-influenssavirusten kesken. Tutkimus osoitti, että pandeeminen virus laukaisi heikon sytokiinivasteen ihmisen immuunisoluissa, mutta solujen esikäsittely interferoneilla esti pandeemisen viruksen monistumista tehokkaasti.

Soluilla on useita erilaisia reseptoreita, jotka voivat tunnistaa eri mikrobirakenteita infektion aikana. Yksi tämän työn tavoitteista oli tutkia Tollin kaltaisten reseptoreiden (TLR) yhteistoimintaa ihmisen valkosolumalleilla. Tuloksemme vahvistivat muiden tutkijoiden aiemmat havainnot siitä, että solujen stimulointi TLR3 tai TLR4 reseptorin välityksellä samanaikaisesti TLR7/8 reseptorin kanssa saa aikaan voimakkaan interleukiini 12 ja interferoni λ 1 tuotannon. Synergian mekanismia selvitettäessä havaittiin, että useiden eri transkriptiotekijöiden ja solunsisäisten viestintäketjujen samanaikainen aktivaatio selitti voimakasta sytokiinituotantoa soluissa. Havaitsimme myös, että TLR3:n välityksellä tapahtunut

interferonituotanto lisäsi TLR7:n ja TLR7-välitteisen viestintäketjun proteiinien tuotantoa, mikä voi osaltaan edesauttaa viestintäketjujen aktivaatiota ja voimistaa sytokiinituotantoa mikrobi-infektion tai TLR-stimulaation aikana.

Tämä väitöskirjatyö tarkastelee isäntäsolun ja taudinaiheuttajan välisiä vuorovaikutussuhteita ja valottaa synergistisen sytokiinituotannon mekanismeja ihmisen immuunisoluissa. Lisäksi tutkimus kuvaa influenssa B-virusinfektion aikaisia vaiheita ja pandeemisen H1N1 influenssa A-viruksen laukaisemia sytokiinivasteita. Tämän työn tarkoituksena on ollut osaltaan lisätä ihmisen luontaisen immuniteetin aktivoitumisen yksityiskohtaista tuntemusta, mikä on edellytys turvallisten ja tehokkaiden rokotteiden ja viruslääkkeiden kehittämiselle.

Avainsanat: luontainen immuniteetti, influenssavirus, interferoni, sytokiini, Tollin kaltainen reseptori, makrofagi, dendriittisolu

Contents

Abstract	5
Tiivistelmä	7
List of original papers	. 11
Candidate's independent contribution to this work	. 12
Abbreviations	. 13
1 Introduction	. 17
2 Review of the literature	. 18
2.1 Influenza viruses	. 18
2.1.1 Influenza virus structure	. 19
2.1.2 Influenza virus entry and replication cycle	. 20
2.2 Innate immunity	. 23
2.2.1 Macrophages and dendritic cells	. 23
2.2.2 Pathogen recognition by innate immunity	. 25
2.2.2.1 Toll-like receptors (TLRs)	. 25
2.2.2.2 RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs)	. 29
2.2.2.3 Other pattern recognition receptors (PRRs)	. 30
2.2.3 Cytokines	. 31
2.2.4 Interferons	. 31
2.2.5 Signaling pathways controlling cytokine gene expression	. 32
2.2.5.1 IRFs	. 34
2.2.5.2 NF-кB	. 35
2.2.5.3 MAP kinases	. 35
2.3 Influenza virus and the host	. 35
2.3.1 Innate immune recognition of influenza virus	. 36
2.3.2 Influenza virus-induced cell signaling	. 38
2.3.3 Antiviral responses against influenza virus	. 39
2.3.4 Viral countermeasures against host	. 40
3 Aims of the study	. 42
4 Materials and methods	. 43
4.1 Ethics statement	. 43
4.2 Cell culture	. 43
4.2.1 Differentiation of macrophages and DCs from peripheral blood-deriv	ed
monocytes (I, II, III, IV)	. 43
4.2.2 Mouse embryonic fibroblast cells (I)	. 44
4.3 Viruses and infection experiments (I, II)	. 44
4.4 Reagents	. 45
4.4.1 Antibodies and cytokines	. 45
4.4.2 TLR ligands	. 47
4.4.3 Pharmacological inhibitors	. 47

4.5 Quantitative real time PCR (qRT-PCR)	48
4.6 ELISA (II, III, IV)	49
4.7 Oligonucleotide precipitation assay (DNA affinity binding) (III, IV)	50
4.8 Western blot analysis (I, III, IV)	50
4.9 Immunofluorescence microscopy (I)	51
4.10 Flow cytometric analysis (II)	51
5 Results and discussion	53
5.1 Human monocyte-derived macrophages and dendritic cells as a cell model t	to
study innate immune responses	53
5.2 Activation of innate immune responses by influenza viruses	53
5.2.1 Influenza virus recognition by the host cell (I)	53
5.2.2 Influenza virus-induced IFN responses in human macrophages and DC	Cs
(II)	57
5.2.3 Differences in the activation of innate immune responses by different	
influenza viruses (I, II)	59
5.3 TLR ligand-induced cytokine responses in human immune cells (III, IV) (61
5.3.1 Cooperation of TLR signaling pathways	61
5.3.2 Transcriptional regulation of IL-12 and IFN-λ1 genes	63
5.3.3 IFN feedback loop in the cooperation of TLR signaling pathways	65
6 Concluding remarks	68
7 Acknowledgements	70
8 References	72

List of original papers

- I Mäkelä SM, Östelund P, Westenius V, Latvala S, Diamond MS, Gale M Jr, Julkunen I. RIG-I signaling is essential for influenza B virus-induced rapid interferon gene expression. J. Virol. 2015; 89(23):12014-25.
- II Österlund P, Pirhonen J, Ikonen N, Rönkkö E, Strengell M, Mäkelä SM, Broman M, Hamming OJ, Hartmann R, Ziegler T, Julkunen I. Pandemic H1N1 2009 influenza A virus induces weak cytokine responses in human macrophages and dendritic cells and is highly sensitive to the antiviral actions of interferons. J. Virol. 2010; 84(3):1414-22.
- III Mäkelä SM, Strengell M, Pietilä TE, Österlund P, Julkunen I. Multiple signaling pathways contribute to synergistic TLR ligand-dependent cytokine gene expression in human monocyte-derived macrophages and dendritic cells. J. Leukoc. Biol. 2009; 85(4):664-72.
- **IV Mäkelä SM**, Österlund P, Julkunen I. TLR ligands induce synergistic interferon- β and interferon- λ 1 gene expression in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Mol. Immunol. 2011; 48(4):505-15.

The original articles are reproduced with the kind permission of their copyright holders.

Candidate's independent contribution to this work

- I SM, PÖ and IJ designed the study. SM performed most of the experiments and analyzed the results with some help from VW and SL. MD and MG provided knock-out mouse cells and helped with the writing of the manuscript. SM, PÖ and IJ wrote the manuscript.
- II PÖ, JP, MS, TZ and IJ designed the study. PÖ, JP, MS, ER and SM performed the experiments and analyzed the results. NI, MB and ER analyzed virus sequences. AH and RH provided reagents. PÖ, JP, TZ and IJ wrote the paper.
- III SM, MS, PÖ, TP and IJ designed the study. SM performed experiments and analyzed the results. SM and IJ wrote the manuscript.
- IV SM, PÖ and IJ designed the study. SM performed most of the experiments and analyzed the results with help from PÖ. SM, PÖ and IJ wrote the manuscript.

Abbreviations

AIM	absent in melanoma
ALR	AIM2-like receptor
APC	allophycocyanin
AP-1	activator protein 1
ATF	activating transcription factor
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BDCA	blood dendritic cell antigen
CARD	caspase recruitment domain
cDC	classical/conventional dendritic cell
cDNA	complementary DNA
cGAS	cyclic GMP-AMP synthase
CHX	cycloheximide
CLR	C-type lectin receptors
CPSF	cleavage and polyadenylation specific factor
CRM1	cellular chromosome region maintenance protein 1
cRNA	complementary ribonucleic acid
CSF	colony-stimulating-factor
Ct	comparative threshold
CTD	C-terminal domain
CTL	cytotoxic T lymphocyte
DAMP	danger-associated molecular pattern
DC	dendritic cell
DC-SIGN	dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-
	grabbing non-integrin
Dectin-1	DC-associated C-type lectin 1
ds	double-stranded
EEA1	early endosome antigen 1
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FC	flow cytometry
FCS	fetal calf serum
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
GP	glycoprotein
HA	hemagglutinin
HPAI	highly pathogenic avian influenza
IF	immunofluorescence
IFIT	IFN-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats
IFITM3	IFN-inducible transmembrane protein 3
IFN	interferon
ΙκΒ	inhibitor of nuclear factor k-B
IKK	inhibitor of nuclear factor κ-B kinase
IL	interleukin
IRAK	IL-1 receptor-associated kinase
IRF	IFN regulatory factor

ISG	IFN-stimulated gene
ISGF3	IFN-stimulated gene factor 3
ISG15	ubiquitin-like protein ISG15
IU	international unit
JAK	Janus kinase
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
LAMP	lysosome-associated membrane glycoprotein
LGP2	laboratory of genetics and physiology 2 protein
lncRNA	long noncoding RNA
LPAI	low pathogenic avian influenza
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
LRR	leucine-rich repeat
MAL	MyD88 adaptor-like protein
MAM	mitochondrial-associated membrane
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MAVS	mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein
MDA5	melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5
mDC	myeloid dendritic cell
MDP	monocyte/macrophage and dendritic cell progenitor cells
MEF	mouse embryonic fibroblast
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
moDC	monocyte-derived dendritic cell
MOI	multiplicity of infection
mRNA	messenger RNA
MxA	IFN-regulated resistance GTP-binding protein MxA (human)
Mx1	myxovirus resistance protein 1 (mouse)
MyD88	myeloid differentiation primary-response protein 88
M1	matrix protein
M2	M2 proton channel protein
NA	neuraminidase
NEP	nuclear export protein
NF-κB	nuclear factor of κ light polypeptide gene enhancer in B-cells
NLK	NEMO-like protein kinase
NLR	NOD-like receptor
NLRC5	NOD-like receptor family CARD domain containing 5
NLRP3	LRR- and pyrin domain-containing protein 3
NLS	nuclear localization signal
NOD	nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain
NP	nucleoprotein
NS1	non-structural protein 1
OAS	2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthase
PA	polymerase acidic protein
PAMP	pathogen-associated molecular pattern
PBMC	peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PB1	polymerase basic protein 1

PB2	polymerase basic protein 2
pDC	plasmacytoid dendritic cell
PDTC	pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate
pfu	plaque-forming unit
PI3K	phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase
PKR	protein kinase R
poly(I:C)	polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid
PRR	pattern recognition receptor
RIG-I	retinoic acid-inducible gene I protein (probable ATP-dependent
	RNA helicase DDX58)
RLR	RIG-I-like receptor
RNAseL	ribonuclease L
SARM	sterile alpha and HEAT/Armadillo motif protein
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate
siRNA	small interfering RNA
ssRNA	single-stranded RNA
STAT	signal transducer and activator of transcription
STING	stimulator of IFN genes
TAB	TAK1-binding protein
TAK	transforming growth factor-β-activated kinase 1
TBK1	TANK-binding kinase 1
Th	T helper cell
TICAM1	TIR-domain-containing molecule 1
TIR	Toll/IL-1 receptor
TIRAP	TIR domain containing adaptor protein
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TRAF	TNF receptor-associated factor
TRAM	TRIF-related adaptor molecule
TRIF	TIR domain-containing adaptor protein inducing IFN-β
TRIM	tripartite motif-containing protein
TYK2	tyrosine kinase 2
V-ATPase	vacuolar ATPase
VLP	virus like particle
vRNA	viral RNA
vRNP	viral ribonucleoprotein
vtRNA	vault RNA
WB	Western blotting
WT	wild type

1 Introduction

Viruses were discovered more than 100 years ago. Since then it has become evident that viruses outnumber all cellular forms of life both in quantity and genetic diversity (Koonin and Dolja, 2013). Viruses are ancient obligate parasites that infect cells from all domains of life. They have greatly contributed to the evolution of humankind starting from the emergence of the first primordial cell (Forterre, 2006). Viruses are comprised of genetic material, RNA or DNA, a protein coat called a capsid and in some cases a host cell-derived lipid membrane, an envelope. Many viruses are human pathogens and thus studying the pathogenesis of viral infections and virus-host cell interactions is of great scientific and practical importance. On the other hand, the analysis of the biology of viral infections has taught us many aspects of cell biology. Presently, viruses are widely used as vaccines and potential gene therapy vectors as well as tools in biotechnology.

Viruses depend on the cellular machinery to complete their life cycle and hence the host-pathogen interplay builds up complex networks of interactions between the cellular and viral proteins. Viruses have evolved sophisticated means to manage with a minimal number of genes and yet turn the cell into a virus copy machine to produce thousands of infectious particles per cell. As this is often harmful to the host, host cells have also developed numerous means to fight against viral infection. These defense mechanisms are called the immune system which includes two arms, innate and adaptive immunity. The innate immune response is rapidly activated and rather unspecific reaction against an invading pathogen. The adaptive immunity takes a longer time to develop, but it is highly specific because of the antigenspecific humoral and cell-mediated immune responses. The activation of adaptive immunity is also able to generate immunological memory.

During the years that viruses were first described, the discovery of antibodies (reviewed in Llewelyn et al., 1992) initiated the studies on adaptive immunity. The topic of this thesis, innate immunity, was introduced later and the concept of pattern recognition receptors being able to distinguish self from non-self was presented by Charles Janeway in 1989 (Janeway, 1989). The first pattern recognition receptors were found in the drosophila fly (Lemaitre et al., 1996) and in human (Medzhitov et al., 1997) and since then a plethora of different receptors have been described that survey the extracellular and intracellular space of the cells for the potential microbial and other danger signals. The sensing of danger by the cell triggers the production and secretion of small messenger proteins, cytokines, which are essential in the communication between cells and in directing the cell movement and activation. Highly complex cellular signaling pathways carry the information of pathogen

recognition into the cell nucleus to initiate gene expression aiming at the production of proteins needed for the defense responses against microbial pathogens. The research conducted during the past 20 years has immensely increased our knowledge on innate immune signaling pathways activated by pathogen recognition receptors.

This thesis discusses the influenza virus-induced cytokine gene expression in human innate immune cells i.e. dendritic cells (DCs) and macrophages. The early events in influenza virus infection were analysed in the context of activation of cell signaling pathways leading to interferon (IFN) gene expression. Moreover, the activation of IFN induction by different influenza A virus strains was characterized. In addition, the cooperation of different pattern recognition receptors, namely Toll-like receptors (TLRs), in inducing cytokine expression was studied by analysing the cell signaling pathways required for the synergistic activation of cytokine gene expression.

2 Review of the literature

2.1 Influenza viruses

Influenza viruses are respiratory pathogens that cause seasonal epidemics and occasionally pandemics in the human population. World Health Organization estimates that influenza virus infection leads to the death of 250 000 - 500 000 humans every year, infecting 5 % - 10 % of the population (Keitel et al., 1997; Neuzil et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2003; Thompson et al., 2009). During pandemics, a new type of influenza virus against which the human population has limited immunity, is able to spread from human to human, often causing significant morbidity. Previous influenza pandemics include the 1918 Spanish influenza, the 1957 Asian influenza, the 1968 Hong Kong influenza, and the 2009 (A) H1N1 swine influenza. Humankind constantly faces the fear of a new deadly influenza pandemic arising, as novel reassortant avian influenza viruses such as H5N1 and H7N9 are infecting people in the south-east Asia.

Presently, it is possible to fight pandemics with vaccines, which in the most recent 2009 H1N1 pandemics turned out to be successful. Vaccines against seasonal influenza are available and if the next year's circulating viruses match the vaccine strains well, the vaccines give effective protection against the infection. The problem with influenza A viruses is that they evolve rapidly; the high error rate of the viral RNA polymerase causes mutations in the virus leading to antigenic drift. In addition, the different influenza subtypes change gene segments with each other in

coinfection, giving rise to new reassortant viruses in a process called antigenic shift. As a result, the vaccine does not confer long-lasting immunity but needs to be taken yearly. Other possible treatments include antiviral drugs such as amantadine, rimantadine and neuraminidase inhibitors. The drawback with the drugs is that influenza viruses have developed resistance to these and thus novel ways to control influenza virus infection are needed.

Influenza viruses belong to the family *Orthomyxoviridae* and are classified into influenza A, B and C viruses. Wild aquatic birds are the natural host of influenza A viruses, but the viruses are able to infect many different mammals, including humans. Influenza A viruses are subtyped according to the antigenic properties of their surface glycoproteins; 18 different hemagglutinin (HA) and 11 neuraminidase (NA) types are presently known (Neumann and Kawaoka, 2015). Of these subtypes, H1-H16 and N1-N9 are found circulating in bird populations but only H1N1, H2N2 and H3N2 viruses have caused annual epidemics in humans so far. The influenza H17N10 (Tong et al., 2012) and H18N1 (Tong et al., 2013) viruses were recently discovered from bats. Influenza B viruses only infect humans and some marine mammals. Two distinct evolutionary lineages circulate in humans, called Victoria and Yamagata lineages. Influenza C viruses infect humans and pigs but are rare and thus less is known about them. Recently, a novel influenza Virus was found in swine and cattle, resulting in the proposal to form a new influenza D virus genus (Collin et al., 2015; Sreenivasan et al., 2015).

2.1.1 Influenza virus structure

Influenza A and B viruses are pleomorphic enveloped viruses with a negative orientation single-stranded RNA (ssRNA) genome divided into eight segments. From these segments up to 16, or in the case of influenza B, 11 different proteins are encoded. The viral RNA segment forms a viral ribonucleoprotein (vRNP) complex (Fig.1) where nucleoprotein (NP) monomers are associated with the viral RNA and together form an antiparallel double helix structure (Eisfeld et al., 2015). The 5' and 3'ends of the RNA segment are partially complementary and form a panhandle structure which is bound by the viral polymerase complex consisting of single PB1, PB2 and PA proteins. The vRNP complexes are packaged into a virus particle that consists of matrix protein (M1) shell that is surrounded by the host-derived lipid membrane. The viral glycoproteins HA and NA are embedded in the membrane, as well as the ion channel protein M2 (Lamb and Lai, 1981). Influenza B virus has an additional ion channel NB. Influenza viruses also code a minor structural protein, nuclear export protein (NEP) (Yasuda et al., 1993) and a nonstructural protein NS1 that is not packaged in the viruses but is present in infected cells. NS1 is the best known multifunctional virulence factor of influenza virus and it is able to restrict IFN responses, for example (Krug, 2015). In addition, some influenza A virus

strains encode accessory proteins such as PB1-F2 (Chen et al., 2001; Conenello et al., 2007), PB1-N40 (Wise et al., 2009), PA-X (Jagger et al., 2012), PA-155, PA-182 (Muramoto et al., 2013) and PB2-S1 (Yamayoshi et al., 2015) that have been shown to regulate virus-host interactions or interfere with the defense systems of the host.



Figure 1. Influenza A-virus structure. (Adapted from Eisfeld et al., 2015; Wang and Palese, 2009). Influenza virus genome segments are organized into vRNP structures where the viral RNA (vRNA) is associated with multiple NP proteins and a polymerase complex comprising PB1, PB2 and PA proteins. These vRNPs are packaged in a virion that is build of M1 matrix protein, includes M2 ion channel proteins and nuclear export proteins (NEP) and is surrounded by a host cell-derived lipid envelope. Viral glycoproteins, hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA), are embedded in the lipid bilayer.

2.1.2 Influenza virus entry and replication cycle

Influenza viruses spread via respiratory droplets, aerosols or surfaces contaminated with nasal secretions. Influenza viruses infect humans via the respiratory tract where the virus HA binds to sialic acid residues in the cell surface receptors of the airway epithelial cells. In addition to sialic acids, influenza viruses may utilize other receptors for binding or entry such as DC-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN) (Londrigan et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2008), mannose binding lectins (Reading et al., 2000; Upham et al., 2010) and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) (Eierhoff et al., 2010). Human influenza A viruses prefer glycoproteins with α 2,6 -linked sialic acids which are found in the human upper respiratory tract (Shinya et al., 2006). Avian influenza A viruses instead bind to α 2,3 sialic acid residues which are less abundant in the human respiratory tract

and found on the surface of type II pneumocytes residing at alveolar and bronchial level in the human lungs (Shinya et al., 2006). It is thought that this partially determines the species specificity of the influenza A viruses. Influenza viruses use the host cell machinery for all the steps in the entry process of the virus and several human proteins have been shown to be essential for the infection to take place (Konig et al., 2010).

After the adsorption of the virus particle to the cell surface, the viral particle is endocytosed via receptor-mediated endocytosis (Fig. 2) (Matlin et al., 1981). The best characterized route into the cell for influenza A virus is clathrin-mediated endocytosis (de Vries et al., 2011; Lakadamyali et al., 2004) but also macropinocytosis (de Vries et al., 2011) and clathrin- and caveolin-independent endocytosis (Sieczkarski and Whittaker, 2002) have been proposed. It has been shown that filamentous influenza viruses prefer macropinocytosis (Rossman et al., 2012). After the internalization of the virus, it travels via early and late endosomes towards the perinuclear space. The journey has been shown to involve three stages (Lakadamyali et al., 2003). First, an actin-dependent transport takes the endosome containing the virion to the cell periphery, then a dynein-directed movement is observed and finally a microtubule-dependent movement into the perinuclear space takes place. As the endosome matures, the pH decreases from 6.8-5.9 in early endosomes to 6.0-4.8 in late endosomes (Huotari and Helenius, 2011). The acidic environment induces conformational change in the HA (White and Wilson, 1987) and enables the fusion between the viral and endosomal membranes leading to the release of the nucleocapsid. The optimal pH for the fusion varies between different HA subtypes (Galloway et al., 2013) and the human isolates fuse in lower pH than the avian isolates even within the same subtype. The pH drop also opens up the viral M2 ion channels (Wharton et al., 1994) and the subsequent acidification of the virion results in the dispersion of the M1 matrix proteins (Fontana and Steven, 2013; Zhirnov, 1990) and vRNPs are released into the cytosol in the process called uncoating. Recently, the uncoating of the virion was shown to be dependent on the proteasome machinery of the cell (Banerjee et al., 2014). After uncoating, vRNPs are imported into the nucleus for viral replication and transcription to start. The nuclear import of the vRNPs relies on the nuclear pore complex and importin proteins which associate with the nuclear localization signal (NLS) of the NP proteins (Melen et al., 2003; O'Neill et al., 1995).



Figure 2. Influenza virus entry and replication cycle. (Adapted from Julkunen et al., 2001; Shi et al., 2014). Influenza virus binds sialic acid containing receptors of the cell and is endocytosed via receptor-mediated endocytosis. The acidification of the endosome prepares the virion for the fusion event, where the hemagglutinin facilitates the fusion between viral and endosomal membranes, releasing the nucleocapsid. The acidification also enables the dispersion of M1 protein and uncoating of the vRNPs. After nuclear entry of the vRNPs, the primary transcription takes place to transcribe viral mRNAs which are translated into viral proteins in the cytoplasm. Following nuclear import of newly synthesized viral proteins, viral replication and secondary transcription takes place and the assembled nucleocapsids are exported to the cell cytoplasm. The viral proteins and vRNPs gather to the plasma membrane for the budding of the progeny virions.

After the entry into the nucleus, viral polymerase proteins bound to the viral gene segments start the primary transcription of the viral mRNA (Jorba et al., 2009). The process does not require *de novo* protein synthesis (Mark et al., 1979), but is dependent on cellular mRNA synthesis; the virus steals the caps from the cellular pre-mRNAs to be used as primers by the viral polymerase complex in a process called cap-snatching (Plotch et al., 1979; Plotch et al., 1981). The primary transcription produces viral mRNAs which are then translated by the cellular ribosomes in the cytoplasm. Once newly synthesized polymerase proteins and NP have been transported into the nucleus, viral replication may take place (Vreede et al., 2004). First a full-length complementary RNA (cRNA) needs to be made to amplify the viral genomic vRNA, which is then assembled into progeny vRNPs. In the late phase of infection, the newly formed vRNPs are exported into the cytoplasm by cellular chromosome region maintenance protein 1 (CRM1)-dependent nuclear export process (Elton et al., 2001). Influenza viruses can also induce the enlargement of the nuclear pores that promotes the export of vRNPs (Muhlbauer et al., 2015). vRNPs are then transported to the plasma membrane via RAB11 recycling endosomes and microtubule networks (Amorim et al., 2011; Eisfeld et al., 2011; Momose et al., 2007; Momose et al., 2011). In addition to the vRNPs, the

viral proteins are also recruited to the plasma membrane and the budding of the progeny virions takes place (Noda and Kawaoka, 2010). The viral particle is released from the cell membrane once the NA cleaves the sialic acid residues of the host cell.

2.2 Innate immunity

The host defense against pathogens has been categorized into innate and adaptive immunity. Innate immunity is the omnipresent arm of the immunity which is unspecific and activated rapidly after recognition of danger. Innate immunity includes the physical barriers of skin and mucosa, the chemical barriers of different antimicrobial substances secreted on epithelial surfaces, the complement system and different innate immunity effector cells that are capable of recognizing and eliminating invading pathogens. The activation of innate immunity is a prerequisite for the activation of adaptive immunity which is activated rather slowly and comprises the immunological memory and specific antibodies against a certain pathogen. The antigen presenting cells of innate immunity, namely macrophages and DCs, are a crucial bridge between innate and adaptive immunity.

2.2.1 Macrophages and dendritic cells

Macrophages and DCs are mononuclear phagocytes that act as sentinels throughout the body. It was historically believed that both of these cell types can originate from a common precursor in the bone marrow and that monocytes are the link between the progenitor cells and tissue-resident macrophages and DCs (Mildner et al., 2013). It has now become increasingly evident that macrophages and DCs are a very versatile and heterogeneous group of cells with different origins. Just now, attempts are made to revise the classification of mononuclear phagocytes and unify the nomenclature (Guilliams et al., 2014; Guilliams and van de Laar, 2015; Tussiwand and Gautier, 2015; Wynn et al., 2013).

Resident macrophages in different tissues such as Langerhans cells in the skin, microglia in the brain, Kupffer cells in the liver, osteoclasts in the bone, alveolar macrophages etc., have great functional diversity and important roles in tissue repair, homeostasis and immunity. Many of these resident macrophages are self-renewable and originate from the yolk sac and/or fetal liver during embryogenesis (Gomez Perdiguero et al., 2015; Wynn et al., 2013). A third source of macrophages is the bone marrow-derived monocyte/macrophage and DC progenitor (MDP) cells that give rise to monocytes via common monocyte precursor (cMoP) (Hettinger et al., 2013). Macrophages have great phagocytosing potential and are able to engulf and degrade pathogens as well as cell debris. Thus especially the bone marrow-originated macrophages are able to differentiate into inflammatory macrophages,

also called M1 macrophages to distinguish them from deactivated M2 or healing macrophages (Italiani and Boraschi, 2014). Macrophages express a wide array of receptors aimed at recognition of pathogens discussed in the next section. Both alveolar and monocyte-derived macrophages express sialic acid receptors that bind influenza viruses (Yu et al., 2011). Whether these cell types support a productive influenza infection varies between different influenza strains and cell types (Short et al., 2012). Monocyte-derived macrophages but not alveolar macrophages are productively infected with seasonal influenza viruses (van Riel et al., 2011; Yu et al., 2011).

DCs originate from MDPs in the bone marrow via common DC precursor (CDP) (Naik et al., 2007; Onai et al., 2007) and pre-DC cells (Ginhoux et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2009). Pre-DCs give rise to classical DCs (cDCs), also called conventional or myeloid DCs (mDCs), and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) (Siegal et al., 1999). cDCs are the most important antigen presenting cells as they are highly phagocytic as immature cells and have a strong migratory and cytokine-producing capacity after maturation, cDCs that have encountered a pathogen, upregulate major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules and costimulatory receptors to become matured, and move to tissue-draining lymph nodes to present antigens to T cells. cDCs are categorized by their surface markers into cDC1 and cDC2 subtypes (Guilliams et al., 2014). Human cDC1 cells are blood DC antigen (BDCA) 3 positive and mouse cDC1 cells express CD103 or CD8, whereas human cDC2 cells are BDCA1 (CD1c) positive and mouse cDC2 cells express CD11b or CD4 (Guilliams et al., 2014; Mildner and Jung, 2014). These subsets are functionally distinct; cDC1 cells are superior in inducing Th1 type T cell responses whereas cDC2 cells more likely induce Th2 or Th17 T cell responses. However, based on surface markers, tens of different DC subtypes have been described, thus the great heterogeneity in the expression levels of different markers and different cell maturation stages complicates the definition of DC subsets. pDCs are specialized cells that are capable of producing high amounts of type I IFNs in response to viral infection (Nakano et al., 2001; Siegal et al., 1999). They are, however, less efficient as antigen presenting cells compared to other DC types. pDCs are found in the bone marrow and peripheral organs (Reizis et al., 2011). DCs are recruited to the lungs during influenza infection (Aldridge et al., 2009; McGill et al., 2008) and are essential for activation of innate immunity and subsequent T cell responses (Ballesteros-Tato et al., 2010; GeurtsvanKessel et al., 2008; Kim and Braciale, Monocyte-derived DCs (moDCs) express sialic acid receptors 2009). (Thitithanyanont et al., 2007) and are infected with seasonal and pandemic influenza viruses (Bender et al., 1998; Osterlund et al., 2005; Perrone et al., 2008), but only infections with H5N1 viruses are productive (Perrone et al., 2008; Thitithanyanont et al., 2007).

Monocytes circulate in the blood, express chemokine and adhesion receptors and are recruited in high numbers into inflamed tissues upon infection (Mildner et al., 2013). According to present views, monocytes are not just progenitor cells circulating in the blood, but are effector cells of their own, capable of reacting to pathogenic stimuli (Mildner et al., 2013). Monocytes can differentiate into macrophage- and DC-like cells under many inflammatory stimuli, and these populations are different from tissue-resident DC or macrophage populations (Geissmann et al., 2010; Italiani and Boraschi, 2014; Segura et al., 2013; Wynn et al., 2013). Because a limited number of human cDCs or macrophages are found in blood and tissues, monocytes have been widely used for research as they can be differentiated into monocytederived macrophages and moDCs using the growth factors colony-stimulating-factor (CSF)-1 (or granulocyte-macrophage (GM)-CSF) and GM-CSF + interleukin (IL)-4, respectively (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 1994). In mouse, similar cells are acquired from bone marrow with GM-CSF and these cells have been called bone marrowderived DCs (BMDCs) (Inaba et al., 1992; Lutz et al., 1999). However, a recent study showed that this method produces a highly heterogeneous mix of macrophages and DCs, in terms of both surface markers and functionality (Helft et al., 2015). These results have questioned the use of BMDCs as a DC model and it may be a similar case for moDCs and macrophages in humans. However, as monocytes recruited into the site of inflammation can differentiate into macrophage- and DClike cells (Cheong et al., 2010; Mildner et al., 2013; Serbina et al., 2003; Zigmond et al., 2012) in vivo, in vitro-differentiated cells can still be a relevant model at least for the studies concerning host-pathogen interactions. Nevertheless it is clear that the mononuclear phagocyte system is very complex; the cell populations are extremely diverse and dynamic and responsive to the cytokine milieu in the tissue.

2.2.2 Pathogen recognition by innate immunity

An important duty of innate immunity is to distinguish self from non-self in order to respond to danger signals appropriately. How this is accomplished has been an area of intense research in the field of innate immunity. Human cells have a multitude of receptors used for surveillance of extracellular and intracellular milieu for the presence of foreign microbial structures. These receptors have been named pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), and the structures they sense are termed pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or danger associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). Several classes of PRRs have been described: TLRs, C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), retinoic acid inducible gene (RIG)-I-like receptors (NLRs), nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs) and absent in melanoma (AIM) 2-like receptors (ALRs) (Brubaker et al., 2015).

2.2.2.1 Toll-like receptors (TLRs)

TLRs are germline encoded transmembrane proteins that recognize various microbial structures in the extracellular space and in the endosomal pathway (Kawai

and Akira, 2010). The ligand binding domain consists of leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) and the cytoplasmic Toll IL-1 receptor (TIR) domain is responsible for signaling (Liu et al., 2008). To date 10 functional TLRs have been described in man. Mice also encode for three additional TLRs numbered from TRL11 to TLR13. TLR10 is not functional in mouse and TLR11, TLR12 and TLR13 are lost from the human genome. The representative ligands and localization of each TLR are presented in the Table 1. The localization of PRRs is an important aspect in controlling the fine balance between recognizing self from foreign pathogens without inducing unnecessary inflammation or even autoimmunity (Perkins and Vogel, 2015). In addition, receptors are localized so that they recognize relevant microbial patterns; receptors recognizing nucleic acid structures all reside in the intracellular or endosomal compartments of the cell thus recognizing viruses and intracellular pathogens, whereas many bacterial cell wall components are recognized by cell surface receptors.

TLR signaling is initiated when ligand binding induces TLR dimerization and the dimerized TIR-domains can recruit adaptor proteins (Fig. 3) (Narayanan and Park, 2015). Five adaptor proteins associated with TLRs are known, namely myeloid differentiation primary-response protein 88 (MyD88) (Medzhitov et al., 1998), TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein inducing IFN- β (TRIF) (Yamamoto et al., 2002) also known as TIR-domain-containing molecule 1 (TICAM1) (Oshiumi et al., 2003), MyD88 adaptor-like protein (MAL) (Fitzgerald et al., 2001) also known as TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein (TIRAP), TRIF-related adaptor molecule (TRAM) (Fitzgerald et al., 2003b) and inhibitory sterile α and HEAT/Armadillo motif containing protein (SARM) (O'Neill et al., 2003). The differential adaptor protein usage by different TLRs (see Table 1. and Fig. 1) leads to differential downstream activation events. TLRs that use TRIF adaptor, namely TLR3 and TLR4, induce both type I IFN and inflammatory cytokine responses whereas the cell surface TLRs employing MyD88 induce mainly inflammatory cytokines.



Figure 3. TLR signaling pathways. (Adapted from O'Neill et al., 2013). TLRs are transmembrane proteins expressed on the plasma membrane or in the endosomal membranes. TLRs recognize various microbe-derived ligands of which some prototypic ligands are indicated in the figure. The cytosolic domains of the receptors are associated with different adaptor proteins (MyD88, MAL, TRIF, TRAM) that are activated upon ligand binding. The activation triggers complex cellular signaling pathways leading to the activation of downstream kinases (IRAKs, TRAFs, MAPKs, IKKs) via different phosphorylation and ubiquitinylation events. These signaling pathways result in the activation of transcription factors such as IRFs, NF- κ B (p50/p65) and Jun/Fos that are imported to the nucleus to bind their respective promoter elements in the cytokine gene sthus inducing cytokine gene expression.

TLR	Localization (cell type)	Ligand	Origin of ligand	Adaptor	Reference
TLR1/2	cell surface (monocytes, macrophages DCs. B cells)	Triacyl lipopeptides	Bacteria	MyD88, MAL	(Ozinsky et al., 2000; Takeuchi et al., 2002)
TLR2/6	cell surface (monocytes, macrophages, mast cells, DCs, B cells)	Diacylated lipoprotein Peptidoglycan Lipoteichoic acid Zymosan	Various pathogens Gram+ bacteria Fungi	MyD88, MAL	(Kang et al., 2009; Ozinsky et al., 2000)
TLR3	Endosome (B- cells, T cells, natural killer cells, DCs) Cell surface (fibroblasts)	dsRNA	Viruses	TRIF	(Alexopoulou et al., 2001)
TLR4	Cell surface (monocytes, macrophages, DCs, mast cells, intestinal epithelium)	LPS Fusion protein Envelope protein	Gram- bacteria Respiratory syncytial virus Mouse mammary-tumor virus	MyD88, MAL, TRIF, TRAM	(Kurt-Jones et al., 2000; Medzhitov et al., 1997; Poltorak et al., 1998; Rassa et al., 2002)
TLR5	Cell surface (monocytes, macrophages, DCs, intestinal epithelium)	Flagellin	Bacteria	MyD88	(Hayashi et al., 2001; Smith et al., 2003)
TLR7	Endosome (monocytes, macrophages, DCs, B cells)	Imidazoquinoline Loxoribine ssRNA	Synthetic Synthetic Viruses, bacteria	MyD88	(Heil et al., 2003; Heil et al., 2004; Hemmi et al., 2002; Mancuso et al., 2009)
TLR8	Endosome (monocytes, macrophages, DCs. mast cells)	lmidazoquinoline ssRNA	Synthetic Viruses, bacteria	MyD88	(Eberle et al., 2009; Heil et al., 2004; Jurk et al., 2002)

Table 1.Toll-like receptors.

TLR9	Endosome (monocytes, macrophages, DCs, B cells, T cells)	Unmethylated CpG DNA	Bacteria, viruses	MyD88	(Hemmi et al., 2000)
TLR10	Endosome? (monocytes, macrophages DCs, B cells, T cells)	unknown	<i>Listeria monocytogenes</i> Influenza virus	MyD88	(Chuang and Ulevitch, 2001; Lee et al., 2014; Regan et al., 2013)
TLR11*	Endosome (macrophages, DCs, kidney and bladder epithelial cells)	Profilin-like proteins Uropathogenic bacteria	Toxoplasma gondii	MyD88	(Yarovinsky et al., 2005; Zhang et al., 2004)
TLR12*	Endosome (macrophages, DCs, B cells, T cells)	Profilin	Toxoplasma gondii	MyD88	(Koblansky et al., 2013)
TLR13*	Endosome (macrophage, DCs)	23S rRNA	Bacteria	MyD88	(Li and Chen, 2012; Oldenburg et al., 2012)

(Adapted from Akira and Takeda, 2004; Narayanan and Park, 2015).

* TLR11, TLR12 and TLR13 have only been found in the mouse and they are absent in the human system.

2.2.2.2 RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs)

RLRs are cytoplasmic sensors of RNA viruses expressed by nearly all cell types (Chan and Gack, 2015; Kell and Gale, 2015; Yoneyama et al., 2004; Yoneyama et al., 2015). RLR family comprises three RNA helicases: RIG-I, melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5 (MDA5) and laboratory of genetics and physiology 2 (LGP2). RLRs bind RNA structures with the DExD/H-box domain and C-terminal domain (CTD) whereas signaling takes place via N-terminal caspase activation and recruitment domains (CARDs). As LGP2 lacks these signaling domains, it is thought to act as a regulator of RIG-I and MDA5 signaling (Komuro and Horvath, 2006; Rothenfusser et al., 2005; Saito et al., 2007; Satoh et al., 2010). The optimal ligand for RIG-I is believed to be short (<300 bp) dsRNA or panhandle RNA with 5' triphosphate moiety (Baum et al., 2010; Hornung et al., 2006; Pichlmair et al., 2006; Schlee et al., 2009), although RIG-I has been shown to interact with RNA of various

lengths and end modifications (Goubau et al., 2014). MDA5, instead recognizes longer (>2000 bp) dsRNA molecules (Feng et al., 2012; Kato et al., 2008) and no known specific RNA modifications are needed for the recognition. RLRs have been shown to recognize many different types of RNA viruses (Errett et al., 2013; Gitlin et al., 2010; Kato et al., 2006; Loo et al., 2008) and are thus essential in inducing an antiviral state in response to virus infection.

2.2.2.3 Other pattern recognition receptors (PRRs)

NLRs are a large family of cytosolic receptors inducing inflammation, autophagy and cell death (Barbe et al., 2014). They comprise three functional domains: an Nterminal domain for signal transduction, a central domain for oligomerization and a C-terminal LRR domain for ligand binding. Upon activation NLRs form large protein complexes and especially the LRR- and pyrin domain-containing protein (NLRP) subgroup receptors scaffold into multiprotein complexes termed inflammasomes (Martinon et al., 2002). The inflammasome activates caspases, proteases that are important mediators of apoptosis and necrosis. The activation of caspase-1 leads to the proteolytic cleavage of proIL-1 β and proIL-18, secretion of mature IL-1 β and IL-18, and subsequently to a special type of cell death, pyroptosis (Bergsbaken et al., 2009). NLRs recognize a vast array of bacterial ligands and host cell-derived danger-associated molecules (Schroder and Tschopp, 2010). NLR called nucleotide oligomerization and binding domain (NOD2) receptor also has a role in viral infections (Lupfer et al., 2014; Sabbah et al., 2009).

ALRs are the most recently established class of PRRs and they act as cytosolic DNA sensors (Paludan and Bowie, 2013). The founding member AIM2 (Fernandes-Alnemri et al., 2009; Hornung et al., 2009; Roberts et al., 2009) recognizes dsDNA, activates the inflammasome and induces IL-1 β and IL-18 production. In addition to ALRs, several putative cytosolic DNA sensors have been described (Unterholzner, 2013). The primary DNA sensing receptor in the cytosol is cyclic GMP-AMP synthase (cGAS) (Li et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2013) and its activation leads to IFN expression via adaptor protein stimulator of IFN genes (STING) (Ishikawa and Barber, 2008; Ishikawa et al., 2009; Sun et al., 2009; Zhong et al., 2008). STING is also a receptor for cyclic dinucleotides that are bacterial second messenger molecules (Burdette et al., 2011). Normally, DNA is contained in the nucleus but can be found in the cytosol as a result of microbial infection, aberrant host DNA metabolism or uptake of apoptotic cellular debris.

CLRs are best known for their role in anti-fungal immunity and they recognize carbohydrates, such as β -glucan, which is present in the fungal cell wall (Dambuza and Brown, 2015). The most studied CLR is DC-associated C-type lectin (Dectin)-1 (Brown and Gordon, 2001) which has a role in phagocytosis, autophagy, respiratory burst and production of inflammatory lipids, cytokines, chemokines and IFNs

(Dambuza and Brown, 2015). In addition to anti-fungal immunity, CLRs take part in recognition of dead cells, tumors and bacteria, especially mycobacteria. It is suggested, that they also regulate homeostasis, autoimmunity and allergy.

2.2.3 Cytokines

Cytokines are pleiotropic signaling molecules that are vital in cell communication. They facilitate many different immunity-related functions, such as cell differentiation, cell trafficking, antigen presentation and immune cell activation. Cytokines act in an autocrine or paracrine fashion via receptors recognizing cytokines in the same or in a neighboring cell, respectively. In some instances, cytokines may have systemic effects. Many different cell types secrete cytokines and express cytokine receptors on the cell surface. Cytokines include interferons (IFNs), interleukins (ILs), chemokines, growth factors, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) family members and adipokines. Two features define cytokines: pleiotropy, meaning that one cytokine elicits diverse functionality and redundancy, meaning that different cytokines exert overlapping activities (Ozaki and Leonard, 2002). Cytokine responses can be synergistic if two simultaneous signals induce a stronger cytokine response than two individual stimulators. One signal can also act antagonistically by reducing the cytokine response induced by another signal.

IL-12 is a heterodimeric proinflammatory cytokine that comprises p35 and p40 subunits and signals via IL-12 receptor which is composed of IL-12RB1 and IL-12RB2 subunits (Presky et al., 1996). IL-12 signaling leads to the activation of Janus-activated kinase 2 (JAK2) and tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2) which phosphorylate transcription factors signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1), STAT3, STAT4 and STAT5 (Trinchieri, 2003). IL-12 produced by DCs and macrophages promotes the differentiation of naïve CD4 T cells into T helper 1 (Th1) cells (Macatonia et al., 1995; Manetti et al., 1993), linking the innate and adaptive immunity. Many microbial products induce the expression of IL-12p35 and IL-12p40 subunits which both are needed to produce bioactive IL-12p70 (Goriely et al., 2008). IL-12p35 expression is tightly controlled and it is a limiting factor in IL-12p70 production whereas IL-12p40 is secreted in excess over IL-12p35 and also as a homodimer (Goriely et al., 2008). Several studies have reported a synergistic IL-12 production in response to TLR stimulation via different TLRs (Bohnenkamp et al., 2007; Gautier et al., 2005; Napolitani et al., 2005). Such synergism offers a way to control proinflammatory cytokine production; only when multiple TLRs or other PRRs are triggered, high amounts of cytokines are produced.

2.2.4 Interferons

IFN was the first cytokine described in 1957 as it was found to interfere with the influenza virus infection (Isaacs and Lindenmann, 1957). Since then a great deal of

research into the importance of IFNs has been carried out and three classes of IFNs have been described. Type I IFNs include 13 different functional subtypes of IFN- α and IFN- β , IFN- ω , IFN- ϵ and IFN- κ ; IFN- γ is the only member of type II IFNs and type III IFNs consists of IFN- λ 1, IFN- λ 2, IFN- λ 3 and IFN- λ 4 (McNab et al., 2015; Prokunina-Olsson et al., 2013). IFNs induce the expression of hundreds of IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs) that are essential in inducing an antiviral state in IFN-stimulated cells. In addition to IFNs' direct antiviral effects, IFNs regulate many important aspects in innate immunity against viral infection such as the expression of PRRs, apoptosis, cytokine production, cell differentiation, polarization and proliferation.

The receptor that binds type I IFNs is composed of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2 chains (Domanski and Colamonici, 1996; Novick et al., 1994) that are ubiquitously expressed in tissues. Similarly, IFN- γ has a heterodimeric receptor IFNGR (Pestka et al., 1997), which is broadly expressed. The type III IFN receptor is expressed mainly in epithelial cells and consists of IFNLR1 and IL10R2 (Kotenko et al., 2003; Sheppard et al., 2003). The effects of IFNs are mediated via JAK1 and TYK2, whose interaction leads to the phosphorylation of STAT1 and STAT2 proteins. STAT1 and STAT2 form a dimer that recruits IFN regulatory factor 9 (IRF9) to make up the IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3) complex that can bind the promoter regions of ISG (Darnell et al., 1994; Qureshi et al., 1995).

Type I and III IFNs are expressed once the cells sense the presence of a pathogen with their PRRs. Both bacterial and viral ligands are able to induce type I and III IFN responses and the two types of IFNs share the transcription factors needed for their gene expression (Decker et al., 2005; Osterlund et al., 2005; Osterlund et al., 2007; Pietila et al., 2010). Type I IFNs induce DC maturation, enhance antigen presentation and increase the ability of DCs to prime T cells (Ito et al., 2001; Le Bon et al., 2003; Montoya et al., 2002). Type I IFNs have many effects on T cell proliferation, survival and effector cell differentiation (Havenar-Daughton et al., 2006; Kolumam et al., 2005; Le Bon et al., 2006; Marshall et al., 2010). The outcome, however, seems to depend on the timing of IFNAR and T cell receptor activation which determines which STAT proteins are activated (Crouse et al., 2015). IFN- λ s share many biological functions with type I IFNs; although, as the receptor of IFN- λ is expressed mainly in epithelial cells, the antiviral actions of IFN- λ s may vary depending on the site of infection (Iversen and Paludan, 2010).

2.2.5 Signaling pathways controlling cytokine gene expression

The activation of innate immunity is controlled tightly, because an immune response improperly adjusted may have a detrimental impact on the host. Cytokine production is mainly regulated on the transcriptional level by several transcription factor families that bind to their respective promoter elements in the cytokine genes. The well-known signaling cascades leading to cytokine gene expression are the IRF, nuclear factor of κ light polypeptide gene enhancer in B-cells (NF- κ B) and mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK)-pathways.

The MyD88 adaptor-dependent pathway is activated by all TLRs except TLR3. Upon TLR activation, MyD88 interacts with IL-1 receptor-associated kinase 1 (IRAK1), IRAK2 and IRAK4 forming a macromolecular complex where IRAK4 can phosphorylate IRAK1 and IRAK2 (Fig. 3) (Kawagoe et al., 2008; Lin et al., 2010: Motshwene et al., 2009). TNF receptor-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) is then activated, K63-polyubiquitinated (Deng et al., 2000) and binds TAK1-binding protein 1 (TAB1), TAB2 and TAB3 which leads to transforming growth factor-βactivated kinase 1 (TAK1) recruitment and activation. TAK1 can phosphorylate inhibitor of NF- κ B kinase β (IKK β), which then phosphorylates inhibitor of NF- κ B α (IkB α) (Wang et al., 2001). The proteasomal degradation following K48polyubiquitination of $I\kappa B\alpha$ leads to the release of NF- κB components (p50/p65), which can then translocate to the nucleus to activate genes bearing NF- κ B binding sites. TAK1 can also activate MAPK kinase 4/7 (MKK4/7), MKK3/6 (Wang et al., 2001) and MKK1/2, which can activate Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), p38 MAPK and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) 1 and ERK2, respectively. The MAPK signaling cascades eventually activate activating protein (AP)-1 transcription factor composed of dimers formed by Jun, Fos or activating transcription factor (ATF) subunits. The activation of NF- κ B and AP-1 leads to the production of cytokines such as IL-12, IL-6 and TNF- α .

TLR3 and TLR4 use the TRIF adaptor protein to activate a MyD88-independent pathway (Fitzgerald et al., 2003b). TRIF is able to activate NF- κ B and MAPK pathways via TRAF6 or TRAF6/RIP1 leading to the activation of downstream kinases as in the MyD88-dependent pathway (Fig. 3). The TRIF pathway also leads to the activation of an important transcription factor IRF3, which induces IFN gene expression. This happens through the activation of TRAF3, which K63-ubiquitinates TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) and I κ B kinase ϵ (IKK ϵ), which subsequently phosphorylate IRF3 (Fitzgerald et al., 2003a; Hacker et al., 2006; Hemmi et al., 2004; McWhirter et al., 2004). The phosphorylated IRF3 forms dimers that translocate into the nucleus to bind IFN-stimulated response element (ISRE) sites in IFN gene promoters (Lin et al., 1998).

The cytoplasmic RLRs signal via CARD domains that interact with the CARD of the mitochondrial antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS) adaptor protein (Fig. 4), also known as IPS-1, VISA or Cardif (Kawai et al., 2005; Meylan et al., 2005; Seth et al., 2005; Xu et al., 2005). In steady state, the CARD domains of RIG-I are folded over one another to block signaling (Kowalinski et al., 2011). Upon biding of its RNA

ligands RIG-I undergoes an ATP-dependent conformational change rendering the CARD domains available for signaling. CARDs are then dephosphorylated (Wies et al., 2013) and CTD is ubiquitinylated by Riplet (Oshiumi et al., 2013). Tripartite motif-containing protein 25 (TRIM25) ubiquitin ligase adds ubiquitin to the CARDs in RIG-I which leads to RIG-I oligomerization and MAVS binding (Gack et al., 2007; Jiang et al., 2012) in the mitochondrial associated membrane (MAM). As a result, TBK1 and IKK ϵ are activated, leading to the activation of IRF3 and NF- κ B (Seth et al., 2005; Xu et al., 2005) which are translocated into the nucleus to drive the gene expression of IFNs and pro-inflammatory cytokine genes. RIG-I regulation has been studied extensively and many levels of regulation have been described (Chan and Gack, 2015; Errett and Gale, 2015; Kell and Gale, 2015), such as post-transcriptional mechanisms including alternative splicing of RIG-I (Gack et al., 2008) or MAVS mRNA (Brubaker et al., 2014; Lad et al., 2008) and microRNA-mediated negative feedback regulation of signaling pathway components (Hou et al., 2009). MDA5 signals similarly via MAVS and TBK1/IKK ϵ but the details are still unclear.

2.2.5.1 IRFs

Currently, nine proteins are known in the mammalian IRF family of transcription factors (Ikushima et al., 2013). The most important transcription factors in RLR signaling and TRIF-dependent signaling regulating IFN gene expression are IRF3 and IRF7. IRF3 is constitutively expressed (Au et al., 1995). TBK1-mediated phosphorylation of the serine residues in the auto-inhibitory region of IRF3 allows it to dimerize and translocate into the nucleus (Fitzgerald et al., 2003a; Lin et al., 1998). IRF7 expression level, on the other hand, is low in most cells but strongly inducible with type I IFNs. IRF7 thus contributes to the positive feedback loop of IFN signaling (Sato et al., 2000a). IRF7 also undergoes a phosphorylation event in order to be imported into the nucleus (Marie et al., 2000). Moreover, IRF3 and IRF7 can form heterodimers that bind ISRE sites in the gene promoters (Au et al., 2001). In pDCs, which express IRF7 constitutively, MyD88-dependent signaling also leads to IRF7 activation via TLR7 and TLR9 (Honda et al., 2005a; Honda et al., 2005b; Kerkmann et al., 2003).

The first IRF discovered was IRF1 which is involved in IL-12 gene expression in cooperation with IRF8 (Liu et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2004; Maruyama et al., 2003; Masumi et al., 2002). The role of IRF8 in the development of mononuclear cells has been extensively studied (Tamura et al., 2015). In addition, IRF8 regulates IFN response as IRF8 is needed for the late phase IFN gene expression in mouse DCs (Tailor et al., 2007). Recently, IRF8 was shown to cooperate with STAT1 in inducing the activation of many IFN- β -activated genes (Mancino et al., 2015). Several studies have indicated that IRF5 is important in IFN induction (Barnes et al., 2001; Barnes et al., 2003; Lazear et al., 2013; Schoenemeyer et al., 2005; Yanai et al., 2007). IRF5 also takes part in the induction of proinflammatory cytokine genes

via MyD88-dependent signaling pathway (Takaoka et al., 2005). IRF4 can compete with IRF5 in binding MyD88 (Negishi et al., 2005) and is thus considered a negative regulator of TLR signaling. IRF9 is best known as a subunit of ISGF3, which it forms together with STAT1 and STAT2.

2.2.5.2 NF-кВ

The NF- κ B transcription factor family consists of subunits p65 (RelA), RelB, c-Rel, p50 (NF- κ B1) and p52 (NF- κ B2) which form hetero- or homodimers (Brady and Bowie, 2014). The inhibitory I κ B proteins bind the dimers formed by different NF- κ B subunits and the activation of NF- κ B takes place when I κ B is degraded by the proteasome. PRR ligands or proinflammatory cytokines activate the classical (canonical) NF- κ B pathway where the IKK complex phosphorylates p65 and I κ B α (Zandi et al., 1997) leading to degradation of I κ B α and release of p65 or c-Rel - containing dimers. The alternative (non-canonical) NF- κ B pathway is activated by TNF family members other than TNF- α , leading to IKK α -mediated phosphorylation of p100, the precursor for p52 (Senftleben et al., 2001). Proteolytic maturation of p52 allows it to form a dimer with RelB and to translocate into the nucleus. The maturation of p105 into p50 takes place constitutively (Fan and Maniatis, 1991).

2.2.5.3 MAP kinases

The MAPK signaling cascade comprises many sequentially activated kinases; a MAPK kinase kinase activates MAPK kinase (MKK), which then phosphorylates MAPK (Arthur and Ley, 2013). In mammalian cells 14 different MAPKs are known: six ERK-, four p38- and three JNK-family proteins and one NEMO-like protein kinase (NLK). At present, kinases downstream of MAPKs have also been described. The MAPK pathway is very complex and its different branches have both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory (negative regulation) functions in immunity. Often MAPK-regulated pathways are cell type specific.

2.3 Influenza virus and the host

Influenza viruses enter the host via the respiratory tract and are first encountered by the mucus covering the epithelium. The primary target cells of influenza viruses are epithelial cells in the respiratory tract. In addition, influenza viruses infect immune cells, such as macrophages and DCs, which reside underneath the epithelial layer. IFNs (Cella et al., 1999; Ronni et al., 1995), proinflammatory cytokines (Chan et al., 2005) and chemokines (Matikainen et al., 2000; Veckman et al., 2006) are produced by these cells in response to the infection, and both local and systemic inflammatory responses are activated. Chemokines produced by epithelial cells and immune cells recruit neutrophils, monocytes and natural killer (NK) cells to the infection site to phagocytose and destroy virus-infected cells (Herold et al., 2006; Perrone et al., 2008). Antigen presenting cells take up viral antigens and migrate to the lymph
nodes to present them to T cells, thus inducing the activation of adaptive immunity against influenza.

The outcome of the influenza virus infection in the host depends on many factors. On the host side underlying diseases, age, pregnancy, host genetic background and previous influenza infections affect the severity of the infection. On the other hand, some influenza strains are more virulent than others and the case fatality rate of influenza viruses differs from less than 0.1 % up to 60 %. The reasons for this are largely unknown, but for example virulence factors, properties of the viral polymerase or glycoproteins and host specificity of the virus may play a role.

2.3.1 Innate immune recognition of influenza virus

RLRs play a crucial role in RNA virus recognition as mice deficient in this pathway are highly susceptible to infections with various RNA viruses (Kato et al., 2006). RIG-I, which is expressed by nearly all cell types, is the most important receptor inducing IFN gene expression during influenza virus infection (Fig. 4). Viruses have developed many means to counteract RIG-I which imply that it must be a central player in the innate immunity against viruses. It has been proposed that in vitro transcribed (Hornung et al., 2006) and influenza virus replication-derived (Pichlmair et al., 2006) 5'-triphosphate ssRNAs are ligands for RIG-I. However, it is now thought that a short stretch of dsRNA is essential for RIG-I recognition (Schlee et al., 2009) and such a dsRNA structure, termed a panhandle is present in the influenza virus vRNPs due to complementarity of 5' and 3' termini of the influenza virus genome segments. Recently, it has been shown that RIG-I readily recognizes the panhandle structure present in the incoming virus (Weber et al., 2015). In addition, 5'-triphosphate bearing defective interfering particles generated during influenza infection are efficient ligands for RIG-I (Baum et al., 2010; Tapia et al., 2013). Influenza virus activates caspase-1 and caspase-3 which leads to the secretion of IL-18 (Pirhonen et al., 1999; Pirhonen et al., 2001; Rintahaka et al., 2008) via RIG-I, and in primary lung epithelial cells RIG-I is the key factor inducing IL-1 β (Pothlichet et al., 2013) thus giving rise to a term RIG-I-inflammasome (Chen and Ichinohe, 2015).

Studies using mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) deficient in MDA5 protein have shown that MDA5 receptor is dispensable for influenza-induced IFN responses (Kato et al., 2006; Loo et al., 2008). In contrast, chicken cells which lack RIG-I (Barber et al., 2010; Zou et al., 2009), can sense avian influenza viruses with MDA5 receptor (Liniger et al., 2012). A recent report using an *in vivo* RNAi screening revealed a contributing role for MDA5 in the *in vivo* response to influenza A virus lacking NS1 (Benitez et al., 2015); MDA5 was important in amplifying the host antiviral response even though it did not contribute to type I IFN induction. In

addition, a biased acute inflammatory response in the lungs of MDA5 deficient mice has been observed (Kim et al., 2014). The influenza virus-specific ligands that are recognized by MDA5 are not known as it is thought that dsRNA is not generated during negative sense ssRNA virus replication (Weber et al., 2006).



Figure 4. Virus-induced signaling pathways. (Adapted from Jiang et al., 2015). RNA viruses are recognized by endosomal PRRs TLR3 and TLR7/8 which bind dsRNA and ssRNA, respectively. For more detailed TLR signaling see Fig. 3. The cytosolic RNA receptors include RIG-I which is triggered by 5'phosphate containing dsRNA and MDA5 which binds longer dsRNA molecules. The receptors activate the downstream kinases (IKKs, TBK1) via adaptor proteins (MyD88, TRIF, MAVS) leading to the phosphorylation and activation of IRF- and NF-κB-family transcription factors. The transcription factors are subsequently imported into the nucleus and bind the promoter elements in the cytokine genes to induce gene expression.

Endosomal TLR7 and TLR8 recognize ssRNA structures and are potent PRRs in the recognition of influenza virus. However, during a successful influenza virus entry, virions are likely remaining intact in the endosomal compartments and thus inaccessible for TLR ligand binding. If some viruses are not able to escape the endosomal pathway before lysosomal degradation, TLR recognition may happen. It is possible that NP and polymerase proteins always associated with the ssRNA genome of influenza, interfere with TLR ligand binding. During phagocytosis of influenza-infected cells, pDCs have been shown to recognize the ssRNA genome of

the virus via TLR7 (Diebold et al., 2004; Lund et al., 2004). In addition, TLR7 and pDCs are essential for whole inactivated influenza virus vaccine-induced cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) responses (Budimir et al., 2013). Much of the knowledge on TLR recognition has been acquired from knock-out mouse studies. It was earlier believed that TLR8 is not functional in mice and thus the function of TLR8 in influenza virus recognition is still unclear. TLR3 recognizes dsRNA, which is not generated during influenza virus infection, because of the helicase UAP56 (Wisskirchen et al., 2011). TLR3 deficient mice sustain higher viral loads and reduced leukocyte infiltrations in the lungs which indicate that TLR3 does, however play a role in influenza recognition (Le Goffic et al., 2006). Intriguingly, although its ligand is still unknown, TLR10 was involved in influenza virus-induced innate immune responses in human macrophages (Lee et al., 2014).

Several studies have demonstrated the importance of NLR protein NLRP3 in influenza infection (Allen et al., 2009; Ichinohe et al., 2009; Thomas et al., 2009). NLRP3-inflammasome activation led to caspase-1 activation and IL-1 β production in influenza virus-infected cells. Viral RNA (Thomas et al., 2009), the nonstructural protein PB1-F2 (McAuley et al., 2013) and M2 ion channel protein (Ichinohe et al., 2010) are involved in NLRP3-inflammasome activation. A recent paper suggested that another NLR protein NLRC5 played a role in influenza infection by cooperating with RIG-I receptor (Ranjan et al., 2015) to induce IFN- β . It is not known whether NLRC5 is able to bind any influenza virus-specific ligands.

2.3.2 Influenza virus-induced cell signaling

Influenza virus triggers multiple signaling pathways during the course of infection. Some of these pathways are antiviral, some virus-supportive or even both depending on the step of infection and the time of activation. Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) signaling has been shown to regulate influenza virus entry (Ehrhardt et al., 2006). PI3K is a kinase that phosphorylates membrane phospholipids and it regulates cell metabolism, proliferation and survival (Neri et al., 2002). The activation of PI3K leads to the activation of a downstream effector protein Akt (Vanhaesebroeck et al., 2012). Influenza A NS1 is able to activate PI3K to prevent apoptosis (Ehrhardt et al., 2007b; Hale et al., 2006) and thus enable efficient virus replication. It has also been shown that PI3K takes part in the RIG-I- and IRF3-mediated signaling pathway that induces type I IFN responses in influenza virus-infected cells (Hrincius et al., 2011).

Autophagy is a mode of "self-eating" targeted to harmful proteins or pathogenic protein aggregates in the cytosol. Only lately it has been recognized that viruses can take advantage of the autophagy machinery (Dreux and Chisari, 2010). Influenza A virus induces autophagosome formation (Zhou et al., 2009) and NS1, HA (Zhirnov

and Klenk, 2013) and especially M2 proteins (Gannage et al., 2009) are involved in the regulation of autophagy. In the study by Gannage and coworkers M2 protein was shown to prevent the autophagosome fusion with lysosome resulting in autophagosome accumulation in the cells. It has been postulated that by regulating autophagy, influenza virus can evade the host immune response as the autophagic cell death results in lower immunogenicity of the virus (Zhang et al., 2014).

Autophagy is connected with another cellular event induced by influenza, a programmed cell death, apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2014). It seems that autophagy can inhibit apoptosis, as in the autophagy-deficient cells, influenza A virus-induced apoptotic cell death was increased (Gannage et al., 2009). Influenza virus is known to downregulate apoptosis in an NS1-dependent way (Jackson et al., 2010; Zhirnov et al., 2002), but whether this depends on the PI3K-Akt pathway (Ehrhardt et al., 2007a; Hale et al., 2006) or not (Jackson et al., 2010) is contradictory. PI3K plays a role both in autophagy and apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2014) hence more research into this topic is needed to create a complete picture.

The roles of PRRs RIG-I, MDA5, TLR3 and TLR7/8 in influenza virus recognition are discussed in Section 2.3.1 and the cytokine signaling pathways downstream of these receptors in Section 2.2.5 (see also Fig. 4). In addition to inducing cytokine production, some of these pathways have been indicated to take part in other aspects of influenza virus-host crosstalk. MAPK pathway Raf/MKK/ERK is needed for the nuclear export of influenza vRNP complexes (Marjuki et al., 2006) and blocking this pathway reduces influenza propagation (Pleschka et al., 2001). Another signaling pathway affecting influenza virus growth is the NF-κB-pathway (Nimmerjahn et al., 2004; Wurzer et al., 2004) for which multiple molecular mechanisms have been described (Ludwig, 2009).

2.3.3 Antiviral responses against influenza virus

The major soluble mediators of antiviral responses are IFNs, whose action is largely conveyed by the antiviral proteins encoded by the ISGs. These factors are often ready-made in the cell and restrict virus entry, replication or assembly by directly interacting with the virus. The fist ISG found to constrain influenza virus infection was the myxovirus resistance gene Mx (Staeheli et al., 1986). The mouse proteins are called Mx1 and Mx2 of which only Mx1 blocks influenza infection (Haller et al., 2009). The human counterparts, MxA and MxB are IFN-inducible and MxA inhibits influenza A infection (Turan et al., 2004; Xiao et al., 2013). MxA has been shown to interact with NP (Turan et al., 2004) and inhibit viral replication (Pavlovic et al., 1992). MxA can also block influenza A infection at the level of incoming virus by preventing the nuclear localization of viral vRNPs (Xiao et al., 2013).

Another important protein restricting influenza virus infection is an IFN-inducible transmembrane protein 3 (IFITM3) (Brass et al., 2009). IFITM3 blocks influenza virus entry at late endosomal stage by interfering with the formation of a fusion pore between the viral and endosomal membrane (Desai et al., 2014). It has been suggested that patients with severe influenza infection are more likely to have a genetic defect in IFITM3 gene (Everitt et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2013) but opposing data exist (Mills et al., 2014). Nevertheless, mice lacking IFITM3 are highly susceptible to influenza viruses (Bailey et al., 2012).

Additional antiviral proteins against influenza virus are the 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthase (OAS) and ribonuclease L (RNAseL) that cooperate to cleave viral ssRNA (Silverman, 2007). Other known antiviral proteins with numerous functions are protein kinase R (PKR), IFN-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats (IFIT)-proteins, viperin, thetherin, TRIM22 and ISG15 (Iwasaki and Pillai, 2014; Pulendran and Maddur, 2015). A novel influenza virus restriction mechanism is virus inhibition by host cell-derived microRNAs (miRNA). At least miR136, miR323, miR491, miR654 and let-7c have been shown to interfere with influenza A virus replication (Ma et al., 2012; Song et al., 2010; Zhao et al., 2015).

2.3.4 Viral countermeasures against host

As viruses and the host cells have evolved hand in hand, viruses have developed means to counteract the antiviral defense of the host. In the case of influenza, NS1 protein has been a horn of plenty in regard to its functions for inhibiting the cellular defense against influenza virus. NS1 is a small 26 kDa protein with an RNA binding domain and an effector domain (Krug, 2015). It is not present in the virion and the virus is able to replicate in the absence of it. NS1 protein sequences between influenza A viruses are very conserved, however there are major functional differences between different virus strains (Kochs et al., 2007; Kuo et al., 2010). NS1 interferes with IFN gene expression by inhibiting IRF3 (Talon et al., 2000), NF- κ B (Wang et al., 2000) and AP-1 (Ludwig et al., 2002) activation but the mechanisms are yet obscure. NS1 has been shown to bind many factors in the RIG-I pathway: RIG-I itself (Guo et al., 2007; Mibayashi et al., 2007; Opitz et al., 2007), TRIM25 (Gack et al., 2009) and Riplet (Rajsbaum et al., 2012). A long known feature of the influenza NS1 is its capability to inhibit the cellular mRNA production. This happens via NS1 binding of the cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor (CPSF30) (Nemeroff et al., 1998) which interferes with the 3'end formation of premRNAs. Influenza NS1 also binds and inhibits antiviral proteins produced by the cell, PKR (Li et al., 2006; Min et al., 2007) and OAS (Min and Krug, 2006). As discussed earlier, NS1 has been shown to regulate host cell apoptosis by interacting with PI3K.

An additional influenza A virus-encoded virulence factor is PB1-F2 (Chen et al., 2001), which induces apoptosis and inhibits type I IFN induction (Varga et al., 2011). It contributes to the virulence of several pandemic viruses such as the 1918 H1N1, the 1957 H2N2 and the 1968 H3N2, and the highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) H5N1 viruses (Conenello et al., 2007; McAuley et al., 2010). However, the 2009 pandemic H1N1 virus does not encode PB1-F2 (Ozawa et al., 2011). From PB1 mRNA a second polypeptide is synthesized named PB1-40 (Wise et al., 2009) but the significance of the variant protein in the context of virus fitness is not known. Another polymerase protein-derived virulence factor is PA-X (Jagger et al., 2012) which has a role in shut-off of cellular gene expression (Hayashi et al., 2015). Recently two other proteins translated from influenza A virus PA mRNA were described (Muramoto et al., 2013) and termed PA-N155 and PA-N182. They may have functions in the replication cycle of the virus as viruses lacking PA-N155 and PA-N182 replicated more slowly. A very recent study found a splicing variant also for the polymerase subunit PB2, PB2-S1, which was able to inhibit RIG-Idependent IFN pathway (Yamayoshi et al., 2015). It is probable that even more viral proteins encoded by spliced mRNAs will be found in the near future thus explaining in part the diversity of influenza virus-induced responses in the cell and strainspecific features of influenza viruses.

In recent years it has become evident that innate immune responses are also regulated by the expression of non-protein-coding RNAs such as miRNAs. Interestingly, it was shown in 2014 that long noncoding RNA (lncRNA) is important in successful influenza A virus infection (Winterling et al., 2014). IFNs have been shown to induce the expression of specific lncRNAs which were also induced by NS1 deficient influenza A virus, but not with wt influenza A virus (Carnero et al., 2014). Moreover, NS1 has been shown to induce the expression of virus another type of noncoding RNA. The expression of vtRNA interferes with PKR activity leading to enhanced virus replication (Li et al., 2015).

3 Aims of the study

Innate immune cells such as macrophages and DCs express various pattern recognition receptors that are employed for the recognition of microbial pathogens, including influenza viruses. The sensing of pathogen structures triggers the activation of intracellular signaling cascades leading to the production of cytokines and antiviral IFNs. During infection, several different pathogen-derived molecules are present that can activate different pattern recognition receptors in a cooperative manner to induce additive or synergistic production of cytokines. In this study the mechanisms of synergistic IL and IFN expression induced by different TLR ligands were studied. Another research aim was to analyze the induction of IFNs by different influenza viruses in human macrophages and DCs.

The specific aims of this study were:

- To study the early events of influenza B virus infection and influenza B virus-induced IFN responses in human macrophages (I).
- To characterize IFN induction by the novel 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza virus in human macrophages and DCs (II).
- To elucidate the synergistic mechanisms of IL-12 cytokine gene expression induced by different TLRs (III).
- To analyze the synergy between RNA-recognizing TLRs in inducing IFN-λ1 gene expression in human DCs (IV).

4 Materials and methods

4.1 Ethics statement

Adult human blood was obtained from anonymous healthy blood donors from the Finnish Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service (permission renewed yearly). Animal immunizations related to this study were approved by the Ethical Committee of National Institute for Health and Welfare (permission KTL 2008-02).

4.2 Cell culture

4.2.1 Differentiation of macrophages and DCs from peripheral bloodderived monocytes (I, II, III, IV)

Human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were purified from freshly collected, leukocyte-rich buffy coats obtained from healthy blood donors (Finnish Red Cross Blood Transfusion Service, Helsinki). The cells were isolated by density gradient centrifugation over a Ficoll-Paque gradient (Amersham Biosciences) (Veckman et al., 2004). To obtain monocytes for macrophage differentiation, mononuclear cells were allowed to adhere to plates for 1 h at +37°C in RPMI-1640 (Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 0.6 μ g/ml penicillin, 60 μ g/ml streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine, and 20 mM HEPES. Non-adherent cells were removed by washing with cold PBS and remaining monocytes were cultured in macrophage/serum-free medium (Life Technologies) supplemented with antibiotics and human rGM-CSF, 10 ng/ml (Nordic Biosite). The cells were differentiated into macrophages for 7 days changing fresh culture media every 2 days.

To obtain moDCs, Ficoll-Paque gradient centrifugation was followed by Percoll gradient (Amersham Biosciences) centrifugation (Veckman et al., 2004). The top layer containing monocytes was collected, and the remaining T and B cells were depleted using anti-CD3 and anti-CD19 magnetic beads (Dynal). Monocytes were allowed to adhere to plates for 1 hour at +37°C in RPMI-1640 supplemented as above. Adhered monocytes were washed with PBS and immature DCs were generated by cultivating cells in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10 % FCS (Integro), 10 ng/ml human rGM-CSF, 20 ng/ml human rIL-4 (R&D Systems) and antibiotics. The cells were cultivated for 6 days and fresh media was added every 2 days.

4.2.2 Mouse embryonic fibroblast cells (I)

Primary wild type (wt) and *Irf3^{-/-}Irf7^{-/-}* mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEFs) and *Rela^{-/-}Rel^{-/-}Nfκb1^{-/-}* (NF-κB knock-out) MEF cell line were kindly provided by Dr. A. Hoffmann, Signaling Systems Lab, Los Angeles. Primary wt (*Rig-I^{+/+}*), *Rig-I^{-/-}*, *Mda5^{-/-}* and *Rig-I^{-/-}Mda5^{-/-}* MEFs were obtained from mouse embryos and they were immortalized by rigorous passaging protocol to obtain wt and knock-out cell lines. The MEF cell lines were cultured in DMEM-medium supplemented with 0.6 µg/ml penicillin, 60 µg/ml streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine, 20 mM HEPES and 10 % FCS.

4.3 Viruses and infection experiments (I, II)

Viruses used in the study are listed in the Table 2. All viruses were grown from a 10^{-5} dilution of stock virus in allantoic cavities of 11-day-old embryonated chicken eggs at +34°C for 3 days. Influenza stock virus titers were determined by a plaque assay on MDCK cells (Osterlund et al., 2012) or the infectivity of the virus stocks in human DCs and macrophages was determined by analyzing the percentages of virus-infected cells with flow cytometry (II) or immunofluorescence (I). The propagation of the A/Finland/553/2009 virus stock and the infection experiments with this virus were carried out under BSL-3 conditions at that time. The infection experiments are described in more detail in the materials and methods sections of the original publications (I, II).

Virus	Туре	HA titer	PFU/ml	Used in
A/Finland/553/2009	H1N1	16		II
A/Brisbane/59/07	H1N1	128		П
A/NewCaledonia/20/99	H1N1	256		II
A/WSN/33	H1N1	128		П
A/Udorn/72	H3N2	256		П
A/Beijing/353/89	H3N2	128	6x10 ⁷ (MDCK)	I
B/Shangdong/7/97		64	18x10 ⁷ (MDCK)	I
Sendai virus	Cantell strain		6x10 ⁹ (moDC)	I

Table 2.Viruses used in the study

4.4 Reagents

4.4.1 Antibodies and cytokines

The antibodies used in the study for different applications or for the neutralization of IFN during experiments are defined in the Table 3. IFNs used for priming the cells or for studying the IFN sensitivity of influenza viruses and cytokines used for moDC and macrophage differentiation are listed in the Table 4.

Antibody	Application	Source/reference	Used in
Guinea pig anti-IRF1	WB	(Matikainen et al., 1996)	
Rabbit anti-p-IRF3 (ser396)	WB	#4947 Cell Signaling Technology	I, IV
Rabbit anti-IRF3	WB	#4302 Cell Signaling Technology	I
Rabbit anti-IRF3	WB, IF	(Osterlund et al., 2005)	I, III, IV
Rabbit anti-IRF4	WB	sc-28696 Santa Cruz	III
Rabbit anti-IRF5	WB	(Pietila et al., 2007)	III
Guinea pig anti-IRF7	WB	(Osterlund et al., 2005)	III, IV
Goat anti-IRF8	WB	sc-6058X Santa Cruz	III, IV
Rabbit anti-IRF9	WB	sc-496 Santa Cruz	
Rabbit anti-STAT1	WB	sc-346 Santa Cruz	
Rabbit anti-STAT2	WB	sc-839X Santa Cruz	111
Rabbit anti-p50	WB	sc-7178 Santa Cruz	111
Rabbit anti-p65	WB	sc-372 Santa Cruz	111
Rabbit anti-IĸBα	WB	#9242 Cell Signaling Technology	I
Rabbit anti-p-p38	WB	#9211 Cell Signaling Technology	111
Rabbit anti-p38	WB	#9212 Cell Signaling Technology	111
Mouse anti-p-p44/p42	WB	#9106 Cell Signaling Technology	
Rabbit anti-p44/p42	WB	#9102 Cell Signaling Technology	111
Rabbit anti-p-Akt	WB	#9271 Cell Signaling Technology	III
Rabbit anti-Akt	WB	#9272 Cell Signaling Technology	III

Table 3.Antibodies

Rabbit anti-p-c-Jun	WB	#9261 Cell Signaling Technology	III
Rabbit anti-IFITM3	WB	AP1153a Abgent	I
Rabbit anti-MxA	FC, WB	(Ronni et al., 1993)	I, II
Rabbit anti-actin	WB	sc-10731 Santa Cruz	I
Mouse anti-nucleolin	WB	sc-8031 Santa Cruz	III
Rabbit anti-GAPDH	WB	#2118 Cell Signaling Technology	I
Mouse anti-EEA1	IF	610456, BD Biosciences	I
Mouse anti-LAMP1	IF	sc-20011, Santa Cruz	I
Guinea pig anti-NP IBV	IF		I
Rabbit anti-NP IBV	WB	(Osterlund et al., 2012)	I
Rabbit anti-NS1 IBV	WB	(Osterlund et al., 2012)	I
Guinea pig anti-NP IAV	IF		I
Rabbit anti-NP IAV	WB	(Osterlund et al., 2012)	I
Rabbit anti-NS1 IAV	WB	(Osterlund et al., 2012)	I
Rabbit anti-GP H1N1	FC	(Julkunen et al., 1983)	Ш
Sheep anti-IFN- α and - β	IFN- neutralization	(Mogensen et al., 1975)	IV

WB,Western blotting; IF, immunofluorescence; FC, flow cytometry; GP, glycoprotein.

Table 4.Purified cytokines

Cytokine	Concentration used	Source/reference	Used in
Recombinant IFN-α2	1, 10, 100 IU/ml	Schering-Plough	II
Recombinant IFN-β	1, 10, 100 IU/ml	Schering-Plough	II, IV
Recombinant IFN-λ1	10 ng/ml	ZymoGenetics	IV
Recombinant IFN-λ1	1, 10, 100 ng/ml	(Dellgren et al., 2009)	11
Recombinant IFN-λ3	1, 10, 100 ng/ml	(Dellgren et al., 2009)	11
Human recombinant GM- CSF	10 ng/ml	Nordic Biosite	I- IV
Human recombinant IL-4	20 ng/ml	R&D Systems	I-IV

4.4.2 TLR ligands

TLR ligands used in the study are summarized in the Table 5.

TLR	Ligand	Description	Concentration used	Source/reference	Used in
TLR1/2	Pam3CSK4	a synthetic tripalmitoylated lipopeptide	100 ng/ml	InvivoGen	111
TLR3	PolyI:C	Polyinosic-polycytidylic acid, mimics dsRNA	30 μg/ml	Sigma-Aldrich	III, IV
TLR4	LPS	Lipopolysaccharide from <i>Escherichia coli</i> serotype O111:B4	100 ng/ml	Sigma-Aldrich	I, III, IV
TLR5	Flagellin	Flagellin from <i>Salmonella enterica</i> sv. Typhimurium	500 ng/ml	InvivoGen	111
TLR7/8	R848	imidazoquinoline compound	5-10 μM	Alexis Biochemicals	III, IV

Table 5.TLR ligands used in the study

4.4.3 Pharmacological inhibitors

Inhibitors used in the study and their cellular targets are summarized in the Table 6.

Table 6.Pharmacological inhibitors

Inhibitor	Concentration used	Cellular target	Source/reference	Used in
Bafilomycin A1 (BafA1)	10 nM	vacuolar H+ ATPase	Sigma-Aldrich	I
Cycloheximide (CHX)	10 μg/ml	<i>de novo</i> protein synthesis	Sigma-Aldrich	I, IV
Dynasore	80 µM	dynamin	Sigma-Aldrich	I
Ly294002	50 µM	РІЗК	Calbiochem	III, IV

PDTC	100 μM	NF-κB	Alexis Biochemicals	III, IV
PD98059	10 µM	MEK1	Calbiochem	III, IV
SB202190	5-10 μM	p38	Alexis Biochemicals	III, IV
SP600125	10 µM	ЛИК	Alexis Biochemicals	III, IV

4.5 Quantitative real time PCR (qRT-PCR)

Total cellular RNA was isolated from MEFs, moDCs or macrophages derived from three to four pooled donors using TRIZOL and the Qiagen Rneasy Mini kit. One μ g of total cellular RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA in TaqMan RT buffer with 5.5 mM MgCl₂, 500 μ M dNTPs, 2.5 μ M oligo d(T)16 or random hexamers, 0.4 U/ μ L RNase inhibitor and 1.25 U/ μ L MultiScribe reverse transcriptase (Applied Biosystems). cDNA samples were then amplified in TaqMan universal PCR master mix buffer (Applied Biosystems) with Gene Expression system assay mix oligonucleotides (Applied Biosystems) shown in the Table 7 to analyze mRNA levels. Each cDNA sample was amplified in duplicate or triplicate with Stratagene Mx3500P (Agilent Technologies). The mRNA levels were normalized against human 18S rRNA (I, II), mouse GAPD (I) or β -actin (III, IV) mRNA and the amounts of the studied mRNA relative to unstimulated cells were calculated with $\Delta\Delta$ Ct –method.

Gene Assay	ID	Source/reference	Used in
IFN-α1	- Hs00256882_s1	Applied Biosystems	- II, IV
IFN-β1	Hs00277188_s1	Applied Biosystems	I, II, IV
IFN-β1 (mouse)	Mm00439552_s1	Applied Biosystems	I
IFN-λ1	Hs00601677_g1	Applied Biosystems	I, II, IV
IFN-λ2/3	Hs00820125_g1	Applied Biosystems	II,
TNF-α	Hs00174128_m1	Applied Biosystems	I, II
TNF-α (mouse)	Mm00443260_g1	Applied Biosystems	I
IL-6	Hs00174131_m1	Applied Biosystems	III, IV

Table 7.qRT-PCR gene expression assays

IL-10	Hs00174086_m1	Applied Biosystems	Ш
IL-12p35	Hs00168405_m1	Applied Biosystems	Ш
IL-12p40	Hs00233688_m1	Applied Biosystems	III, IV
IL-23p19	Hs00372324_m1	Applied Biosystems	III
IL-27p28	Hs 00377366_m1	Applied Biosystems	III
IL-27 EBI3	Hs00194957_m1	Applied Biosystems	III
CXCL10	Hs00171042_m1	Applied Biosystems	I, II, IV
CXCL10 (mouse)	Mm00445235_m1	Applied Biosystems	
Mx1	Hs00182073_m1	Applied Biosystems	II, IV
IFITM3	Hs01922752_s1	Applied Biosystems	
IRF7	Hs00242190_g	Applied Biosystems	IV
TLR3	Hs00152933_m1	Applied Biosystems	IV
TLR4	Hs01061963_m1	Applied Biosystems	IV
TLR7	Hs00152971_m1	Applied Biosystems	IV
TLR8	Hs00607866_mh	Applied Biosystems	IV
RIG-I	Hs00225561_m1	Applied Biosystems	I
β-actin	Hs99999903_m1	Applied Biosystems	III, IV
185	4308329	Applied Biosystems	I, II
GAPDH (mouse)	4352339E	Applied Biosystems	·
IAV M1		(Ward et al., 2004)	II
IAV NP		(Osterlund et al., 2012)	I
IBV NP		(Osterlund et al., 2012)	
IAV NS1		(Osterlund et al., 2012)	
IBV NS1		(Osterlund et al., 2012)	I

4.6 ELISA (II, III, IV)

Cytokine levels for IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p70 and TNF- α from cell culture supernatants were analysed by fluorescent bead immunoassay using FlowCytomix Human Th1/Th2 10-plex kit (Bender Medsystems). IL-12p70 levels were determined by Elipair kit (Biosite) and by IL-23 ELISA (Bender Medsystems).

CCL19, CCL20 and IFN- λ 1 were measured with a Duoset kit ELISA (R&D Systems), IFN- α and IFN- β with kits from PBL Biomedical Laboratories and TNF- α and CXCL10 by using Ab pairs and standards from BD Pharmingen (San Diego, CA).

4.7 Oligonucleotide precipitation assay (DNA affinity binding) (III, IV)

TLR ligand-induced activation of transcription factors was studied by oligonucleotide DNA affinity binding method (Osterlund et al., 2005) using ISRE, mutated ISRE and NF-κB binding site-specific oligonucleotide sequences from the IL-12p35 promoter, and ISRE binding site-specific oligonucleotide sequences from the IFN- λ 1 promoter (Osterlund et al., 2007). Equal amounts of cells were harvested and nuclear extracts were prepared. The forward oligonucleotide was 5'biotinylated and a BamHI site was added as a spacer. The oligonucleotides used were IL-12p35 ISRE wt (5'-GGATCCAGTAACTGCGAACATTTCGCTTTCATTTTGGGCCGAGCTGGAGG CGGCGGGG). IL-12p35 ISRE (5'mutant GGATCCAGTAACTGCGACCACTGCGCGTGCAGGTCGGGCCGAGCTGGA GGCGGCGGGG; mutations in bold). IL-12p35 NF-ĸB (5'-GGATCCAAGAGACCAGAGTCCCGGGAAAGTCCTGCCGCGCCT) and IFN-(5'-GATTTCAGTTTCTCTTTCCTTCTTGA) sites from DNA λ1 ISRE Technology A/S. Oligonucleotides were incubated at +4°C for 2 hours with streptavidin-agarose beads (Pierce). The unbound oligonucleotide was washed after which the protein lysates were incubated with the agarose-bound oligonucleotides at +4°C for 2 hours followed by washing of the unbound proteins. Oligonucleotidebound proteins were released in SDS sample buffer followed by Western blotting using specific antibodies.

4.8 Western blot analysis (I, III, IV)

Oligonucleotide binding assay samples or aliquots of whole cell lysates were separated on 10 % or 12 % SDS-PAGE using the Laemmli buffer system. Whole cell lysates were prepared by lysing cells in TN buffer containing 25 % ethylene glycol, passive lysis buffer from Promega or RIPA buffer all with 0.5 mM DTT, 1 mM Na₃VO₄, and Complete protease inhibitor mixture. Proteins were electrotransferred onto Immobilon-P membranes (Millipore) or Hybond-P polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membranes (Amersham Biosciences) which were blocked with 5 % milk in PBS (or in TBS for Cell Signaling antibodies) and stained with specific antibodies listed in the Table 3. HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies

(DakoCytomation) were used and proteins were visualized on HyperMax films using an ECL plus system (GE Healthcare).

4.9 Immunofluorescence microscopy (I)

Macrophages were differentiated on glass coverslips and infected with influenza viruses at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 30, incubated on ice for 1 hour, after which the virus inoculum was removed and replaced with warm media to allow virus entry to the cells at 37°C 5 % CO₂. After indicated times the cells were fixed with 3 % paraformaldehyde at room temperature for 20 min, washed with PBS, permeabilized with 0.1% Triton X-100 for 5 min, washed and blocked with 0.5% BSA in PBS for 30 min. The cells were stained for 45 min in PBS containing 0.5% BSA at 37°C with primary antibodies listed in the Table 3. Secondary antibodies were FITC-labelled goat anti-guinea pig, Rhodamine Red-X-labelled goat antirabbit and Rhodamine-labelled goat anti-mouse (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories). The coverslips were washed with PBS containing 0.05% Tween 20, then with distilled water, and mounted in 25 % Mowiol (Polysciences) in 25 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 50 % glycerol, and 2.5 % 1.4-diazabicyclo[2.2.2.]octane. The cells were visualized under a Leica TCS SPE confocal microscope with 63x NA 1.40 oil objective with 1 Airy unit pinhole maintaining the same image acquisition settings for all acquired images. The cells in the infectivity experiments were analyzed with a Zeiss Stallion fluorescence microscope with a Hamamatsu ORCA-Flash 4.0 LT sCMOS camera and a 20x 0.4 NA objective by using Slidebook 6 software.

4.10 Flow cytometric analysis (II)

Flow cytometry was used to analyze the purity of monocyte-derived macrophages and DCs, and the infectivity of influenza viruses in moDCs and macrophages. The cell samples for the flow cytometry analysis were prepared as described previously (Veckman et al., 2004). The cells obtained from different blood donors were separately infected and pooled after virus infections followed by fixation with 4 % paraformaldehyde for 15 min at RT. In addition, the cells used for intracellular MxA analysis were permeabilized with 0.1 % Triton X-100 for 5 min at RT. The expression of viral glycoproteins on the cell surface and MxA was measured using cross-reactive anti-influenza A virus H1N1 glycoprotein-specific antibodies or antihuman MxA antibodies listed in the Table 3 and secondary FITC-labelled anti-rabbit antibodies (Caltag Laboratories). The cells were analyzed with FACSCanto II flow cytometer using FACSDiva software (Becton Dickinson). The purity of DC and macrophage populations were confirmed by staining noninfected cells with phycoerythrin (PE)-anti-CD2, PE-Cy7-anti-CD14 (Becton Dickinson), FITC-anti-

CD80, PE-anti-CD83, allophycocyanin (APC)-anti-CD86 (Caltag Laboratories) and APC-H7-anti-HLA-DR antibodies (Becton Dickinson).

5 Results and discussion

5.1 Human monocyte-derived macrophages and dendritic cells as a cell model to study innate immune responses

Throughout this study, our cell model has been human blood-derived CD14⁺ monocytes differentiated into cells resembling DCs and macrophages with the help of growth factors. This is a well-established method (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia, 1994) of acquiring a large number of relatively homogenous cells cost-effectively, as only small amounts of different human DC subtypes and macrophages are found in the blood. During the differentiation process, many genes are upregulated or downregulated differentially between monocyte-derived macrophages and DCs (Lehtonen et al., 2007). However, genome-wide gene expression profiling has shown that human in vitro-differentiated moDCs and monocyte derived macrophages cluster closer together than moDCs and blood BDCA3⁺DCs, BDCA1⁺ DCs or pDCs (Robbins et al., 2008). Demonstrating that the monocyte-derived cells are a relevant cell model in the human system, an inflammatory DC population was described that resembled in vitro moDCs and was likely derived from monocyte population (Segura et al., 2013). In addition, in steady state, a monocyte-derived macrophage population was recently described in the human skin (McGovern et al., 2014). In vivo, monocyte-derived effector cells infiltrate into infection sites, recognize pathogens and produce cytokines in response to infection in concert with epithelial cells, tissue resident immune cells and different dendritic cell subtypes (reviewed in Schlitzer et al., 2015). Instead of using monocultures for infection studies, cocultures of epithelial cells and immune cells could be used as it is known that interactions between the different cell types affect the outcome of the immune response (Duell et al., 2011; Qu et al., 2003).

5.2 Activation of innate immune responses by influenza viruses

5.2.1 Influenza virus recognition by the host cell (I)

The evolution of the virus and the host is a continuous game of hide and seek. The recognition of the pathogen is the first event that needs to take place in order to induce a proper immune response. The virus tries to avoid the recognition by the host cell or manipulate the subsequent signaling pathways for its own benefit. Our group had shown before that there is a clear kinetic difference in the IFN responses induced by influenza A and B viruses in human moDCs (Osterlund et al., 2012). Influenza B virus induced IRF3-dependent IFN- β and IFN- λ 1 gene expression very

early upon entry, before replication of the virus, as evidenced by experiments with UV-treated virus. However, UV-treated and thus replication incompetent influenza A virus did not induce IFN. This indicated that already the incoming influenza B virus particles were sensed by moDCs whereas influenza A virus was able to evade the early recognition or interfered with the pathways leading to IRF3 activation and IFN gene expression. Most likely viral NS1 did not play a role in the difference between the viruses as it is not expressed during the first hours of infection. Österlund and coworkers also showed that both influenza A and B NS1 proteins were able to inhibit IFN- λ 1 gene expression to the same extent in promoter luciferase assay (Osterlund et al., 2012).

We wanted to study the difference between influenza A and B viruses further and concentrated on influenza B virus, which is far less studied than influenza A. We wanted to know at which point of the entry influenza B virus activates IRF3 and which PRR is responsible for detecting influenza B virus. One possible approach was to use immunofluorescence microscopy. However, moDCs were not a good cell model for immunofluorescence since the cells are semiadherent. Macrophages instead are highly adherent cells and also a biologically relevant cell model as they reside under the epithelial cell layer in the influenza virus infection sites and are infected by influenza A and B viruses induce kinetically different IFN gene expression patterns (Fig.1 in I). Likewise in moDCs, also in macrophages influenza A virus-infected cells, the IRF3 already at 1 to 2 hours, whereas in influenza A virus-infected cells, the IRF3 activation took place at later time points of 4 to 8 hours (Fig. 2 in I).

To visualize the virus at the time when IRF3 was activated we differentiated macrophages on coverslips for immunofluorescence assay, infected the cells on ice for a synchronized infection (Martin and Helenius, 1991) and fixed cells at different time points up to three hours post infection in 37 °C. Confocal microscope images showed that at the zero time point influenza B virus NP was seen at the plasma membrane (Fig. 3A and Fig. 5 upper left panels in I), at 15 minutes inside the cell in granules and at 45-60 min time points NP started to accumulate into the nucleus. The kinetics of nuclear translocation of IRF3 indicated that its activation coincided with the influenza B virus nuclear entry. In influenza A virus-infected macrophages no IRF3 nuclear translocation was seen before 3 hours of infection (Fig. 3B in I).

The kinetics of influenza A virus entry has been studied with high content imaging (Banerjee et al., 2013) where the nuclear import of influenza A virus occurred after one hour post infection and peaked at 3.5 hours in A549 cells. Other studies have shown that influenza A virus enters the nucleus at 1 hour post infection (HeLa cells) (Sieczkarski and Whittaker, 2003), 35 min post infection (CHO-cells) (Martin and

Helenius, 1991) or even at 20 minutes post infection (MDCK-cells) (Chou et al., 2013). The discrepancy in the kinetics is partly dependent on the host cell type used (Lakadamyali et al., 2004) and likely also the amount of virus stocks and the used antibody reagents. The entry kinetics of influenza B virus in macrophages has not been studied before. In macrophages influenza B virus seemed to enter the nucleus somewhat faster than influenza A (Fig. 3B in I) but the kinetics did not explain the apparent difference in IRF3 activation.

To further elucidate at which step of the entry process influenza B virus activates IRF3 we took advantage of known inhibitors of cellular processes that are involved in influenza virus entry. BafA1 is an inhibitor of vacuolar H⁺ type ATPase and it prevents the acidification of the endosome which is a prerequisite for the fusion to happen between viral and endosomal membranes. CHX blocks protein synthesis by inhibiting translational elongation. Influenza virus requires newly synthetized viral proteins for the replication of its genome and thus CHX arrests viral replication. IRF3 activation and nuclear accumulation of viral NP did not take place in BafA1treated and influenza B virus-infected macrophages (Fig.5 lower panels, in I). However, CHX-treatment did not affect influenza B-virus induced IRF3 activation. This means that viral replication is not needed for the IRF3 activation but most likely the virus needs to escape the endosomal compartment. In the presence of CHX, the primary transcription can still take place by the viral RNA polymerases in the incoming vRNPs. Thus our results do not confirm, whether viral mRNA transcription is needed for IRF3 activation. However, previous results from infections with UV-treated influenza B virus that induces robust IFN responses (Osterlund et al., 2012) suggest that it is the incoming vRNP structures that trigger IRF3 activation

A recent study using inhibitors, such as CHX, actinomycin D and α -amanitin to block viral primarv transcription and 5,6-dichloro-1-β-D-ribofuranosylbenzimidazole to block viral RNA export from the nucleus, showed that the primary transcription and nuclear export are essential for the influenza A virus-induced IFN responses (Killip et al., 2014). As readout they used IFR3 phosphorylation in A549 cells at eight hour time point. In our experimental setup, at eight hour time point the influenza B-virus induced IRF3 phosphorylation had already declined whereas influenza A virus induced maximal IRF3 activation at that time point (Fig. 2 in I). In addition in the study describing the IRF3 activation by the incoming nucleocapsids of influenza A (Weber et al., 2015), IRF3 was activated at one hour time point. It may be that in the case of influenza A viruses, RIG-I can recognize the incoming viral nucleocapsids but the subsequent signaling pathways are not activated because the viral polymerase itself can prevent the activation of RIG-I signaling pathway (Liedmann et al., 2014). Liedmann and coworkers found a motif in PB1 and PA polymerase proteins that was linked to virus-induced early activation of IRF3. The

authors showed that the IFN antagonism by the polymerase proteins depended on the interactions between the viral polymerase complex and RIG-I. Why this mechanism seems to inhibit the IFN activation by the incoming virus but not the RIG-I recognition and subsequent IFN response after virus replication is not yet known. This may be due to the idea discussed by Killip and coworkers that some presently unidentified viral transcription products are responsible for RIG-I activation after viral entry has taken place (Killip et al., 2014). Human H3N2 influenza strain A/Beijing/353/89 used in this thesis does not carry the complete motif in PB1 and PA needed for IFN antagonism but other such adaptations may be found in influenza virus polymerase proteins.

Macrophages are a good model to study innate immune recognition of pathogens as they readily express a wide array of different PRRs. The relevant receptors that bind influenza virus-derived ligands leading to IFN signaling are the cytosolic receptor RIG-I which senses 5' triphosphate ssRNA with a short dsRNA panhandle structure and endosomal TLR7 and TLR8 that recognize ssRNA. MDA5 and TLR3 clearly have some role in influenza virus infection (see Section 2.3.1.) although influenza virus is not expected to express dsRNA molecules during its replication (Weber et al., 2006; Wisskirchen et al., 2011). Since these PRRs are dispensable in influenza virus infection, they are not discussed here. Human macrophages express TLR8 whereas the expression of TLR3 and TLR7 is low. However, TLR3 and TLR7 are induced in influenza infection via type I IFN (Miettinen et al., 2001). The incoming influenza B virus could be recognized via TLR7/8 in the endosomal compartments after endocytosis. Yet, viral ssRNA is likely protected by the viral envelope and M1 protein and thus perhaps not accessible for TLR recognition. The viral particle should be first degraded in the lysosomal compartment by the host cell enzymes/proteases. As BafA1 also prevents the acidification of lysosomes, it would prevent the TLR7/8-induced IFN activation in influenza virus-infected cells. Moreover, the endosomal trafficking and acidification-dependent cleavage is needed for the functionality of endosomal TLRs (Lee and Barton, 2014). Regardless, TLR7/8 employs the adaptor protein MyD88 and its signaling does not lead to direct activation of IRF3 (Fig. 3). This excludes TLR7/8 as a putative receptor inducing early IFN gene expression in influenza B virus-infected macrophages.

Proteins in pimary macrophages are hard to knock down and we were not successful in inhibiting RIG-I protein expression with small interfering RNAs (siRNAs). Therefore we used MEFs lacking RIG-I, MDA5 or both receptors to study whether RIG-I is the receptor responsible for the early IFN induction by influenza B virus. MEFs have been reported to express TLRs from 1 to 9 (Kurt-Jones et al., 2004). We generated immortalized cell lines from the primary fibroblasts by rigorous passaging method. The kinetic difference between influenza A and B viruses in inducing IRF3 activation was clearly present in wt mouse fibroblasts (Fig. 4B in I) where influenza B virus induced IRF3 phosphorylation at 3 hour time point and influenza A at 8 hour time point. As expected, RIG-I was the dominant receptor inducing IFN responses as the phosphorylation of IRF3 (Fig. 8B in I) or IFN- β gene expression (Fig. 8A in I) did not take place in the influenza B virus-infected RIG-I^{-/-} cells. In MDA5 deficient cells, influenza B induced IRF3 phosphorylation as well as in the wt cells, however, in influenza A virus-infected MDA5 knock-out cells IRF3 phosphorylation was reduced (Fig. 8B in I). Our results indicate that RIG-I is the essential receptor for the early influenza B virus-induced IFN activation. Thus influenza B virus infection, which induces robust and early RIG-I-dependent IFN responses in human macrophages (Hui et al., 2011).

It is still not entirely clear, which influenza-derived ligands trigger RIG-I signaling in the context of infection. The question is not easy to answer as influenza viruses inhibit RIG-I recognition and RIG-I-induced signaling in many ways. In addition, influenza strains adapted to one host species may not show similar ability to restrict the activation of innate immune responses in the new host. The ds panhandle structure of influenza vRNP acts as a promoter region for viral replication and contains wobble pairs and mismatches and as such is not an optimal RIG-I ligand (Liu et al., 2015a). When stabilizing mutations were introduced to the panhandle, RIG-I activation and IFN induction were increased but viral mRNA synthesis was decreased (Liu et al., 2015a). As RIG-I is essential for inducing antiviral innate immune response against influenza, and since influenza virus is effectively blocking its functions, using optimized RIG-I agonists as prophylaxis against influenza has been studied (Chiang et al., 2015). Promising results have been obtained in mice by using these agonists as adjuvants in influenza vaccines (Beljanski et al., 2015). Virus like particle (VLP) vaccine, containing H5N1 HA and NA and the optimized RIG-I agonists as an adjuvant, greatly improved humoral and cellular immune responses to the vaccine and protected mice against lethal challenge with H5N1 virus (Beljanski et al., 2015).

5.2.2 Influenza virus-induced IFN responses in human macrophages and DCs (II)

In 2009 a novel swine origin H1N1 influenza virus caused a first influenza pandemic of the 21st century. As little was known about the characteristics of the pandemic H1N1 (pH1N1) virus in the human system, we decided to analyze the activation of IFN responses in human moDCs infected with the new virus. The Finnish virus isolate A/Finland/553/2009 used in the study was genetically almost identical to the initial isolate A/California/04/2009. The pH1N1virus readily infected moDCs (Fig. 1A in II) and replicated in moDCs with similar efficacy compared to the seasonal human H1N1 strains (Fig. 1B in II). When IFN gene expression was

studied, pH1N1 induced similar IFN mRNA levels as the seasonal human H1N1 strains (Fig. 2A in II), however the levels were much lower than those induced by laboratory adapted strains A/WSN/33 (H1N1) and A/Udorn/72 (H3N2). Nevertheless, pH1N1-induced IFN- α , IFN- β and IFN- λ 1 protein production was barely detectable in moDCs, whereas seasonal H1N1 viruses or the H3N2 virus did produce IFNs (Fig. 2B in II). We also analyzed the infectivity and IFN gene expression in pH1N1-infected human macrophages in comparison to moDCs (Fig. 3 in II) and found no significant differences between the cell types.

Several in vitro studies have shown weaker (Chan et al., 2010; Mukherjee et al., 2011; Patel et al., 2011; Zeng et al., 2011) or similar (Lee et al., 2010) immune responses in cells infected with the 2009 pandemic virus compared to the seasonal H1N1 virus-infected cells. Consistent with our study, pandemic H1N1 induced weaker IFN-ß gene expression than seasonal H3N2 virus or prototypic laboratoryadapted PR8 H1N1virus in human lung tissue (Wu et al., 2012). The authors showed that pandemic H1N1 virus suppressed RIG-I gene and protein expression but there was no difference in the proinflammatory response such as IL-6 gene expression. A comprehensive study analyzed the transcriptional response in human moDCs infected with pandemic H1N1 viruses (A/Brevig Mission/1/1918, A/California/4/2009) and seasonal H1N1 viruses (A/New Caledonia/20/1999, A/Texas/36/1991) (Hartmann et al., 2015). The authors showed that the 2009 pandemic H1N1 virus induced lower IFN-β gene expression than the seasonal 1999 H1N1 virus; however, the other seasonal H1N1 and the 1918 pandemic H1N1 induced even lower IFN- β gene expression levels. ISGs were induced clearly slower during the 2009 pandemic H1N1 virus infection. They also found a cell response signature that distinguished the seasonal viruses from the pandemic viruses, as the seasonal viruses caused a dramatic mRNA loss in the host cell starting 4 hours post infection (Hartmann et al., 2015). Another transcriptional analysis comparing the early innate immune responses induced by the pandemic H1N1 virus (A/Mexico/4108/2009) to ones induced by a seasonal H1N1 virus (A/Brisbane/59/2007) stated that the pandemic H1N1 virus induced a stronger inflammatory response than the seasonal H1N1 in human bronchial epithelial cells (NHBECs) (Paquette et al., 2014). Similarly, in human macrophages the pandemic H1N1 virus showed higher proinflammatory cytokine expression compared to PR8 H1N1 virus, but lower IFN- α and again, RIG-I expression was attenuated (Ramirez-Martinez et al., 2013).

Clearly there are significant virus strain- and host cell-specific differences in IFN and immune responses elicited by influenza A viruses. It may be that circumventing the early innate immune response and thus inducing less IFN in the host cells is crucial for successfull crossing of the species barrier. A recent paper indicated that the 2009 pandemic H1N1 virus is not able to subvert the innate immune responses in

porcine airway epithelial cells as efficiently as a true swine influenza virus (Krishna et al., 2015). The 2009 pandemic H1N1 strain replaced the seasonal H1N1 strains and still circulates among human population in addition to seasonal H3N2 and influenza B viruses. There is evidence that the pandemic H1N1 virus is acquiring human-adapting mutations which contribute to the severity of the virus infections in patients (Elderfield et al., 2014).

5.2.3 Differences in the activation of innate immune responses by different influenza viruses (I, II)

Apparently, influenza viruses activate innate immune responses differently and this variation has been studied from several perspectives: 1) differences between influenza A HA-NA subtypes, 2) pandemic vs. seasonal viruses, 3) avian influenza vs. human influenza, 4) low pathogenic avian influenza (LPAI) vs. HPAI viruses, 5) influenza A vs. influenza B viruses. It seems that in most cell types, influenza virus infection is sensed via RIG-I/MAVS/IRF3 pathway but the subsequent IFN responses elicited by the pathway differ in their kinetics and magnitude. Several mechanisms add to the complexity of the host-pathogen interactions.

One reason for the differences between the virus-induced responses is that not every cell in the population responds similarly to the virus infection. There is stochasticity in every level of the cell signaling pathway commencing from the viral ligand recognition all the way to the transcription of IFN genes (Zhao et al., 2012). Only now the methods in biotechnology have begun to enable gene expression analysis at a single cell level, and advanced live-cell-imaging techniques have revealed cell population dynamics in virus infections. The reasons for the variability in single cell responses are largely unknown. Only a fraction of virus-infected cells produces IFNs and the paracrine signaling from the first infected cell affects the bystander cells (Patil et al., 2015). In addition, the host cell population context affects many aspects of virus infection; whether the cell is growing in the middle of the population or on the edge, what is the cellular state or cell density (Snijder et al., 2009). It is well known that IFNs increase the expression of PRRs and cell signaling components in PRR signaling pathways (Miettinen et al., 2001; Osterlund et al., 2005; Siren et al., 2005; Siren et al., 2006; Tissari et al., 2005). The upregulation of several receptors and cell signaling components can sensitize the bystander cells and lower the threshold for virus-induced IFN expression. Even if IFN and maybe other cytokine responses induced by virus infection are stochastic in the cell population, IFNs induce ISGs in every cell via the JAK/STAT-pathway (Zhao et al., 2012). In the study by Zhao and coworkers, higher amounts of Sendai virus transcription and replication products and defective interfering particles were present in IFN producing cells. Another study using Sendai virus found out that virus MOI affects the IFN induction profile in cells (Zaritsky et al., 2015). This was dependent on the

differential activation of the JAK/STAT signaling via IFNAR by the different virus amounts. Thus when comparing different influenza strains, great care has to be taken in analyzing viral stocks, as differences in the infectivity of the stock virus may affect the results. Furthermore, if one influenza strain replicates more efficiently than the other, it may induce stronger and/or earlier IFN responses.

The replication efficiency does not explain the differences in IFN expression between different influenza A viruses in this study (Fig. 2 in II) as all viruses replicated equally well in human moDCs (Fig. 1B in II). It is more likely that the viruses differ in their ability to inhibit IFN gene expression via their virulence factors or they carry genomic features aimed at evading the functions of host viral restriction factors. Several such features have been described for the 2009 pandemic H1N1 virus. The NS1 of the 2009 pandemic H1N1 efficiently inhibits IFN gene expression; however it is not able to block host gene expression (Hale et al., 2010). Yet, A/California/04/2009 strain expresses PA-X protein that mediates host cell shut-off and inhibits IFN-β expression in the lungs of infected mice (Hayashi et al., 2015). The 2009 pandemic virus also carries mutations in NP protein that provide MxA resistance (Manz et al., 2013). The pH1N1 was highly sensitive to the antiviral actions of type I IFNs as shown by the IFN-dose dependent inhibition of viral M1 gene expression (Fig. 4B in II) and cell surface glycoprotein expression (Fig. 4A in II) in moDCs. The inhibitory effect of IFN pretreatment was similar in pH1N1 virus infected cells and seasonal H1N1 virus-infected cells. Hence, when the antiviral state has been established in the cells, the host cell efficiently restricts the replication of the pandemic virus. This implicates that the pandemic H1N1 virus is not better than the seasonal H1N1 virus in evading the IFN-mediated host antiviral mechanisms

Although there is significant variance between different influenza virus infections *in vitro*, the clinical picture of influenza virus infections does not always vary accordingly. For example the HPAI H5N1 virus induces high IFN gene expression in the host; nevertheless the so-called cytokine storm is not protective but contributes to higher pathogenicity (de Jong et al., 2006). On the other hand, an avian influenza virus H7N9 that has caused severe disease in humans induces very low IFN responses in host cells (Arilahti et al., 2014). Intriguingly, the H5N1 and the pandemic H1N1 viruses have totally different phenotypes in TLR3 knock-out mice; in TLR3 deficient mice H5N1 is less pathogenic than in wt mice, whereas such a difference is not seen with the pandemic H1N1 virus (Leung et al., 2014). In the host organism many factors influence the outcome of the infection such as the transmission efficiency of the virus, the virus adaptation to the host including receptor binding, polymerase/replication efficiency, virulence factors, the interplay of different innate immune cells, the activation of adaptive immunity, possible cross

reacting antibodies against the virus, host genetic background and other yet unknown factors.

5.3 TLR ligand-induced cytokine responses in human immune cells (III, IV)

5.3.1 Cooperation of TLR signaling pathways

During the infection, many different PAMPs are likely available for recognition by plethora of PRRs located in different cellular compartments. This redundancy allows for rigorous control over activation of innate immunity which is of utmost importance in clearing the infection but avoiding an inappropriate inflammatory response. Many studies have demonstrated that stimulating cells with two PRR ligands simultaneously leads to a stronger cytokine response than triggering only one receptor. However, only a limited number of genes is regulated by this synergy (Napolitani et al., 2005), one of the most studied being IL-12. We also wanted to address the question of synergy and what mechanisms regulate synergistic cytokine response in human moDCs and macrophages.

First we analyzed the cytokine response in human moDCs (Fig. 1A in III) and macrophages (Fig. 1B in III) by stimulating them with a range of TLR ligands (Table 5) alone or pairwise. In moDCs TLR7/8 ligand R848 together with TLR3 ligand polyI:C or TLR4 ligand LPS induced a synergistic IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p70 and TNF-α cytokine secretion. In macrophages such synergy was not observed as R848 alone induced a maximal cytokine response. When the cytokine gene expression was analyzed by qRT-PCR, also macrophages induced synergistic IL-6, IL-10 and IL-12p35 gene expression at the late time point of 24 hours with the aforementioned TLR ligand combinations. In moDCs the synergy was evident earlier at 9 hour time point. In most studies synergy has been detected when a TLR that employs MyD88 adaptor protein (all TLRs except TLR3) is combined with TLR that is coupled to TRIF adaptor (TLR3 or TLR4) (Bagchi et al., 2007; Bohnenkamp et al., 2007; Gautier et al., 2005; Hume et al., 2001; Napolitani et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2000b; Suet Ting Tan et al., 2013; Yi et al., 2001). Thus it has been postulated that both MyD88-dependent and TRIF-dependent pathways are needed for synergistic signaling. To support this hypothesis, it has been proposed that triggering TLR4, which activates both MyD88 and TRIF pathways, is a synergistic event on its own (Krummen et al., 2010).

Most of the studies analyzing the synergy between different TLR receptors have been examining the proinflammatory cytokine responses. However, the endosomal TLRs recognizing nucleic acid structures are important in detecting viral infections. Therefore we wanted to study whether also IFNs are produced synergistically in response to dual TLR stimuli. Indeed, we detected synergistic IFN- α , IFN- β , IFN- λ 1 and IFN- λ 2/3 gene expression in response to polyI:C+LPS, polyI:C+R848 or LPS+R848 in moDCs (Fig. 1A in IV). However, the synergy was not evident in all three time points studied and in 3 hours polyI:C and LPS induced efficient IFN- β and IFN- λ 1 on their own. We also analyzed IFN- β and IFN- λ 1 protein expression from the cell culture supernatants (Fig. 1C in IV). R848, which did not induce IFN gene or protein expression alone, augmented polyI:C-induced cytokine production. In addition, when IL-12p70 and IFN- λ 1 protein expression in moDCs was analyzed after stimulation with polyI:C+R848 and LPS+R848 with several concentrations, IFN- λ 1 protein expression only weakly (Fig. 5, polyI:C lower panel on the left, LPS lower panel on the right, unpublished). However, polyI:C or LPS did not induce IL-12p70 alone but dose-dependently increased R848-induced IL-12p70 production (Fig. 5, upper panels, unpublished). Clearly, IL-12p70 and IFNs are regulated differently by the synergistic TLR pathways.



Figure 5. Dose response of dual TLR ligand stimulation in moDCs. Cell culture supernatants were harvested from moDCs of three blood donors after stimulation with different TLR ligand combinations for 24 hours with concentrations indicated in the figure. IL-12p70 and IFN- λ 1 protein levels (pg/ml) were analyzed with ELISA kits and the data is presented as the means +SD. PolyI:C+R848 on the left panels, LPS+R848 on the right panels.

A recent paper showed that in murine antigen presenting cells, preconditioning cells with polyI:C augmented IFN- α and IFN- β production induced by R848 or TLR9 ligand CpG DNA (Hotz et al., 2015). The authors also stated that although pretreatment with polyI:C increased the cytokine responses induced by another TLR ligand, it inhibited subsequent RLR signaling. In addition, the effect was seen with virus infection which also sensitized the cells for TLR signaling but inhibited signaling via RLR pathway. The authors discussed that after the initial virus infection, blocking of RLR signaling and the sensitizing of TLR7 pathway would serve to induce efficient IL-12 production and subsequent Th1 cell differentiation. Our results support this theory, as in our human cell model polyI:C increased TLR7 and TLR8 expression (Fig. 3A in IV) and IL-12p70 protein was produced efficiently with R848 whereas polyI:C alone induced very little IL-12p70 (Fig. 5, upper left panel). Whether polyI:C treatment can also block the RLR signaling pathway in the human system requires further studies.

5.3.2 Transcriptional regulation of IL-12 and IFN-λ1 genes

We went on studying the mechanism of IL-12 synergy in human immune cells. Previously it had been proposed that sustained MAPK c-Jun (Napolitani et al., 2005) or MAPK p38 (Bohnenkamp et al., 2007) signaling is taking place in moDCs stimulated with polyI:C+R848. Furthermore, IFN autocrine-paracrine loop was shown to be involved in the synergistic effect (Gautier et al., 2005). As the promoter region of IL-12p35 was already analyzed (Goriely et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2003; Liu et al., 2004) we carried out oligonucleotide precipitation experiments to analyze the binding of transcription factors to the IL-12p35 ISRE and NF-KB promoter elements in human moDCs and macrophages. In moDCs, polyI:C or R848 both induced the binding of several IRF and STAT proteins to the ISRE site, but polyI:C-induced binding was stronger and took place at earlier time points than R848-induced binding for all IRFs studied except IRF8 (Fig. 4A in III). In contrast, in macrophages polyI:C did not induce the binding of IRF1, IRF3, IRF9 or STAT1 onto IL-12p35 ISRE site (Fig. 5A in III). R848, however induced the binding of IRF1 and IRF3, and the binding of IRF7 and IRF8 was stronger in R848-stimulated cells compared to polyI:C stimulated cells (Fig. 5A in III). Altogether, we did not observe a synergistic binding of transcription factors to the ISRE site in polyI:C+R848 stimulated moDCs but in macrophages the binding of IRF1, IRF7, IRF9 and STAT1 were induced better with the dual stimulus compared to a single stimulus. In moDCs the transcription factor activation took place earlier than in macrophages and was induced via both polyI:C and R848 reflecting the earlier and much stronger IL-12p35 gene expression seen in Fig. 2 in III. IRF1 (Liu et al., 2003), IRF3 (Goriely et al., 2006) and IRF8 (Liu et al., 2004) have been shown to be important for IL-12p35 gene expression and our results confirm these findings.

We also studied IRF1, IRF7 and IRF8 binding to the IFN- λ 1 promoter ISRE site in moDCs and the polyI:C+R848 stimulus induced a stronger binding of all these IRFs compared to stimulation with a single ligand (Fig. 6A in IV). Consequently, at the transcriptional level the activation of multiple IRFs via TRIF- and MyD88dependent pathways may contribute to the synergy. A very recent paper analyzed polyI:C+R848-induced synergistic IL-12p40 and IL-6 gene expression in murine macrophages and showed with oligonucleotide precipitation and siRNA experiments that IRF1, JunB and C/EBPB transcription factors were responsible for the synergistic effect (Liu et al., 2015b). Probably, in the case of many cytokines, the synergy is regulated at the transcriptional level. Yet an additional enhancing mechanism requires attention and that is chromatin remodeling. Qiao and coworkers showed that IFN- γ is able to prime chromatin by inducing a sustained binding of STAT1 and IRF1 to the TNF, IL-6 and IL-12p40 gene promoter and enhancer regions (Qiao et al., 2013). The priming alone did not induce transcription but enhanced the transcription induced by TLR4 stimulation synergistically. We noticed that polyI:C+R848-stimulation induced ~400 fold induction of IFN-y mRNA and up to 100 pg/ml IFN-y protein production in moDCs from some donors (data not shown). Thus IFN-y-dependent chromatin remodeling may well be a contributing factor in the TLR synergy and it remains to be investigated, whether other IFNs have similar effects.

Many of the MAPK signaling components have been linked to the synergistic cytokine expression. We analyzed the involvement of different MAPK signaling pathways in moDCs with immunoblot analysis of phosphorylated signaling components and treating cells with pharmacological inhibitors. Both polyI:C and R848 induced the phosphorylation of p38, c-Jun (JNK-pathway) and Akt (PI3Kpathway) (Fig. 6A in III). p44/p42 (ERK-pathway) was constitutively phosphorylated until a 9 hour time point, where the phosphorylation declined in the polyI:C- and R848-stimulated cells. Inhibitors of NF- κ B, p38 and PI3K completely abolished the TLR ligand-induced IL-12p35 gene expression (Fig. 6B in III) and IL-12p70 protein expression (Fig. 6C in III) but also JNK and ERK inhibitors reduced IL-12 expression to some extent. A study using mouse bone marrow-derived DCs showed an identical inhibition pattern for IL-12p70 induced with LPS+R848 (Mitchell et al., 2010). We did not observe sustained c-Jun phosphorylation (Napolitani et al., 2005), p38 phosphorylation (Bohnenkamp et al., 2007) or ERK phosphorylation (Suet Ting Tan et al., 2013) with polyI:C+R848 stimulus, however we confirm that all these pathways play a role either directly or indirectly in TLR ligand-induced cytokine gene expression.

Very little is known about MAPK pathways in the context of IFN gene expression and it has been thought that IFN gene expression is regulated mainly via IRF, STAT and NF- κ B pathways. We treated moDCs with the aforementioned inhibitor panel and measured polyI:C and R848-induced IFN- β and IFN- λ 1 gene expression. Inhibition of PI3K and p38 pathways abolished the TLR-induced IFN gene expression (Fig. 7 in IV). Interestingly, H5N1 influenza virus-induced IFN- β and IFN- λ 1 gene expression was also inhibited by p38 inhibitor in human macrophages (Hui et al., 2009) and similarly p38 inhibition reduced H5N1 virus induced IFN- β gene expression in endothelial cells (Borgeling et al., 2014). In addition, a recent extensive study indicated that PI3K and especially p38 pathways have roles in IFN- λ 1 gene expression induced by various types of RNA molecules (Jiang et al., 2015). Clearly, more research into the vast network of different MAPK pathways is needed to clarify their role in IFN gene expression.

5.3.3 IFN feedback loop in the cooperation of TLR signaling pathways

There are different views of the importance of IFN feedback loop in the cooperation of TLRs. Two groups claimed that IFNs are not responsible for the mechanism of synergy, as stimulating the cells with exogenous IFN- β along with the TLR ligands did not substantially increase IL-12p70 (Napolitani et al., 2005) or TNF (Bagchi et al., 2007) production. Gautier and colleagues, however, showed that in STAT1 or IFNAR knock-out mouse macrophages, synergistic IL-12p70 production was greatly reduced thus pointing to the dependence on IFN feedback loop (Gautier et al., 2005). We studied the synergistic IL-12p35 and IL-12p40 gene expression in moDCs in the presence of IFN- β or IFN- λ 1. It has been shown that the synergy is most potent if the TLR3 or TLR4 ligands are added before the TLR7/8 ligand (Napolitani et al., 2005; Suet Ting Tan et al., 2013). Moreover, polyI:C and LPS but not R848 induce a rapid IFN- β and IFN- λ 1 gene expression (Fig. 2A in IV). For these reasons we took a different approach and instead of stimulating the cells with IFNs simultaneously with the TLR ligands we primed moDC with IFN- β or IFN- λ 1 for 4 hours prior to TLR stimulation. The priming increased TLR-induced IL-12p35 and IL-12p40 gene expression (Fig. 6, unpublished), IFN- β more potently than IFN- λ 1. In addition, the priming augmented IFN- β and IFN- λ 1 gene expression as well (Fig. 5B in IV). Treating moDCs with antisera against IFN- α/β also decreased the TLRinduced IFN- β and IFN- λ 1 gene expression to some extent (Fig.4 in IV).



Figure 6. Priming with IFN increases synergistic IL-12 gene expression in moDCs. Human moDCs from four blood donors were primed with IFN- λ 1 (10 ng/ml) or IFN- β (100 IU/ml) for 4 hours after which the cells were stimulated with polyI:C (30 µg/ml), R848 (10 µM) or their combinations for an additional 8 hours. The cells were pooled and total cellular RNA was isolated for cDNA synthesis and qRT-PCR analysis. The values were normalized against β -actin mRNA and relative mRNA levels were calculated with $\Delta\Delta$ Ct-method using untreated cells as a calibrator.

As we know that the expression of TLR3 and TLR7 in human moDC is rather low but induced by IFNs (Osterlund et al., 2005), we studied the TLR gene expression in response to TLR ligand stimulation. PolyI:C induced the expression of TLR3, TLR4, and TLR8 but especially that of TLR7 (Fig. 3A in IV). The polyI:C-induced IFN contributed to TLR gene expression as priming with IFN- β or IFN- λ 1 amplified TLR3, TLR7 and TLR8 gene expression (Fig. 5A in IV) and anti-IFN- α/β sera reduced TLR7 gene expression (Fig. 3B in IV). We propose that triggering the TLR3/TRIF pathway induces a rapid IFN gene expression which upregulates TLR and IRF7 (Fig. 5A in IV) expression and sensitizes the cells to TLR7/8 ligation and also amplify the TLR3 pathway signaling, leading to higher IFN- β , IFN- λ 1 and IL-12 expression (Fig. 7). Supporting our hypothesis a very recent study using sorted human BDCA⁺ DCs and pDCs showed that IFN-dependent upregulation of TLR7 (BDCA+ DCs) or TLR3 (pDCs) was involved in synergistic IL-6 production induced by R848 and polyI:C (Kreutz et al., 2015).



Figure 7. A proposed model for TLR synergy. First, triggering the TLR3 and TLR7/8 pathways leads to the activation of IRF-, MAPK- and NF- κ B-pathways. The TLR7/8/MyD88-pathway induces the IL-12p35 expression and the TLR3/TRIF pathway induces IFN gene expression. The autocrine IFN signaling activates ISGF3 (STATs+IRF9) transcription factor that subsequently activates TLR7 and IRF7 gene expression and protein production. These will further amplify the TLR signaling pathways leading to stronger signaling and higher production of IFNs and IL-12p35 in later time points.

In summary, the synergistic activation of TLRs takes place when both MyD88- and TRIF-dependent pathways are triggered. These pathways lead to the activation of partially overlapping signaling cascades (Fig. 3) leading to an optimal activation of IRF, NF-kB and MAPK-pathways. IFNs induced mainly via TRIF-dependent pathway further enhance the synergistic cytokine gene expression by upregulating TLRs and downstream components of the signaling pathways such as transcription factors. The production of proinflammatory cytokines and IFNs can however lead to immunopathology. That is why the host must carefully control the expression of these mediators and induce the production only if the pathogen is sensed via different receptors in several cellular compartments. Furthermore, both positive and negative feedback loops in the cell signaling offer means of rigorous regulation.

6 Concluding remarks

In this thesis influenza virus- and TLR ligand-induced IFN and cytokine gene expression was studied in human primary macrophages and moDCs. We studied the very early virus-host interaction and induction of IFNs by influenza B virus in human macrophages. We found clear differences in the early innate immune activation by influenza B virus compared to influenza A virus. Influenza B virus induced early IFN gene expression and IRF3 activation upon entry into macrophages. In contrast these early responses were absent in influenza A virusinfected macrophages. Furthermore, we characterized IFN responses induced by different H1N1 influenza viruses compared to the novel 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza and showed that the pandemic virus was highly sensitive to the actions of IFNs. Finally, we found differences between cell types (macrophages vs. moDCs) in the regulation of TLR ligand-induced cytokine gene and protein expression. MoDCs were more potent inducers of the synergistic IL-12 cytokine expression compared to macrophages and the difference was reflected to the transcription factor activation induced by different TLR ligands. Our studies illuminated and further confirmed cell signaling mechanisms involved in the synergistic IL-12 and IFN gene expression in the human system.

Despite the great advances in elucidating mechanisms of innate immune system activation during the past decade, many unanswered questions remain. There is still a great many receptors without known ligands and most likely additional PPRs are still to be found. Even though many innate immune signaling pathways are well defined, controversy exists, not least because of cell-type or organism-specific regulation. We have just started to realize the complexity of host-pathogen interactions of seemingly simple pathogens, such as viruses. The multitude of different receptors, signaling pathways and cytokines forming complex networks sets up a need for systems biology approach. A great deal of basic research into the innate immunity is necessary to establish the framework for further translational research.

The advantages of defining PRR-triggered cell signaling pathways leading to the activation of innate immunity are numerous. Already various types of TLR ligands are used as vaccine adjuvants (Maisonneuve et al., 2014) and in the future, cocktails of different PRR ligands could be used to induce optimal humoral and cellular immunity. Secondly, efficient DC-activating adjuvants are greatly needed for the use of DC-based therapy against cancer (Bloy et al., 2014). Thirdly, TRL7/8 ligand Imiquimod is already in use for the treatment of warts and skin cancer, thus detailed knowledge of PRR signaling pathways may give rise to additional antiviral or

anticancer treatment modalities. Fourthly, thorough understanding of influenza virus-induced cytokine gene expression may shed light on the mechanisms of hypercytokinemia induced by highly pathogenic influenza viruses and direct the development of novel cures for infectious diseases in general. Finally, it is becoming increasingly clear that the innate immune responses are closely coupled to almost every human disease including autoimmune diseases, infectious diseases and cancer. Elucidating the mechanisms of host-pathogen interactions and innate immunity is crucial for learning to manipulate these mechanisms for the benefit of human health.

7 Acknowledgements

This work was carried out at the Viral Infections Unit, Department of Infectious Diseases, National Institute for Health and Welfare, Helsinki. Juhani Eskola and Pekka Puska, the present and former heads of the institute, the head of the department Mika Salminen and the head of the unit Carita Savolainen-Kopra are gratefully acknowledged for providing excellent working facilities. The Doctoral Programme in Integrative Life Science, the Academy of Finland and Sigrid Jusélius Foundation are thanked for financial support for these studies.

I am most grateful to the supervisors of this work, Professor Ilkka Julkunen and Docent Pamela Österlund. Ilkka, your never-ending optimism, wealth of knowledge, love for science and true humanity have inspired me throughout these years. Pamela, thank you for all the support and guidance, I look up to you in many respects.

The reviewers of this thesis, Docent Varpu Marjomäki and Docent Petteri Arstila, thank you for sharing your expertise and giving me valuable comments to improve my thesis. I thank my thesis committee, Docent Kaarina Lähteenmäki and Docent Sampsa Matikanen for the fruitful meetings and encouraging attitude towards my work. I am much honored to have Professor Richard Randall as my opponent; I am looking forward to the discussions during the public examination of my thesis.

This work would have been impossible without all the coauthors and former and present fellow lab members, thank you for the enjoyable collaboration and friendship outside the lab. MariS and Taija, thank you for teaching me the secrets of laboratory work when I first arrived at Ilkka's lab. Jaana, Minja, Maarit and the other senior scientist in the former INIM lab and the present Viral Infections Unit, thank you for sharing your knowledge with me and setting examples. Sinikka, the other S, thank you for being my friend and the best office and conference companion one can hope for. Veera and Janne, I enjoy sharing the office with you and the ups and downs of PhD-life. Ville, thank you for your career advice, you always ask the most interesting questions in science. Krister, I thank you for introducing me to the magnificent world of microscopy. All the technical people in our lab, especially Hanna, Teija, MariA, Sari, Riitu and Esa are thanked for their skilful work and creating a cheerful atmosphere to work in. I am grateful to Kirsi-Mari and the former secretaries of our unit; I wouldn't have survived without you.

My family and friends, thank you for being there for me, you are all very dear to me. I am thankful for my friends who happened to study, get married and have children with the same pace with me, how precious is it to share the different phases in life with you. Mom, thank you for your love, care and support. You have taught me persistence. Dad, thank you for implanting in me the urge to know more, and always believing in me. My siblings Tiina, Elina, Juho, Aino and Kaisa, you make this path of life easier to travel. I feel like home with you. My dear children, Samuel, Joosua and the one in my womb, you make my life complete. I hope to share with you the moments of awe and wonder awaken by nature and biology. Kalle, my beloved, my soulmate, my best friend and a superb father to my children, I am grateful to you beyond words. With you I want to keep the faith and grow old and grey.

Sanna Mäkelä Helsinki, February 2016
8 References

Akira, S., and Takeda, K. (2004). Toll-like receptor signalling. Nat Rev Immunol. 4, 499-511.

Aldridge, J.R., Jr, Moseley, C.E., Boltz, D.A., Negovetich, N.J., Reynolds, C., Franks, J., Brown, S.A., Doherty, P.C., Webster, R.G., and Thomas, P.G. (2009). TNF/iNOS-producing dendritic cells are the necessary evil of lethal influenza virus infection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *106*, 5306-5311.

Alexopoulou, L., Holt, A.C., Medzhitov, R., and Flavell, R.A. (2001). Recognition of doublestranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by toll-like receptor 3. Nature. *413*, 732-8.

Allen, I.C., Scull, M.A., Moore, C.B., Holl, E.K., McElvania-TeKippe, E., Taxman, D.J., Guthrie, E.H., Pickles, R.J., and Ting, J.P. (2009). The NLRP3 inflammasome mediates in vivo innate immunity to influenza A virus through recognition of viral RNA. Immunity. *30*, 556-565.

Amorim, M.J., Bruce, E.A., Read, E.K., Foeglein, A., Mahen, R., Stuart, A.D., and Digard, P. (2011). A Rab11- and microtubule-dependent mechanism for cytoplasmic transport of influenza A virus viral RNA. J. Virol. *85*, 4143-4156.

Arilahti, V., Makela, S.M., Tynell, J., Julkunen, I., and Osterlund, P. (2014). Novel avian influenza A (H7N9) virus induces impaired interferon responses in human dendritic cells. PLoS One. *9*, e96350.

Arthur, J.S., and Ley, S.C. (2013). Mitogen-activated protein kinases in innate immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *13*, 679-692.

Au, W.C., Moore, P.A., Lowther, W., Juang, Y.T., and Pitha, P.M. (1995). Identification of a member of the interferon regulatory factor family that binds to the interferon-stimulated response element and activates expression of interferon-induced genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *92*, 11657-11661.

Au, W.C., Yeow, W.S., and Pitha, P.M. (2001). Analysis of functional domains of interferon regulatory factor 7 and its association with IRF-3. Virology. *280*, 273-282.

Bagchi, A., Herrup, E.A., Warren, H.S., Trigilio, J., Shin, H.S., Valentine, C., and Hellman, J. (2007). MyD88-dependent and MyD88-independent pathways in synergy, priming, and tolerance between TLR agonists. J Immunol. *178*, 1164-71.

Bailey, C.C., Huang, I.C., Kam, C., and Farzan, M. (2012). Ifitm3 limits the severity of acute influenza in mice. PLoS Pathog. *8*, e1002909.

Ballesteros-Tato, A., Leon, B., Lund, F.E., and Randall, T.D. (2010). Temporal changes in dendritic cell subsets, cross-priming and costimulation via CD70 control CD8(+) T cell responses to influenza. Nat. Immunol. *11*, 216-224.

Banerjee, I., Miyake, Y., Nobs, S.P., Schneider, C., Horvath, P., Kopf, M., Matthias, P., Helenius, A., and Yamauchi, Y. (2014). Influenza A virus uses the aggresome processing machinery for host cell entry. Science. *346*, 473-477.

Banerjee, I., Yamauchi, Y., Helenius, A., and Horvath, P. (2013). High-content analysis of sequential events during the early phase of influenza A virus infection. PLoS One. *8*, e68450.

Barbe, F., Douglas, T., and Saleh, M. (2014). Advances in nod-like receptors (NLR) biology. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 25, 681-697.

Barber, M.R., Aldridge, J.R., Jr, Webster, R.G., and Magor, K.E. (2010). Association of RIG-I with innate immunity of ducks to influenza. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *107*, 5913-5918.

Barnes, B.J., Field, A.E., and Pitha-Rowe, P.M. (2003). Virus-induced heterodimer formation between IRF-5 and IRF-7 modulates assembly of the IFNA enhanceosome in vivo and transcriptional activity of IFNA genes. J. Biol. Chem. *278*, 16630-16641.

Barnes, B.J., Moore, P.A., and Pitha, P.M. (2001). Virus-specific activation of a novel interferon regulatory factor, IRF-5, results in the induction of distinct interferon alpha genes. J. Biol. Chem. *276*, 23382-23390.

Baum, A., Sachidanandam, R., and Garcia-Sastre, A. (2010). Preference of RIG-I for short viral RNA molecules in infected cells revealed by next-generation sequencing. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *107*, 16303-16308.

Beljanski, V., Chiang, C., Kirchenbaum, G.A., Olagnier, D., Bloom, C.E., Wong, T., Haddad, E.K., Trautmann, L., Ross, T.M., and Hiscott, J. (2015). Enhanced influenza virus-like particle vaccination with a structurally optimized RIG-I agonist as adjuvant. J. Virol. *89*, 10612-10624.

Bender, A., Albert, M., Reddy, A., Feldman, M., Sauter, B., Kaplan, G., Hellman, W., and Bhardwaj, N. (1998). The distinctive features of influenza virus infection of dendritic cells. Immunobiology. *198*, 552-567.

Benitez, A.A., Panis, M., Xue, J., Varble, A., Shim, J.V., Frick, A.L., Lopez, C.B., Sachs, D., and tenOever, B.R. (2015). In vivo RNAi screening identifies MDA5 as a significant contributor to the cellular defense against influenza A virus. Cell. Rep. *11*, 1714-1726.

Bergsbaken, T., Fink, S.L., and Cookson, B.T. (2009). Pyroptosis: Host cell death and inflammation. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 7, 99-109.

Bloy, N., Pol, J., Aranda, F., Eggermont, A., Cremer, I., Fridman, W.H., Fucikova, J., Galon, J., Tartour, E., Spisek, R., *et al.* (2014). Trial watch: Dendritic cell-based anticancer therapy. Oncoimmunology. *3*, e963424.

Bohnenkamp, H.R., Papazisis, K.T., Burchell, J.M., and Taylor-Papadimitriou, J. (2007). Synergism of toll-like receptor-induced interleukin-12p70 secretion by monocyte-derived dendritic cells is mediated through p38 MAPK and lowers the threshold of T-helper cell type 1 responses. Cell Immunol. *247*, 72-84. Borgeling, Y., Schmolke, M., Viemann, D., Nordhoff, C., Roth, J., and Ludwig, S. (2014). Inhibition of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase impairs influenza virus-induced primary and secondary host gene responses and protects mice from lethal H5N1 infection. J. Biol. Chem. *289*, 13-27.

Brady, G., and Bowie, A.G. (2014). Innate immune activation of NFkappaB and its antagonism by poxviruses. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. *25*, 611-620.

Brass, A.L., Huang, I.C., Benita, Y., John, S.P., Krishnan, M.N., Feeley, E.M., Ryan, B.J., Weyer, J.L., van der Weyden, L., Fikrig, E., *et al.* (2009). The IFITM proteins mediate cellular resistance to influenza A H1N1 virus, west nile virus, and dengue virus. Cell. *139*, 1243-1254.

Brown, G.D., and Gordon, S. (2001). Immune recognition. A new receptor for beta-glucans. Nature. *413*, 36-37.

Brubaker, S.W., Bonham, K.S., Zanoni, I., and Kagan, J.C. (2015). Innate immune pattern recognition: A cell biological perspective. Annu. Rev. Immunol. *33*, 257-290.

Brubaker, S.W., Gauthier, A.E., Mills, E.W., Ingolia, N.T., and Kagan, J.C. (2014). A bicistronic MAVS transcript highlights a class of truncated variants in antiviral immunity. Cell. *156*, 800-811.

Budimir, N., de Haan, A., Meijerhof, T., Waijer, S., Boon, L., Gostick, E., Price, D.A., Wilschut, J., and Huckriede, A. (2013). Critical role of TLR7 signaling in the priming of cross-protective cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses by a whole inactivated influenza virus vaccine. PLoS One. *8*, e63163.

Burdette, D.L., Monroe, K.M., Sotelo-Troha, K., Iwig, J.S., Eckert, B., Hyodo, M., Hayakawa, Y., and Vance, R.E. (2011). STING is a direct innate immune sensor of cyclic di-GMP. Nature. *478*, 515-518.

Carnero, E., Barriocanal, M., Segura, V., Guruceaga, E., Prior, C., Borner, K., Grimm, D., and Fortes, P. (2014). Type I interferon regulates the expression of long non-coding RNAs. Front. Immunol. *5*, 548.

Cella, M., Salio, M., Sakakibara, Y., Langen, H., Julkunen, I., and Lanzavecchia, A. (1999). Maturation, activation, and protection of dendritic cells induced by double-stranded RNA. J. Exp. Med. *189*, 821-829.

Chan, M.C., Chan, R.W., Yu, W.C., Ho, C.C., Yuen, K.M., Fong, J.H., Tang, L.L., Lai, W.W., Lo, A.C., Chui, W.H., *et al.* (2010). Tropism and innate host responses of the 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza virus in ex vivo and in vitro cultures of human conjunctiva and respiratory tract. Am. J. Pathol. *176*, 1828-1840.

Chan, M.C., Cheung, C.Y., Chui, W.H., Tsao, S.W., Nicholls, J.M., Chan, Y.O., Chan, R.W., Long, H.T., Poon, L.L., Guan, Y., *et al.* (2005). Proinflammatory cytokine responses induced by influenza A (H5N1) viruses in primary human alveolar and bronchial epithelial cells. Respir. Res. *6*, 135.

Chan, Y.K., and Gack, M.U. (2015). RIG-I-like receptor regulation in virus infection and immunity. Curr. Opin. Virol. *12*, 7-14.

Chen, I.Y., and Ichinohe, T. (2015). Response of host inflammasomes to viral infection. Trends Microbiol. 23, 55-63.

Chen, W., Calvo, P.A., Malide, D., Gibbs, J., Schubert, U., Bacik, I., Basta, S., O'Neill, R., Schickli, J., Palese, P., *et al.* (2001). A novel influenza A virus mitochondrial protein that induces cell death. Nat. Med. *7*, 1306-1312.

Cheong, C., Matos, I., Choi, J.H., Dandamudi, D.B., Shrestha, E., Longhi, M.P., Jeffrey, K.L., Anthony, R.M., Kluger, C., Nchinda, G., *et al.* (2010). Microbial stimulation fully differentiates monocytes to DC-SIGN/CD209(+) dendritic cells for immune T cell areas. Cell. *143*, 416-429.

Chiang, C., Beljanski, V., Yin, K., Olagnier, D., Ben Yebdri, F., Steel, C., Goulet, M.L., DeFilippis, V.R., Streblow, D.N., Haddad, E.K., *et al.* (2015). Sequence-specific modifications enhance the broad-spectrum antiviral response activated by RIG-I agonists. J. Virol. *89*, 8011-8025.

Chou, Y.Y., Heaton, N.S., Gao, Q., Palese, P., Singer, R.H., and Lionnet, T. (2013). Colocalization of different influenza viral RNA segments in the cytoplasm before viral budding as shown by single-molecule sensitivity FISH analysis. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003358.

Chuang, T., and Ulevitch, R.J. (2001). Identification of hTLR10: A novel human toll-like receptor preferentially expressed in immune cells. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. *1518*, 157-161.

Collin, E.A., Sheng, Z., Lang, Y., Ma, W., Hause, B.M., and Li, F. (2015). Cocirculation of two distinct genetic and antigenic lineages of proposed influenza D virus in cattle. J. Virol. *89*, 1036-1042.

Conenello, G.M., Zamarin, D., Perrone, L.A., Tumpey, T., and Palese, P. (2007). A single mutation in the PB1-F2 of H5N1 (HK/97) and 1918 influenza A viruses contributes to increased virulence. PLoS Pathog. *3*, 1414-1421.

Crouse, J., Kalinke, U., and Oxenius, A. (2015). Regulation of antiviral T cell responses by type I interferons. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *15*, 231-242.

Dambuza, I.M., and Brown, G.D. (2015). C-type lectins in immunity: Recent developments. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 32, 21-27.

Darnell, J.E., Jr, Kerr, I.M., and Stark, G.R. (1994). Jak-STAT pathways and transcriptional activation in response to IFNs and other extracellular signaling proteins. Science. *264*, 1415-1421.

de Jong, M.D., Simmons, C.P., Thanh, T.T., Hien, V.M., Smith, G.J., Chau, T.N., Hoang, D.M., Chau, N.V., Khanh, T.H., Dong, V.C., *et al.* (2006). Fatal outcome of human influenza A (H5N1) is associated with high viral load and hypercytokinemia. Nat. Med. *12*, 1203-1207.

de Vries, E., Tscherne, D.M., Wienholts, M.J., Cobos-Jimenez, V., Scholte, F., Garcia-Sastre, A., Rottier, P.J., and de Haan, C.A. (2011). Dissection of the influenza A virus endocytic routes reveals macropinocytosis as an alternative entry pathway. PLoS Pathog. *7*, e1001329.

Decker, T., Muller, M., and Stockinger, S. (2005). The yin and yang of type I interferon activity in bacterial infection. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *5*, 675-687.

Dellgren, C., Gad, H.H., Hamming, O.J., Melchjorsen, J., and Hartmann, R. (2009). Human interferon-lambda3 is a potent member of the type III interferon family. Genes Immun. *10*, 125-131.

Deng, L., Wang, C., Spencer, E., Yang, L., Braun, A., You, J., Slaughter, C., Pickart, C., and Chen, Z.J. (2000). Activation of the IkappaB kinase complex by TRAF6 requires a dimeric ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme complex and a unique polyubiquitin chain. Cell. *103*, 351-361.

Desai, T.M., Marin, M., Chin, C.R., Savidis, G., Brass, A.L., and Melikyan, G.B. (2014). IFITM3 restricts influenza A virus entry by blocking the formation of fusion pores following virus-endosome hemifusion. PLoS Pathog. *10*, e1004048.

Diebold, S.S., Kaisho, T., Hemmi, H., Akira, S., and Reis e Sousa, C. (2004). Innate antiviral responses by means of TLR7-mediated recognition of single-stranded RNA. Science. *303*, 1529-1531.

Domanski, P., and Colamonici, O.R. (1996). The type-I interferon receptor. the long and short of it. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 7, 143-151.

Dreux, M., and Chisari, F.V. (2010). Viruses and the autophagy machinery. Cell. Cycle. 9, 1295-1307.

Duell, B.L., Cripps, A.W., Schembri, M.A., and Ulett, G.C. (2011). Epithelial cell coculture models for studying infectious diseases: Benefits and limitations. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. *2011*, 852419.

Eberle, F., Sirin, M., Binder, M., and Dalpke, A.H. (2009). Bacterial RNA is recognized by different sets of immunoreceptors. Eur J Immunol. *39*, 2537-47.

Ehrhardt, C., Marjuki, H., Wolff, T., Nurnberg, B., Planz, O., Pleschka, S., and Ludwig, S. (2006). Bivalent role of the phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) during influenza virus infection and host cell defence. Cell. Microbiol. *8*, 1336-1348.

Ehrhardt, C., Wolff, T., and Ludwig, S. (2007a). Activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling by the nonstructural NS1 protein is not conserved among type A and B influenza viruses. J. Virol. *81*, 12097-12100.

Ehrhardt, C., Wolff, T., Pleschka, S., Planz, O., Beermann, W., Bode, J.G., Schmolke, M., and Ludwig, S. (2007b). Influenza A virus NS1 protein activates the PI3K/akt pathway to mediate antiapoptotic signaling responses. J. Virol. *81*, 3058-3067.

Eierhoff, T., Hrincius, E.R., Rescher, U., Ludwig, S., and Ehrhardt, C. (2010). The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) promotes uptake of influenza A viruses (IAV) into host cells. PLoS Pathog. *6*, e1001099.

Eisfeld, A.J., Kawakami, E., Watanabe, T., Neumann, G., and Kawaoka, Y. (2011). RAB11A is essential for transport of the influenza virus genome to the plasma membrane. J. Virol. *85*, 6117-6126.

Eisfeld, A.J., Neumann, G., and Kawaoka, Y. (2015). At the centre: Influenza A virus ribonucleoproteins. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. *13*, 28-41.

Elderfield, R.A., Watson, S.J., Godlee, A., Adamson, W.E., Thompson, C.I., Dunning, J., Fernandez-Alonso, M., Blumenkrantz, D., Hussell, T., MOSAIC Investigators, *et al.* (2014). Accumulation of human-adapting mutations during circulation of A(H1N1)pdm09 influenza virus in humans in the united kingdom. J. Virol. *88*, 13269-13283.

Elton, D., Simpson-Holley, M., Archer, K., Medcalf, L., Hallam, R., McCauley, J., and Digard, P. (2001). Interaction of the influenza virus nucleoprotein with the cellular CRM1-mediated nuclear export pathway. J. Virol. *75*, 408-419.

Errett, J.S., and Gale, M. (2015). Emerging complexity and new roles for the RIG-I-like receptors in innate antiviral immunity. Virol. Sin. *30*, 163-173.

Errett, J.S., Suthar, M.S., McMillan, A., Diamond, M.S., and Gale, M., Jr. (2013). The essential, nonredundant roles of RIG-I and MDA5 in detecting and controlling west nile virus infection. J. Virol. *87*, 11416-11425.

Everitt, A.R., Clare, S., Pertel, T., John, S.P., Wash, R.S., Smith, S.E., Chin, C.R., Feeley, E.M., Sims, J.S., Adams, D.J., *et al.* (2012). IFITM3 restricts the morbidity and mortality associated with influenza. Nature. *484*, 519-523.

Fan, C.M., and Maniatis, T. (1991). Generation of p50 subunit of NF-kappa B by processing of p105 through an ATP-dependent pathway. Nature. *354*, 395-398.

Feng, Q., Hato, S.V., Langereis, M.A., Zoll, J., Virgen-Slane, R., Peisley, A., Hur, S., Semler, B.L., van Rij, R.P., and van Kuppeveld, F.J. (2012). MDA5 detects the double-stranded RNA replicative form in picornavirus-infected cells. Cell. Rep. *2*, 1187-1196.

Fernandes-Alnemri, T., Yu, J.W., Datta, P., Wu, J., and Alnemri, E.S. (2009). AIM2 activates the inflammasome and cell death in response to cytoplasmic DNA. Nature. *458*, 509-513.

Fitzgerald, K.A., McWhirter, S.M., Faia, K.L., Rowe, D.C., Latz, E., Golenbock, D.T., Coyle, A.J., Liao, S.M., and Maniatis, T. (2003a). IKKepsilon and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. Nat. Immunol. *4*, 491-496.

Fitzgerald, K.A., Palsson-McDermott, E.M., Bowie, A.G., Jefferies, C.A., Mansell, A.S., Brady, G., Brint, E., Dunne, A., Gray, P., Harte, M.T., *et al.* (2001). Mal (MyD88-adapter-like) is required for toll-like receptor-4 signal transduction. Nature. *413*, 78-83.

Fitzgerald, K.A., Rowe, D.C., Barnes, B.J., Caffrey, D.R., Visintin, A., Latz, E., Monks, B., Pitha, P.M., and Golenbock, D.T. (2003b). LPS-TLR4 signaling to IRF-3/7 and NF-kappaB involves the toll adapters TRAM and TRIF. J. Exp. Med. *198*, 1043-1055.

Fontana, J., and Steven, A.C. (2013). At low pH, influenza virus matrix protein M1 undergoes a conformational change prior to dissociating from the membrane. J. Virol. *87*, 5621-5628.

Forterre, P. (2006). The origin of viruses and their possible roles in major evolutionary transitions. Virus Res. *117*, 5-16.

Gack, M.U., Albrecht, R.A., Urano, T., Inn, K.S., Huang, I.C., Carnero, E., Farzan, M., Inoue, S., Jung, J.U., and Garcia-Sastre, A. (2009). Influenza A virus NS1 targets the ubiquitin ligase TRIM25 to evade recognition by the host viral RNA sensor RIG-I. Cell. Host Microbe. *5*, 439-449.

Gack, M.U., Kirchhofer, A., Shin, Y.C., Inn, K.S., Liang, C., Cui, S., Myong, S., Ha, T., Hopfner, K.P., and Jung, J.U. (2008). Roles of RIG-I N-terminal tandem CARD and splice variant in TRIM25-mediated antiviral signal transduction. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *105*, 16743-16748.

Gack, M.U., Shin, Y.C., Joo, C.H., Urano, T., Liang, C., Sun, L., Takeuchi, O., Akira, S., Chen, Z., Inoue, S., *et al.* (2007). TRIM25 RING-finger E3 ubiquitin ligase is essential for RIG-I-mediated antiviral activity. Nature. *446*, 916-920.

Galloway, S.E., Reed, M.L., Russell, C.J., and Steinhauer, D.A. (2013). Influenza HA subtypes demonstrate divergent phenotypes for cleavage activation and pH of fusion: Implications for host range and adaptation. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003151.

Gannage, M., Dormann, D., Albrecht, R., Dengjel, J., Torossi, T., Ramer, P.C., Lee, M., Strowig, T., Arrey, F., Conenello, G., *et al.* (2009). Matrix protein 2 of influenza A virus blocks autophagosome fusion with lysosomes. Cell. Host Microbe. *6*, 367-380.

Gautier, G., Humbert, M., Deauvieau, F., Scuiller, M., Hiscott, J., Bates, E.E., Trinchieri, G., Caux, C., and Garrone, P. (2005). A type I interferon autocrine-paracrine loop is involved in toll-like receptor-induced interleukin-12p70 secretion by dendritic cells. J Exp Med. *201*, 1435-46.

Geissmann, F., Manz, M.G., Jung, S., Sieweke, M.H., Merad, M., and Ley, K. (2010). Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. Science. *327*, 656-661.

GeurtsvanKessel, C.H., Willart, M.A., van Rijt, L.S., Muskens, F., Kool, M., Baas, C., Thielemans, K., Bennett, C., Clausen, B.E., Hoogsteden, H.C., *et al.* (2008). Clearance of influenza virus from the lung depends on migratory langerin+CD11b- but not plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J. Exp. Med. 205, 1621-1634.

Ginhoux, F., Liu, K., Helft, J., Bogunovic, M., Greter, M., Hashimoto, D., Price, J., Yin, N., Bromberg, J., Lira, S.A., *et al.* (2009). The origin and development of nonlymphoid tissue CD103+ DCs. J. Exp. Med. *206*, 3115-3130.

Gitlin, L., Benoit, L., Song, C., Cella, M., Gilfillan, S., Holtzman, M.J., and Colonna, M. (2010). Melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5 (MDA5) is involved in the innate immune response to paramyxoviridae infection in vivo. PLoS Pathog. *6*, e1000734.

Gomez Perdiguero, E., Klapproth, K., Schulz, C., Busch, K., Azzoni, E., Crozet, L., Garner, H., Trouillet, C., de Bruijn, M.F., Geissmann, F., *et al.* (2015). Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors. Nature. *518*, 547-551.

Goriely, S., Molle, C., Nguyen, M., Albarani, V., Haddou, N.O., Lin, R., De Wit, D., Flamand, V., Willems, F., and Goldman, M. (2006). Interferon regulatory factor 3 is involved in toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)- and TLR3-induced IL-12p35 gene activation. Blood. *107*, 1078-84.

Goriely, S., Neurath, M.F., and Goldman, M. (2008). How microorganisms tip the balance between interleukin-12 family members. Nat Rev Immunol. *8*, 81-6.

Goubau, D., Schlee, M., Deddouche, S., Pruijssers, A.J., Zillinger, T., Goldeck, M., Schuberth, C., Van der Veen, A.G., Fujimura, T., Rehwinkel, J., *et al.* (2014). Antiviral immunity via RIG-I-mediated recognition of RNA bearing 5'-diphosphates. Nature. *514*, 372-375.

Guilliams, M., Ginhoux, F., Jakubzick, C., Naik, S.H., Onai, N., Schraml, B.U., Segura, E., Tussiwand, R., and Yona, S. (2014). Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: A unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *14*, 571-578.

Guilliams, M., and van de Laar, L. (2015). A hitchhiker's guide to myeloid cell subsets: Practical implementation of a novel mononuclear phagocyte classification system. Front. Immunol. *6*, 406.

Guo, Z., Chen, L.M., Zeng, H., Gomez, J.A., Plowden, J., Fujita, T., Katz, J.M., Donis, R.O., and Sambhara, S. (2007). NS1 protein of influenza A virus inhibits the function of intracytoplasmic pathogen sensor, RIG-I. Am. J. Respir. Cell Mol. Biol. *36*, 263-269.

Hacker, H., Redecke, V., Blagoev, B., Kratchmarova, I., Hsu, L.C., Wang, G.G., Kamps, M.P., Raz, E., Wagner, H., Hacker, G., *et al.* (2006). Specificity in toll-like receptor signalling through distinct effector functions of TRAF3 and TRAF6. Nature. *439*, 204-207.

Hale, B.G., Jackson, D., Chen, Y.H., Lamb, R.A., and Randall, R.E. (2006). Influenza A virus NS1 protein binds p85beta and activates phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *103*, 14194-14199.

Hale, B.G., Steel, J., Medina, R.A., Manicassamy, B., Ye, J., Hickman, D., Hai, R., Schmolke, M., Lowen, A.C., Perez, D.R., *et al.* (2010). Inefficient control of host gene expression by the 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza A virus NS1 protein. J. Virol. *84*, 6909-6922.

Haller, O., Staeheli, P., and Kochs, G. (2009). Protective role of interferon-induced mx GTPases against influenza viruses. Rev. Sci. Tech. 28, 219-231.

Hartmann, B.M., Thakar, J., Albrecht, R.A., Avey, S., Zaslavsky, E., Marjanovic, N., Chikina, M., Fribourg, M., Hayot, F., Schmolke, M., *et al.* (2015). Human dendritic cell response signatures distinguish 1918, pandemic, and seasonal H1N1 influenza viruses. J. Virol. *89*, 10190-10205.

Havenar-Daughton, C., Kolumam, G.A., and Murali-Krishna, K. (2006). Cutting edge: The direct action of type I IFN on CD4 T cells is critical for sustaining clonal expansion in response to a viral but not a bacterial infection. J. Immunol. *176*, 3315-3319.

Hayashi, F., Smith, K.D., Ozinsky, A., Hawn, T.R., Yi, E.C., Goodlett, D.R., Eng, J.K., Akira, S., Underhill, D.M., and Aderem, A. (2001). The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by toll-like receptor 5. Nature. *410*, 1099-103.

Hayashi, T., MacDonald, L.A., and Takimoto, T. (2015). Influenza A virus protein PA-X contributes to viral growth and suppression of the host antiviral and immune responses. J. Virol. *89*, 6442-6452.

Heil, F., Ahmad-Nejad, P., Hemmi, H., Hochrein, H., Ampenberger, F., Gellert, T., Dietrich, H., Lipford, G., Takeda, K., Akira, S., *et al.* (2003). The toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7)-specific stimulus loxoribine uncovers a strong relationship within the TLR7, 8 and 9 subfamily. Eur. J. Immunol. *33*, 2987-2997.

Heil, F., Hemmi, H., Hochrein, H., Ampenberger, F., Kirschning, C., Akira, S., Lipford, G., Wagner, H., and Bauer, S. (2004). Species-specific recognition of single-stranded RNA via toll-like receptor 7 and 8. Science. *303*, 1526-9.

Helft, J., Bottcher, J., Chakravarty, P., Zelenay, S., Huotari, J., Schraml, B.U., Goubau, D., and Reis e Sousa, C. (2015). GM-CSF mouse bone marrow cultures comprise a heterogeneous population of CD11c(+)MHCII(+) macrophages and dendritic cells. Immunity. *42*, 1197-1211.

Hemmi, H., Kaisho, T., Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Sanjo, H., Hoshino, K., Horiuchi, T., Tomizawa, H., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2002). Small anti-viral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. Nat Immunol. *3*, 196-200.

Hemmi, H., Takeuchi, O., Kawai, T., Kaisho, T., Sato, S., Sanjo, H., Matsumoto, M., Hoshino, K., Wagner, H., Takeda, K., *et al.* (2000). A toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. Nature. *408*, 740-5.

Hemmi, H., Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Yamamoto, M., Kaisho, T., Sanjo, H., Kawai, T., Hoshino, K., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2004). The roles of two IkappaB kinase-related kinases in lipopolysaccharide and double stranded RNA signaling and viral infection. J. Exp. Med. *199*, 1641-1650.

Herold, S., von Wulffen, W., Steinmueller, M., Pleschka, S., Kuziel, W.A., Mack, M., Srivastava, M., Seeger, W., Maus, U.A., and Lohmeyer, J. (2006). Alveolar epithelial cells direct monocyte transepithelial migration upon influenza virus infection: Impact of chemokines and adhesion molecules. J. Immunol. *177*, 1817-1824.

Hettinger, J., Richards, D.M., Hansson, J., Barra, M.M., Joschko, A.C., Krijgsveld, J., and Feuerer, M. (2013). Origin of monocytes and macrophages in a committed progenitor. Nat. Immunol. *14*, 821-830.

Honda, K., Ohba, Y., Yanai, H., Negishi, H., Mizutani, T., Takaoka, A., Taya, C., and Taniguchi, T. (2005a). Spatiotemporal regulation of MyD88-IRF-7 signalling for robust type-I interferon induction. Nature. *434*, 1035-1040.

Honda, K., Yanai, H., Negishi, H., Asagiri, M., Sato, M., Mizutani, T., Shimada, N., Ohba, Y., Takaoka, A., Yoshida, N., *et al.* (2005b). IRF-7 is the master regulator of type-I interferon-dependent immune responses. Nature. *434*, 772-7.

Hornung, V., Ablasser, A., Charrel-Dennis, M., Bauernfeind, F., Horvath, G., Caffrey, D.R., Latz, E., and Fitzgerald, K.A. (2009). AIM2 recognizes cytosolic dsDNA and forms a caspase-1-activating inflammasome with ASC. Nature. *458*, 514-518.

Hornung, V., Ellegast, J., Kim, S., Brzozka, K., Jung, A., Kato, H., Poeck, H., Akira, S., Conzelmann, K.K., Schlee, M., *et al.* (2006). 5'-triphosphate RNA is the ligand for RIG-I. Science. *314*, 994-7.

Hotz, C., Roetzer, L.C., Huber, T., Sailer, A., Oberson, A., Treinies, M., Heidegger, S., Herbst, T., Endres, S., and Bourquin, C. (2015). TLR and RLR signaling are reprogrammed in opposite directions after detection of viral infection. J. Immunol. *195*, 4387-4395.

Hou, J., Wang, P., Lin, L., Liu, X., Ma, F., An, H., Wang, Z., and Cao, X. (2009). MicroRNA-146a feedback inhibits RIG-I-dependent type I IFN production in macrophages by targeting TRAF6, IRAK1, and IRAK2. J. Immunol. *183*, 2150-2158.

Hrincius, E.R., Dierkes, R., Anhlan, D., Wixler, V., Ludwig, S., and Ehrhardt, C. (2011). Phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K) is activated by influenza virus vRNA via the pathogen pattern receptor rig-I to promote efficient type I interferon production. Cell. Microbiol. *13*, 1907-1919.

Hui, K.P., Lee, S.M., Cheung, C.Y., Mao, H., Lai, A.K., Chan, R.W., Chan, M.C., Tu, W., Guan, Y., Lau, Y.L., *et al.* (2011). H5N1 influenza virus-induced mediators upregulate RIG-I in uninfected cells by paracrine effects contributing to amplified cytokine cascades. J. Infect. Dis. *204*, 1866-1878.

Hui, K.P., Lee, S.M., Cheung, C.Y., Ng, I.H., Poon, L.L., Guan, Y., Ip, N.Y., Lau, A.S., and Peiris, J.S. (2009). Induction of proinflammatory cytokines in primary human macrophages by influenza A virus (H5N1) is selectively regulated by IFN regulatory factor 3 and p38 MAPK. J. Immunol. *182*, 1088-1098.

Hume, D.A., Underhill, D.M., Sweet, M.J., Ozinsky, A.O., Liew, F.Y., and Aderem, A. (2001). Macrophages exposed continuously to lipopolysaccharide and other agonists that act via toll-like receptors exhibit a sustained and additive activation state. BMC Immunol. *2*, 11.

Huotari, J., and Helenius, A. (2011). Endosome maturation. EMBO J. 30, 3481-3500.

Ichinohe, T., Lee, H.K., Ogura, Y., Flavell, R., and Iwasaki, A. (2009). Inflammasome recognition of influenza virus is essential for adaptive immune responses. J. Exp. Med. *206*, 79-87.

Ichinohe, T., Pang, I.K., and Iwasaki, A. (2010). Influenza virus activates inflammasomes via its intracellular M2 ion channel. Nat. Immunol. *11*, 404-410.

Ikushima, H., Negishi, H., and Taniguchi, T. (2013). The IRF family transcription factors at the interface of innate and adaptive immune responses. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. *78*, 105-116.

Inaba, K., Inaba, M., Romani, N., Aya, H., Deguchi, M., Ikehara, S., Muramatsu, S., and Steinman, R.M. (1992). Generation of large numbers of dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow cultures supplemented with granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. J. Exp. Med. *176*, 1693-1702.

Isaacs, A., and Lindenmann, J. (1957). Virus interference. I. the interferon. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 147, 258-267.

Ishikawa, H., and Barber, G.N. (2008). STING is an endoplasmic reticulum adaptor that facilitates innate immune signalling. Nature. *455*, 674-678.

Ishikawa, H., Ma, Z., and Barber, G.N. (2009). STING regulates intracellular DNA-mediated, type I interferon-dependent innate immunity. Nature. *461*, 788-792.

Italiani, P., and Boraschi, D. (2014). From monocytes to M1/M2 macrophages: Phenotypical vs. functional differentiation. Front. Immunol. *5*, 514.

Ito, T., Amakawa, R., Inaba, M., Ikehara, S., Inaba, K., and Fukuhara, S. (2001). Differential regulation of human blood dendritic cell subsets by IFNs. J. Immunol. *166*, 2961-2969.

Iversen, M.B., and Paludan, S.R. (2010). Mechanisms of type III interferon expression. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. *30*, 573-578.

Iwasaki, A., and Pillai, P.S. (2014). Innate immunity to influenza virus infection. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *14*, 315-328.

Jackson, D., Killip, M.J., Galloway, C.S., Russell, R.J., and Randall, R.E. (2010). Loss of function of the influenza A virus NS1 protein promotes apoptosis but this is not due to a failure to activate phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K). Virology. *396*, 94-105.

Jagger, B.W., Wise, H.M., Kash, J.C., Walters, K.A., Wills, N.M., Xiao, Y.L., Dunfee, R.L., Schwartzman, L.M., Ozinsky, A., Bell, G.L., *et al.* (2012). An overlapping protein-coding region in influenza A virus segment 3 modulates the host response. Science. *337*, 199-204.

Janeway, C.A., Jr. (1989). Approaching the asymptote? evolution and revolution in immunology. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. *54 Pt 1*, 1-13.

Jiang, M., Osterlund, P., Fagerlund, R., Rios, D.N., Hoffmann, A., Poranen, M.M., Bamford, D.H., and Julkunen, I. (2015). MAP kinase p38alpha regulates type III interferon (IFN-lambda1) gene expression in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells in response to RNA stimulation. J. Leukoc. Biol. *97*, 307-320.

Jiang, X., Kinch, L.N., Brautigam, C.A., Chen, X., Du, F., Grishin, N.V., and Chen, Z.J. (2012). Ubiquitin-induced oligomerization of the RNA sensors RIG-I and MDA5 activates antiviral innate immune response. Immunity. *36*, 959-973.

Jorba, N., Coloma, R., and Ortin, J. (2009). Genetic trans-complementation establishes a new model for influenza virus RNA transcription and replication. PLoS Pathog. *5*, e1000462.

Julkunen, I., Hautanen, A., and Keski-Oja, J. (1983). Interaction of viral envelope glycoproteins with fibronectin. Infect. Immun. 40, 876-881.

Julkunen, I., Sareneva, T., Pirhonen, J., Ronni, T., Melen, K., and Matikainen, S. (2001). Molecular pathogenesis of influenza A virus infection and virus-induced regulation of cytokine gene expression. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. *12*, 171-180.

Jurk, M., Heil, F., Vollmer, J., Schetter, C., Krieg, A.M., Wagner, H., Lipford, G., and Bauer, S. (2002). Human TLR7 or TLR8 independently confer responsiveness to the antiviral compound R-848. Nat Immunol. *3*, 499.

Kang, J.Y., Nan, X., Jin, M.S., Youn, S.J., Ryu, Y.H., Mah, S., Han, S.H., Lee, H., Paik, S.G., and Lee, J.O. (2009). Recognition of lipopeptide patterns by toll-like receptor 2-toll-like receptor 6 heterodimer. Immunity. *31*, 873-884.

Kato, H., Takeuchi, O., Mikamo-Satoh, E., Hirai, R., Kawai, T., Matsushita, K., Hiiragi, A., Dermody, T.S., Fujita, T., and Akira, S. (2008). Length-dependent recognition of double-stranded ribonucleic acids by retinoic acid-inducible gene-I and melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5. J Exp Med. *205*, 1601-10.

Kato, H., Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Yoneyama, M., Yamamoto, M., Matsui, K., Uematsu, S., Jung, A., Kawai, T., Ishii, K.J., *et al.* (2006). Differential roles of MDA5 and RIG-I helicases in the recognition of RNA viruses. Nature. *441*, 101-105.

Kawagoe, T., Sato, S., Matsushita, K., Kato, H., Matsui, K., Kumagai, Y., Saitoh, T., Kawai, T., Takeuchi, O., and Akira, S. (2008). Sequential control of toll-like receptor-dependent responses by IRAK1 and IRAK2. Nat. Immunol. *9*, 684-691.

Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2010). The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: Update on toll-like receptors. Nat. Immunol. *11*, 373-384.

Kawai, T., Takahashi, K., Sato, S., Coban, C., Kumar, H., Kato, H., Ishii, K.J., Takeuchi, O., and Akira, S. (2005). IPS-1, an adaptor triggering RIG-I- and Mda5-mediated type I interferon induction. Nat. Immunol. *6*, 981-988.

Keitel, W.A., Cate, T.R., Couch, R.B., Huggins, L.L., and Hess, K.R. (1997). Efficacy of repeated annual immunization with inactivated influenza virus vaccines over a five year period. Vaccine. *15*, 1114-1122.

Kell, A.M., and Gale, M., Jr. (2015). RIG-I in RNA virus recognition. Virology. 479-480, 110-121.

Kerkmann, M., Rothenfusser, S., Hornung, V., Towarowski, A., Wagner, M., Sarris, A., Giese, T., Endres, S., and Hartmann, G. (2003). Activation with CpG-A and CpG-B oligonucleotides reveals two distinct regulatory pathways of type I IFN synthesis in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J. Immunol. *170*, 4465-4474.

Killip, M.J., Smith, M., Jackson, D., and Randall, R.E. (2014). Activation of the interferon induction cascade by influenza a viruses requires viral RNA synthesis and nuclear export. J. Virol. *88*, 3942-3952.

Kim, T.S., and Braciale, T.J. (2009). Respiratory dendritic cell subsets differ in their capacity to support the induction of virus-specific cytotoxic CD8+ T cell responses. PLoS One. *4*, e4204.

Kim, W.K., Jain, D., Sanchez, M.D., Koziol-White, C.J., Matthews, K., Ge, M.Q., Haczku, A., Panettieri, R.A., Jr, Frieman, M.B., and Lopez, C.B. (2014). Deficiency of melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5 results in exacerbated chronic postviral lung inflammation. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. *189*, 437-448.

Koblansky, A.A., Jankovic, D., Oh, H., Hieny, S., Sungnak, W., Mathur, R., Hayden, M.S., Akira, S., Sher, A., and Ghosh, S. (2013). Recognition of profilin by toll-like receptor 12 is critical for host resistance to toxoplasma gondii. Immunity. *38*, 119-130.

Kochs, G., Garcia-Sastre, A., and Martinez-Sobrido, L. (2007). Multiple anti-interferon actions of the influenza A virus NS1 protein. J. Virol. *81*, 7011-7021.

Kolumam, G.A., Thomas, S., Thompson, L.J., Sprent, J., and Murali-Krishna, K. (2005). Type I interferons act directly on CD8 T cells to allow clonal expansion and memory formation in response to viral infection. J. Exp. Med. *202*, 637-650.

Komuro, A., and Horvath, C.M. (2006). RNA- and virus-independent inhibition of antiviral signaling by RNA helicase LGP2. J. Virol. *80*, 12332-12342.

Konig, R., Stertz, S., Zhou, Y., Inoue, A., Hoffmann, H.H., Bhattacharyya, S., Alamares, J.G., Tscherne, D.M., Ortigoza, M.B., Liang, Y., *et al.* (2010). Human host factors required for influenza virus replication. Nature. *463*, 813-817.

Koonin, E.V., and Dolja, V.V. (2013). A virocentric perspective on the evolution of life. Curr. Opin. Virol. *3*, 546-557.

Kotenko, S.V., Gallagher, G., Baurin, V.V., Lewis-Antes, A., Shen, M., Shah, N.K., Langer, J.A., Sheikh, F., Dickensheets, H., and Donnelly, R.P. (2003). IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. Nat Immunol. *4*, 69-77.

Kowalinski, E., Lunardi, T., McCarthy, A.A., Louber, J., Brunel, J., Grigorov, B., Gerlier, D., and Cusack, S. (2011). Structural basis for the activation of innate immune pattern-recognition receptor RIG-I by viral RNA. Cell. *147*, 423-435.

Kreutz, M., Bakdash, G., Dolen, Y., Skold, A.E., van Hout-Kuijer, M.A., de Vries, I.J., and Figdor, C.G. (2015). Type I IFN-mediated synergistic activation of mouse and human DC subsets by TLR agonists. Eur. J. Immunol. *45*, 2798-2809.

Krishna, V.D., Roach, E., Zaidman, N.A., Panoskaltsis-Mortari, A., Rotschafer, J.H., O'Grady, S.M., and Cheeran, M.C. (2015). Differential induction of type I and type III interferons by swine and human origin H1N1 influenza A viruses in porcine airway epithelial cells. PLoS One. *10*, e0138704.

Krug, R.M. (2015). Functions of the influenza A virus NS1 protein in antiviral defense. Curr. Opin. Virol. *12*, 1-6.

Krummen, M., Balkow, S., Shen, L., Heinz, S., Loquai, C., Probst, H.C., and Grabbe, S. (2010). Release of IL-12 by dendritic cells activated by TLR ligation is dependent on MyD88 signaling, whereas TRIF signaling is indispensable for TLR synergy. J. Leukoc. Biol. *88*, 189-199.

Kuo, R.L., Zhao, C., Malur, M., and Krug, R.M. (2010). Influenza A virus strains that circulate in humans differ in the ability of their NS1 proteins to block the activation of IRF3 and interferonbeta transcription. Virology. *408*, 146-158.

Kurt-Jones, E.A., Popova, L., Kwinn, L., Haynes, L.M., Jones, L.P., Tripp, R.A., Walsh, E.E., Freeman, M.W., Golenbock, D.T., Anderson, L.J., *et al.* (2000). Pattern recognition receptors TLR4 and CD14 mediate response to respiratory syncytial virus. Nat Immunol. *1*, 398-401.

Kurt-Jones, E.A., Sandor, F., Ortiz, Y., Bowen, G.N., Counter, S.L., Wang, T.C., and Finberg, R.W. (2004). Use of murine embryonic fibroblasts to define toll-like receptor activation and specificity. J. Endotoxin Res. *10*, 419-424.

Lad, S.P., Yang, G., Scott, D.A., Chao, T.H., Correia Jda, S., de la Torre, J.C., and Li, E. (2008). Identification of MAVS splicing variants that interfere with RIGI/MAVS pathway signaling. Mol. Immunol. *45*, 2277-2287.

Lakadamyali, M., Rust, M.J., Babcock, H.P., and Zhuang, X. (2003). Visualizing infection of individual influenza viruses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *100*, 9280-9285.

Lakadamyali, M., Rust, M.J., and Zhuang, X. (2004). Endocytosis of influenza viruses. Microbes Infect. *6*, 929-936.

Lamb, R.A., and Lai, C.J. (1981). Conservation of the influenza virus membrane protein (M1) amino acid sequence and an open reading frame of RNA segment 7 encoding a second protein (M2) in H1N1 and H3N2 strains. Virology. *112*, 746-751.

Lazear, H.M., Lancaster, A., Wilkins, C., Suthar, M.S., Huang, A., Vick, S.C., Clepper, L., Thackray, L., Brassil, M.M., Virgin, H.W., *et al.* (2013). IRF-3, IRF-5, and IRF-7 coordinately regulate the type I IFN response in myeloid dendritic cells downstream of MAVS signaling. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003118.

Le Bon, A., Durand, V., Kamphuis, E., Thompson, C., Bulfone-Paus, S., Rossmann, C., Kalinke, U., and Tough, D.F. (2006). Direct stimulation of T cells by type I IFN enhances the CD8+ T cell response during cross-priming. J. Immunol. *176*, 4682-4689.

Le Bon, A., Etchart, N., Rossmann, C., Ashton, M., Hou, S., Gewert, D., Borrow, P., and Tough, D.F. (2003). Cross-priming of CD8+ T cells stimulated by virus-induced type I interferon. Nat. Immunol. *4*, 1009-1015.

Le Goffic, R., Balloy, V., Lagranderie, M., Alexopoulou, L., Escriou, N., Flavell, R., Chignard, M., and Si-Tahar, M. (2006). Detrimental contribution of the toll-like receptor (TLR)3 to influenza A virus-induced acute pneumonia. PLoS Pathog. *2*, e53.

Lee, B.L., and Barton, G.M. (2014). Trafficking of endosomal toll-like receptors. Trends Cell Biol. 24, 360-369.

Lee, S.M., Chan, R.W., Gardy, J.L., Lo, C.K., Sihoe, A.D., Kang, S.S., Cheung, T.K., Guan, Y.I., Chan, M.C., Hancock, R.E., *et al.* (2010). Systems-level comparison of host responses induced by pandemic and seasonal influenza A H1N1 viruses in primary human type I-like alveolar epithelial cells in vitro. Respir. Res. *11*, 147-9921-11-147.

Lee, S.M., Kok, K.H., Jaume, M., Cheung, T.K., Yip, T.F., Lai, J.C., Guan, Y., Webster, R.G., Jin, D.Y., and Peiris, J.S. (2014). Toll-like receptor 10 is involved in induction of innate immune responses to influenza virus infection. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *111*, 3793-3798.

Lehtonen, A., Ahlfors, H., Veckman, V., Miettinen, M., Lahesmaa, R., and Julkunen, I. (2007). Gene expression profiling during differentiation of human monocytes to macrophages or dendritic cells. J Leukoc Biol. *82*, 710-20.

Lemaitre, B., Nicolas, E., Michaut, L., Reichhart, J.M., and Hoffmann, J.A. (1996). The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spatzle/toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in drosophila adults. Cell. *86*, 973-983.

Leung, Y.H., Nicholls, J.M., Ho, C.K., Sia, S.F., Mok, C.K., Valkenburg, S.A., Cheung, P., Hui, K.P., Chan, R.W., Guan, Y., *et al.* (2014). Highly pathogenic avian influenza A H5N1 and pandemic H1N1 virus infections have different phenotypes in toll-like receptor 3 knockout mice. J. Gen. Virol. *95*, 1870-1879.

Li, F., Chen, Y., Zhang, Z., Ouyang, J., Wang, Y., Yan, R., Huang, S., Gao, G.F., Guo, G., and Chen, J.L. (2015). Robust expression of vault RNAs induced by influenza A virus plays a critical role in suppression of PKR-mediated innate immunity. Nucleic Acids Res.

Li, S., Min, J.Y., Krug, R.M., and Sen, G.C. (2006). Binding of the influenza A virus NS1 protein to PKR mediates the inhibition of its activation by either PACT or double-stranded RNA. Virology. *349*, 13-21.

Li, X.D., and Chen, Z.J. (2012). Sequence specific detection of bacterial 23S ribosomal RNA by TLR13. Elife. *1*, e00102.

Li, X.D., Wu, J., Gao, D., Wang, H., Sun, L., and Chen, Z.J. (2013). Pivotal roles of cGAS-cGAMP signaling in antiviral defense and immune adjuvant effects. Science. *341*, 1390-1394.

Liedmann, S., Hrincius, E.R., Guy, C., Anhlan, D., Dierkes, R., Carter, R., Wu, G., Staeheli, P., Green, D.R., Wolff, T., *et al.* (2014). Viral suppressors of the RIG-I-mediated interferon response are pre-packaged in influenza virions. Nat. Commun. *5*, 5645.

Lin, R., Heylbroeck, C., Pitha, P.M., and Hiscott, J. (1998). Virus-dependent phosphorylation of the IRF-3 transcription factor regulates nuclear translocation, transactivation potential, and proteasome-mediated degradation. Mol. Cell. Biol. *18*, 2986-2996.

Lin, S.C., Lo, Y.C., and Wu, H. (2010). Helical assembly in the MyD88-IRAK4-IRAK2 complex in TLR/IL-1R signalling. Nature. *465*, 885-890.

Liniger, M., Summerfield, A., Zimmer, G., McCullough, K.C., and Ruggli, N. (2012). Chicken cells sense influenza A virus infection through MDA5 and CARDIF signaling involving LGP2. J. Virol. *86*, 705-717.

Liu, G., Park, H.S., Pyo, H.M., Liu, Q., and Zhou, Y. (2015a). Influenza A virus panhandle structure is directly involved in RIG-I activation and IFN induction. J. Virol.

Liu, J., Cao, S., Herman, L.M., and Ma, X. (2003). Differential regulation of interleukin (IL)-12 p35 and p40 gene expression and interferon (IFN)-gamma-primed IL-12 production by IFN regulatory factor 1. J Exp Med. *198*, 1265-76.

Liu, J., Guan, X., Tamura, T., Ozato, K., and Ma, X. (2004). Synergistic activation of interleukin-12 p35 gene transcription by interferon regulatory factor-1 and interferon consensus sequencebinding protein. J Biol Chem. *279*, 55609-17. Liu, K., Victora, G.D., Schwickert, T.A., Guermonprez, P., Meredith, M.M., Yao, K., Chu, F.F., Randolph, G.J., Rudensky, A.Y., and Nussenzweig, M. (2009). In vivo analysis of dendritic cell development and homeostasis. Science. *324*, 392-397.

Liu, L., Botos, I., Wang, Y., Leonard, J.N., Shiloach, J., Segal, D.M., and Davies, D.R. (2008). Structural basis of toll-like receptor 3 signaling with double-stranded RNA. Science. *320*, 379-381.

Liu, Q., Zhu, Y., Yong, W.K., Sze, N.S., Tan, N.S., and Ding, J.L. (2015b). Cutting edge: Synchronization of IRF1, JunB, and C/EBPbeta activities during TLR3-TLR7 cross-talk orchestrates timely cytokine synergy in the proinflammatory response. J. Immunol. *195*, 801-805.

Llewelyn, M.B., Hawkins, R.E., and Russell, S.J. (1992). Discovery of antibodies. BMJ. 305, 1269-1272.

Londrigan, S.L., Turville, S.G., Tate, M.D., Deng, Y.M., Brooks, A.G., and Reading, P.C. (2011). N-linked glycosylation facilitates sialic acid-independent attachment and entry of influenza A viruses into cells expressing DC-SIGN or L-SIGN. J. Virol. *85*, 2990-3000.

Loo, Y.M., Fornek, J., Crochet, N., Bajwa, G., Perwitasari, O., Martinez-Sobrido, L., Akira, S., Gill, M.A., Garcia-Sastre, A., Katze, M.G., *et al.* (2008). Distinct RIG-I and MDA5 signaling by RNA viruses in innate immunity. J. Virol. *82*, 335-345.

Ludwig, S. (2009). Targeting cell signalling pathways to fight the flu: Towards a paradigm change in anti-influenza therapy. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. *64*, 1-4.

Ludwig, S., Wang, X., Ehrhardt, C., Zheng, H., Donelan, N., Planz, O., Pleschka, S., Garcia-Sastre, A., Heins, G., and Wolff, T. (2002). The influenza A virus NS1 protein inhibits activation of jun N-terminal kinase and AP-1 transcription factors. J. Virol. *76*, 11166-11171.

Lund, J.M., Alexopoulou, L., Sato, A., Karow, M., Adams, N.C., Gale, N.W., Iwasaki, A., and Flavell, R.A. (2004). Recognition of single-stranded RNA viruses by toll-like receptor 7. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *101*, 5598-5603.

Lupfer, C., Thomas, P.G., and Kanneganti, T.D. (2014). Nucleotide oligomerization and binding domain 2-dependent dendritic cell activation is necessary for innate immunity and optimal CD8+ T cell responses to influenza A virus infection. J. Virol. *88*, 8946-8955.

Lutz, M.B., Kukutsch, N., Ogilvie, A.L., Rossner, S., Koch, F., Romani, N., and Schuler, G. (1999). An advanced culture method for generating large quantities of highly pure dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow. J. Immunol. Methods. *223*, 77-92.

Ma, Y.J., Yang, J., Fan, X.L., Zhao, H.B., Hu, W., Li, Z.P., Yu, G.C., Ding, X.R., Wang, J.Z., Bo, X.C., *et al.* (2012). Cellular microRNA let-7c inhibits M1 protein expression of the H1N1 influenza A virus in infected human lung epithelial cells. J. Cell. Mol. Med. *16*, 2539-2546.

Macatonia, S.E., Hosken, N.A., Litton, M., Vieira, P., Hsieh, C.S., Culpepper, J.A., Wysocka, M., Trinchieri, G., Murphy, K.M., and O'Garra, A. (1995). Dendritic cells produce IL-12 and direct the development of Th1 cells from naive CD4+ T cells. J. Immunol. *154*, 5071-5079.

Maisonneuve, C., Bertholet, S., Philpott, D.J., and De Gregorio, E. (2014). Unleashing the potential of NOD- and toll-like agonists as vaccine adjuvants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *111*, 12294-12299.

Mancino, A., Termanini, A., Barozzi, I., Ghisletti, S., Ostuni, R., Prosperini, E., Ozato, K., and Natoli, G. (2015). A dual cis-regulatory code links IRF8 to constitutive and inducible gene expression in macrophages. Genes Dev. *29*, 394-408.

Mancuso, G., Gambuzza, M., Midiri, A., Biondo, C., Papasergi, S., Akira, S., Teti, G., and Beninati, C. (2009). Bacterial recognition by TLR7 in the lysosomes of conventional dendritic cells. Nat Immunol. *10*, 587-94.

Manetti, R., Parronchi, P., Giudizi, M.G., Piccinni, M.P., Maggi, E., Trinchieri, G., and Romagnani, S. (1993). Natural killer cell stimulatory factor (interleukin 12 [IL-12]) induces T helper type 1 (Th1)-specific immune responses and inhibits the development of IL-4-producing th cells. J Exp Med. *177*, 1199-204.

Manz, B., Dornfeld, D., Gotz, V., Zell, R., Zimmermann, P., Haller, O., Kochs, G., and Schwemmle, M. (2013). Pandemic influenza A viruses escape from restriction by human MxA through adaptive mutations in the nucleoprotein. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003279.

Marie, I., Smith, E., Prakash, A., and Levy, D.E. (2000). Phosphorylation-induced dimerization of interferon regulatory factor 7 unmasks DNA binding and a bipartite transactivation domain. Mol. Cell. Biol. *20*, 8803-8814.

Marjuki, H., Alam, M.I., Ehrhardt, C., Wagner, R., Planz, O., Klenk, H.D., Ludwig, S., and Pleschka, S. (2006). Membrane accumulation of influenza A virus hemagglutinin triggers nuclear export of the viral genome via protein kinase calpha-mediated activation of ERK signaling. J. Biol. Chem. *281*, 16707-16715.

Mark, G.E., Taylor, J.M., Broni, B., and Krug, R.M. (1979). Nuclear accumulation of influenza viral RNA transcripts and the effects of cycloheximide, actinomycin D, and alpha-amanitin. J. Virol. *29*, 744-752.

Marshall, H.D., Prince, A.L., Berg, L.J., and Welsh, R.M. (2010). IFN-alpha beta and self-MHC divert CD8 T cells into a distinct differentiation pathway characterized by rapid acquisition of effector functions. J. Immunol. *185*, 1419-1428.

Martin, K., and Helenius, A. (1991). Transport of incoming influenza virus nucleocapsids into the nucleus. J. Virol. *65*, 232-244.

Martinon, F., Burns, K., and Tschopp, J. (2002). The inflammasome: A molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-beta. Mol. Cell. *10*, 417-426.

Maruyama, S., Sumita, K., Shen, H., Kanoh, M., Xu, X., Sato, M., Matsumoto, M., Shinomiya, H., and Asano, Y. (2003). Identification of IFN regulatory factor-1 binding site in IL-12 p40 gene promoter. J. Immunol. *170*, 997-1001.

Masumi, A., Tamaoki, S., Wang, I.M., Ozato, K., and Komuro, K. (2002). IRF-8/ICSBP and IRF-1 cooperatively stimulate mouse IL-12 promoter activity in macrophages. FEBS Lett. *531*, 348-353.

Matikainen, S., Pirhonen, J., Miettinen, M., Lehtonen, A., Govenius-Vintola, C., Sareneva, T., and Julkunen, I. (2000). Influenza A and sendai viruses induce differential chemokine gene expression and transcription factor activation in human macrophages. Virology. *276*, 138-147.

Matikainen, S., Ronni, T., Hurme, M., Pine, R., and Julkunen, I. (1996). Retinoic acid activates interferon regulatory factor-1 gene expression in myeloid cells. Blood. *88*, 114-23.

Matlin, K.S., Reggio, H., Helenius, A., and Simons, K. (1981). Infectious entry pathway of influenza virus in a canine kidney cell line. J. Cell Biol. *91*, 601-613.

McAuley, J.L., Chipuk, J.E., Boyd, K.L., Van De Velde, N., Green, D.R., and McCullers, J.A. (2010). PB1-F2 proteins from H5N1 and 20 century pandemic influenza viruses cause immunopathology. PLoS Pathog. *6*, e1001014.

McAuley, J.L., Tate, M.D., MacKenzie-Kludas, C.J., Pinar, A., Zeng, W., Stutz, A., Latz, E., Brown, L.E., and Mansell, A. (2013). Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by IAV virulence protein PB1-F2 contributes to severe pathophysiology and disease. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003392.

McGill, J., Van Rooijen, N., and Legge, K.L. (2008). Protective influenza-specific CD8 T cell responses require interactions with dendritic cells in the lungs. J. Exp. Med. 205, 1635-1646.

McGovern, N., Schlitzer, A., Gunawan, M., Jardine, L., Shin, A., Poyner, E., Green, K., Dickinson, R., Wang, X.N., Low, D., *et al.* (2014). Human dermal CD14(+) cells are a transient population of monocyte-derived macrophages. Immunity. *41*, 465-477.

McNab, F., Mayer-Barber, K., Sher, A., Wack, A., and O'Garra, A. (2015). Type I interferons in infectious disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 15, 87-103.

McWhirter, S.M., Fitzgerald, K.A., Rosains, J., Rowe, D.C., Golenbock, D.T., and Maniatis, T. (2004). IFN-regulatory factor 3-dependent gene expression is defective in Tbk1-deficient mouse embryonic fibroblasts. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *101*, 233-238.

Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P., and Janeway, C.A., Jr. (1997). A human homologue of the drosophila toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. Nature. *388*, 394-397.

Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P., Kopp, E., Stadlen, A., Chen, C., Ghosh, S., and Janeway, C.A., Jr. (1998). MyD88 is an adaptor protein in the hToll/IL-1 receptor family signaling pathways. Mol. Cell. *2*, 253-258.

Melen, K., Fagerlund, R., Franke, J., Kohler, M., Kinnunen, L., and Julkunen, I. (2003). Importin alpha nuclear localization signal binding sites for STAT1, STAT2, and influenza A virus nucleoprotein. J. Biol. Chem. *278*, 28193-28200.

Meylan, E., Curran, J., Hofmann, K., Moradpour, D., Binder, M., Bartenschlager, R., and Tschopp, J. (2005). Cardif is an adaptor protein in the RIG-I antiviral pathway and is targeted by hepatitis C virus. Nature. *437*, 1167-1172.

Mibayashi, M., Martinez-Sobrido, L., Loo, Y.M., Cardenas, W.B., Gale, M., Jr, and Garcia-Sastre, A. (2007). Inhibition of retinoic acid-inducible gene I-mediated induction of beta interferon by the NS1 protein of influenza A virus. J. Virol. *81*, 514-524.

Miettinen, M., Sareneva, T., Julkunen, I., and Matikainen, S. (2001). IFNs activate toll-like receptor gene expression in viral infections. Genes Immun. *2*, 349-55.

Mildner, A., and Jung, S. (2014). Development and function of dendritic cell subsets. Immunity. *40*, 642-656.

Mildner, A., Yona, S., and Jung, S. (2013). A close encounter of the third kind: Monocyte-derived cells. Adv. Immunol. *120*, 69-103.

Mills, T.C., Rautanen, A., Elliott, K.S., Parks, T., Naranbhai, V., Ieven, M.M., Butler, C.C., Little, P., Verheij, T., Garrard, C.S., *et al.* (2014). IFITM3 and susceptibility to respiratory viral infections in the community. J. Infect. Dis. *209*, 1028-1031.

Min, J.Y., and Krug, R.M. (2006). The primary function of RNA binding by the influenza A virus NS1 protein in infected cells: Inhibiting the 2'-5' oligo (A) synthetase/RNase L pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *103*, 7100-7105.

Min, J.Y., Li, S., Sen, G.C., and Krug, R.M. (2007). A site on the influenza A virus NS1 protein mediates both inhibition of PKR activation and temporal regulation of viral RNA synthesis. Virology. *363*, 236-243.

Mitchell, D., Yong, M., Schroder, W., Black, M., Tirrell, M., and Olive, C. (2010). Dual stimulation of MyD88-dependent toll-like receptors induces synergistically enhanced production of inflammatory cytokines in murine bone marrow-derived dendritic cells. J. Infect. Dis. *202*, 318-329.

Mogensen, K.E., Pyhala, L., and Cantell, K. (1975). Raising antibodies to human leukocyte interferon. Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand B. *83*, 443-50.

Momose, F., Kikuchi, Y., Komase, K., and Morikawa, Y. (2007). Visualization of microtubulemediated transport of influenza viral progeny ribonucleoprotein. Microbes Infect. *9*, 1422-1433.

Momose, F., Sekimoto, T., Ohkura, T., Jo, S., Kawaguchi, A., Nagata, K., and Morikawa, Y. (2011). Apical transport of influenza A virus ribonucleoprotein requires Rab11-positive recycling endosome. PLoS One. *6*, e21123.

Montoya, M., Schiavoni, G., Mattei, F., Gresser, I., Belardelli, F., Borrow, P., and Tough, D.F. (2002). Type I interferons produced by dendritic cells promote their phenotypic and functional activation. Blood. *99*, 3263-3271.

Motshwene, P.G., Moncrieffe, M.C., Grossmann, J.G., Kao, C., Ayaluru, M., Sandercock, A.M., Robinson, C.V., Latz, E., and Gay, N.J. (2009). An oligomeric signaling platform formed by the toll-like receptor signal transducers MyD88 and IRAK-4. J. Biol. Chem. *284*, 25404-25411.

Muhlbauer, D., Dzieciolowski, J., Hardt, M., Hocke, A., Schierhorn, K.L., Mostafa, A., Muller, C., Wisskirchen, C., Herold, S., Wolff, T., *et al.* (2015). Influenza virus-induced caspase-dependent

enlargement of nuclear pores promotes nuclear export of viral ribonucleoprotein complexes. J. Virol. *89*, 6009-6021.

Mukherjee, S., Vipat, V.C., Mishra, A.C., Pawar, S.D., and Chakrabarti, A.K. (2011). Pandemic (H1N1) 2009 influenza virus induces weaker host immune responses in vitro: A possible mechanism of high transmissibility. Virol. J. *8*, 140-422X-8-140.

Muramoto, Y., Noda, T., Kawakami, E., Akkina, R., and Kawaoka, Y. (2013). Identification of novel influenza A virus proteins translated from PA mRNA. J. Virol. *87*, 2455-2462.

Naik, S.H., Sathe, P., Park, H.Y., Metcalf, D., Proietto, A.I., Dakic, A., Carotta, S., O'Keeffe, M., Bahlo, M., Papenfuss, A., *et al.* (2007). Development of plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell subtypes from single precursor cells derived in vitro and in vivo. Nat. Immunol. *8*, 1217-1226.

Nakano, H., Yanagita, M., and Gunn, M.D. (2001). CD11c(+)B220(+)gr-1(+) cells in mouse lymph nodes and spleen display characteristics of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J. Exp. Med. *194*, 1171-1178.

Napolitani, G., Rinaldi, A., Bertoni, F., Sallusto, F., and Lanzavecchia, A. (2005). Selected tolllike receptor agonist combinations synergistically trigger a T helper type 1-polarizing program in dendritic cells. Nat Immunol. *6*, 769-76.

Narayanan, K.B., and Park, H.H. (2015). Toll/interleukin-1 receptor (TIR) domain-mediated cellular signaling pathways. Apoptosis. 20, 196-209.

Negishi, H., Ohba, Y., Yanai, H., Takaoka, A., Honma, K., Yui, K., Matsuyama, T., Taniguchi, T., and Honda, K. (2005). Negative regulation of toll-like-receptor signaling by IRF-4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. *102*, 15989-94.

Nemeroff, M.E., Barabino, S.M., Li, Y., Keller, W., and Krug, R.M. (1998). Influenza virus NS1 protein interacts with the cellular 30 kDa subunit of CPSF and inhibits 3'end formation of cellular pre-mRNAs. Mol. Cell. *1*, 991-1000.

Neri, L.M., Borgatti, P., Capitani, S., and Martelli, A.M. (2002). The nuclear phosphoinositide 3-kinase/AKT pathway: A new second messenger system. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. *1584*, 73-80.

Neumann, G., and Kawaoka, Y. (2015). Transmission of influenza A viruses. Virology. 479-480, 234-246.

Neuzil, K.M., Zhu, Y., Griffin, M.R., Edwards, K.M., Thompson, J.M., Tollefson, S.J., and Wright, P.F. (2002). Burden of interpandemic influenza in children younger than 5 years: A 25-year prospective study. J. Infect. Dis. *185*, 147-152.

Nimmerjahn, F., Dudziak, D., Dirmeier, U., Hobom, G., Riedel, A., Schlee, M., Staudt, L.M., Rosenwald, A., Behrends, U., Bornkamm, G.W., *et al.* (2004). Active NF-kappaB signalling is a prerequisite for influenza virus infection. J. Gen. Virol. *85*, 2347-2356.

Noda, T., and Kawaoka, Y. (2010). Structure of influenza virus ribonucleoprotein complexes and their packaging into virions. Rev. Med. Virol. *20*, 380-391.

Novick, D., Cohen, B., and Rubinstein, M. (1994). The human interferon alpha/beta receptor: Characterization and molecular cloning. Cell. 77, 391-400.

Oldenburg, M., Kruger, A., Ferstl, R., Kaufmann, A., Nees, G., Sigmund, A., Bathke, B., Lauterbach, H., Suter, M., Dreher, S., *et al.* (2012). TLR13 recognizes bacterial 23S rRNA devoid of erythromycin resistance-forming modification. Science. *337*, 1111-1115.

Onai, N., Obata-Onai, A., Schmid, M.A., Ohteki, T., Jarrossay, D., and Manz, M.G. (2007). Identification of clonogenic common Flt3+M-CSFR+ plasmacytoid and conventional dendritic cell progenitors in mouse bone marrow. Nat. Immunol. *8*, 1207-1216.

O'Neill, L.A., Fitzgerald, K.A., and Bowie, A.G. (2003). The toll-IL-1 receptor adaptor family grows to five members. Trends Immunol. 24, 286-290.

O'Neill, L.A., Golenbock, D., and Bowie, A.G. (2013). The history of toll-like receptors - redefining innate immunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. *13*, 453-460.

O'Neill, R.E., Jaskunas, R., Blobel, G., Palese, P., and Moroianu, J. (1995). Nuclear import of influenza virus RNA can be mediated by viral nucleoprotein and transport factors required for protein import. J. Biol. Chem. *270*, 22701-22704.

Opitz, B., Rejaibi, A., Dauber, B., Eckhard, J., Vinzing, M., Schmeck, B., Hippenstiel, S., Suttorp, N., and Wolff, T. (2007). IFNbeta induction by influenza A virus is mediated by RIG-I which is regulated by the viral NS1 protein. Cell. Microbiol. *9*, 930-938.

Oshiumi, H., Matsumoto, M., Funami, K., Akazawa, T., and Seya, T. (2003). TICAM-1, an adaptor molecule that participates in toll-like receptor 3-mediated interferon-beta induction. Nat. Immunol. *4*, 161-167.

Oshiumi, H., Miyashita, M., Matsumoto, M., and Seya, T. (2013). A distinct role of ripletmediated K63-linked polyubiquitination of the RIG-I repressor domain in human antiviral innate immune responses. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003533.

Osterlund, P., Strengell, M., Sarin, L.P., Poranen, M.M., Fagerlund, R., Melen, K., and Julkunen, I. (2012). Incoming influenza A virus evades early host recognition, while influenza B virus induces interferon expression directly upon entry. J. Virol. *86*, 11183-11193.

Osterlund, P., Veckman, V., Siren, J., Klucher, K.M., Hiscott, J., Matikainen, S., and Julkunen, I. (2005). Gene expression and antiviral activity of alpha/beta interferons and interleukin-29 in virus-infected human myeloid dendritic cells. J Virol. *79*, 9608-17.

Osterlund, P.I., Pietila, T.E., Veckman, V., Kotenko, S.V., and Julkunen, I. (2007). IFN regulatory factor family members differentially regulate the expression of type III IFN (IFN-lambda) genes. J Immunol. *179*, 3434-42.

Ozaki, K., and Leonard, W.J. (2002). Cytokine and cytokine receptor pleiotropy and redundancy. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 29355-29358.

Ozawa, M., Basnet, S., Burley, L.M., Neumann, G., Hatta, M., and Kawaoka, Y. (2011). Impact of amino acid mutations in PB2, PB1-F2, and NS1 on the replication and pathogenicity of pandemic (H1N1) 2009 influenza viruses. J. Virol. *85*, 4596-4601.

Ozinsky, A., Underhill, D.M., Fontenot, J.D., Hajjar, A.M., Smith, K.D., Wilson, C.B., Schroeder, L., and Aderem, A. (2000). The repertoire for pattern recognition of pathogens by the innate immune system is defined by cooperation between toll-like receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. *97*, 13766-71.

Paludan, S.R., and Bowie, A.G. (2013). Immune sensing of DNA. Immunity. 38, 870-880.

Paquette, S.G., Banner, D., Chi le, T.B., Leomicronn, A.J., Xu, L., Ran, L., Huang, S.S., Farooqui, A., Kelvin, D.J., and Kelvin, A.A. (2014). Pandemic H1N1 influenza A directly induces a robust and acute inflammatory gene signature in primary human bronchial epithelial cells downstream of membrane fusion. Virology. *448*, 91-103.

Patel, J.R., Vora, K.P., Tripathi, S., Zeng, H., Tumpey, T.M., Katz, J.M., Sambhara, S., and Gangappa, S. (2011). Infection of lung epithelial cells with pandemic 2009 A(H1N1) influenza viruses reveals isolate-specific differences in infectivity and host cellular responses. Viral Immunol. *24*, 89-99.

Patil, S., Fribourg, M., Ge, Y., Batish, M., Tyagi, S., Hayot, F., and Sealfon, S.C. (2015). Singlecell analysis shows that paracrine signaling by first responder cells shapes the interferon-beta response to viral infection. Sci. Signal. *8*, ra16.

Pavlovic, J., Haller, O., and Staeheli, P. (1992). Human and mouse mx proteins inhibit different steps of the influenza virus multiplication cycle. J. Virol. *66*, 2564-2569.

Perkins, D.J., and Vogel, S.N. (2015). Space and time: New considerations about the relationship between toll-like receptors (TLRs) and type I interferons (IFNs). Cytokine. 74, 171-174.

Perrone, L.A., Plowden, J.K., Garcia-Sastre, A., Katz, J.M., and Tumpey, T.M. (2008). H5N1 and 1918 pandemic influenza virus infection results in early and excessive infiltration of macrophages and neutrophils in the lungs of mice. PLoS Pathog. *4*, e1000115.

Pestka, S., Kotenko, S.V., Muthukumaran, G., Izotova, L.S., Cook, J.R., and Garotta, G. (1997). The interferon gamma (IFN-gamma) receptor: A paradigm for the multichain cytokine receptor. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. *8*, 189-206.

Pichlmair, A., Schulz, O., Tan, C.P., Naslund, T.I., Liljestrom, P., Weber, F., and Reis e Sousa, C. (2006). RIG-I-mediated antiviral responses to single-stranded RNA bearing 5'-phosphates. Science. *314*, 997-1001.

Pietila, T.E., Latvala, S., Osterlund, P., and Julkunen, I. (2010). Inhibition of dynamin-dependent endocytosis interferes with type III IFN expression in bacteria-infected human monocyte-derived DCs. J. Leukoc. Biol. *88*, 665-674.

Pietila, T.E., Veckman, V., Lehtonen, A., Lin, R., Hiscott, J., and Julkunen, I. (2007). Multiple NF-kappaB and IFN regulatory factor family transcription factors regulate CCL19 gene expression in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Immunol. *178*, 253-61.

Pirhonen, J., Sareneva, T., Julkunen, I., and Matikainen, S. (2001). Virus infection induces proteolytic processing of IL-18 in human macrophages via caspase-1 and caspase-3 activation. Eur. J. Immunol. *31*, 726-733.

Pirhonen, J., Sareneva, T., Kurimoto, M., Julkunen, I., and Matikainen, S. (1999). Virus infection activates IL-1 beta and IL-18 production in human macrophages by a caspase-1-dependent pathway. J Immunol. *162*, 7322-9.

Pleschka, S., Wolff, T., Ehrhardt, C., Hobom, G., Planz, O., Rapp, U.R., and Ludwig, S. (2001). Influenza virus propagation is impaired by inhibition of the raf/MEK/ERK signalling cascade. Nat. Cell Biol. *3*, 301-305.

Plotch, S.J., Bouloy, M., and Krug, R.M. (1979). Transfer of 5'-terminal cap of globin mRNA to influenza viral complementary RNA during transcription in vitro. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 76, 1618-1622.

Plotch, S.J., Bouloy, M., Ulmanen, I., and Krug, R.M. (1981). A unique cap(m7GpppXm)dependent influenza virion endonuclease cleaves capped RNAs to generate the primers that initiate viral RNA transcription. Cell. 23, 847-858.

Poltorak, A., He, X., Smirnova, I., Liu, M.Y., Van Huffel, C., Du, X., Birdwell, D., Alejos, E., Silva, M., Galanos, C., *et al.* (1998). Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: Mutations in Tlr4 gene. Science. *282*, 2085-8.

Pothlichet, J., Meunier, I., Davis, B.K., Ting, J.P., Skamene, E., von Messling, V., and Vidal, S.M. (2013). Type I IFN triggers RIG-I/TLR3/NLRP3-dependent inflammasome activation in influenza A virus infected cells. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003256.

Presky, D.H., Yang, H., Minetti, L.J., Chua, A.O., Nabavi, N., Wu, C.Y., Gately, M.K., and Gubler, U. (1996). A functional interleukin 12 receptor complex is composed of two beta-type cytokine receptor subunits. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *93*, 14002-14007.

Prokunina-Olsson, L., Muchmore, B., Tang, W., Pfeiffer, R.M., Park, H., Dickensheets, H., Hergott, D., Porter-Gill, P., Mumy, A., Kohaar, I., *et al.* (2013). A variant upstream of IFNL3 (IL28B) creating a new interferon gene IFNL4 is associated with impaired clearance of hepatitis C virus. Nat. Genet. *45*, 164-171.

Pulendran, B., and Maddur, M.S. (2015). Innate immune sensing and response to influenza. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. *386*, 23-71.

Qiao, Y., Giannopoulou, E.G., Chan, C.H., Park, S.H., Gong, S., Chen, J., Hu, X., Elemento, O., and Ivashkiv, L.B. (2013). Synergistic activation of inflammatory cytokine genes by interferon-gamma-induced chromatin remodeling and toll-like receptor signaling. Immunity. *39*, 454-469.

Qu, C., Moran, T.M., and Randolph, G.J. (2003). Autocrine type I IFN and contact with endothelium promote the presentation of influenza A virus by monocyte-derived APC. J. Immunol. *170*, 1010-1018.

Qureshi, S.A., Salditt-Georgieff, M., and Darnell, J.E., Jr. (1995). Tyrosine-phosphorylated Stat1 and Stat2 plus a 48-kDa protein all contact DNA in forming interferon-stimulated-gene factor 3. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *92*, 3829-3833.

Rajsbaum, R., Albrecht, R.A., Wang, M.K., Maharaj, N.P., Versteeg, G.A., Nistal-Villan, E., Garcia-Sastre, A., and Gack, M.U. (2012). Species-specific inhibition of RIG-I ubiquitination and IFN induction by the influenza A virus NS1 protein. PLoS Pathog. *8*, e1003059.

Ramirez-Martinez, G., Cruz-Lagunas, A., Jimenez-Alvarez, L., Espinosa, E., Ortiz-Quintero, B., Santos-Mendoza, T., Herrera, M.T., Canche-Pool, E., Mendoza, C., Banales, J.L., *et al.* (2013). Seasonal and pandemic influenza H1N1 viruses induce differential expression of SOCS-1 and RIG-I genes and cytokine/chemokine production in macrophages. Cytokine. *62*, 151-159.

Ranjan, P., Singh, N., Kumar, A., Neerincx, A., Kremmer, E., Cao, W., Davis, W.G., Katz, J.M., Gangappa, S., Lin, R., *et al.* (2015). NLRC5 interacts with RIG-I to induce a robust antiviral response against influenza virus infection. Eur. J. Immunol. *45*, 758-772.

Rassa, J.C., Meyers, J.L., Zhang, Y., Kudaravalli, R., and Ross, S.R. (2002). Murine retroviruses activate B cells via interaction with toll-like receptor 4. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *99*, 2281-2286.

Reading, P.C., Miller, J.L., and Anders, E.M. (2000). Involvement of the mannose receptor in infection of macrophages by influenza virus. J. Virol. 74, 5190-5197.

Regan, T., Nally, K., Carmody, R., Houston, A., Shanahan, F., Macsharry, J., and Brint, E. (2013). Identification of TLR10 as a key mediator of the inflammatory response to listeria monocytogenes in intestinal epithelial cells and macrophages. J. Immunol. *191*, 6084-6092.

Reizis, B., Bunin, A., Ghosh, H.S., Lewis, K.L., and Sisirak, V. (2011). Plasmacytoid dendritic cells: Recent progress and open questions. Annu. Rev. Immunol. *29*, 163-183.

Rintahaka, J., Wiik, D., Kovanen, P.E., Alenius, H., and Matikainen, S. (2008). Cytosolic antiviral RNA recognition pathway activates caspases 1 and 3. J. Immunol. *180*, 1749-1757.

Robbins, S.H., Walzer, T., Dembele, D., Thibault, C., Defays, A., Bessou, G., Xu, H., Vivier, E., Sellars, M., Pierre, P., *et al.* (2008). Novel insights into the relationships between dendritic cell subsets in human and mouse revealed by genome-wide expression profiling. Genome Biol. *9*, R17-2008-9-1-r17.

Roberts, T.L., Idris, A., Dunn, J.A., Kelly, G.M., Burnton, C.M., Hodgson, S., Hardy, L.L., Garceau, V., Sweet, M.J., Ross, I.L., *et al.* (2009). HIN-200 proteins regulate caspase activation in response to foreign cytoplasmic DNA. Science. *323*, 1057-1060.

Ronni, T., Melen, K., Malygin, A., and Julkunen, I. (1993). Control of IFN-inducible MxA gene expression in human cells. J. Immunol. *150*, 1715-1726.

Ronni, T., Sareneva, T., Pirhonen, J., and Julkunen, I. (1995). Activation of IFN-alpha, IFN-gamma, MxA, and IFN regulatory factor 1 genes in influenza A virus-infected human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. J. Immunol. *154*, 2764-2774.

Rossman, J.S., Leser, G.P., and Lamb, R.A. (2012). Filamentous influenza virus enters cells via macropinocytosis. J. Virol. *86*, 10950-10960.

Rothenfusser, S., Goutagny, N., DiPerna, G., Gong, M., Monks, B.G., Schoenemeyer, A., Yamamoto, M., Akira, S., and Fitzgerald, K.A. (2005). The RNA helicase Lgp2 inhibits TLR-independent sensing of viral replication by retinoic acid-inducible gene-I. J. Immunol. *175*, 5260-5268.

Sabbah, A., Chang, T.H., Harnack, R., Frohlich, V., Tominaga, K., Dube, P.H., Xiang, Y., and Bose, S. (2009). Activation of innate immune antiviral responses by Nod2. Nat. Immunol. *10*, 1073-1080.

Saito, T., Hirai, R., Loo, Y.M., Owen, D., Johnson, C.L., Sinha, S.C., Akira, S., Fujita, T., and Gale, M.,Jr. (2007). Regulation of innate antiviral defenses through a shared repressor domain in RIG-I and LGP2. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *104*, 582-587.

Sallusto, F., and Lanzavecchia, A. (1994). Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. J Exp Med. *179*, 1109-18.

Sato, M., Suemori, H., Hata, N., Asagiri, M., Ogasawara, K., Nakao, K., Nakaya, T., Katsuki, M., Noguchi, S., Tanaka, N., *et al.* (2000a). Distinct and essential roles of transcription factors IRF-3 and IRF-7 in response to viruses for IFN-alpha/beta gene induction. Immunity. *13*, 539-548.

Sato, S., Nomura, F., Kawai, T., Takeuchi, O., Muhlradt, P.F., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2000b). Synergy and cross-tolerance between toll-like receptor (TLR) 2- and TLR4-mediated signaling pathways. J Immunol. *165*, 7096-101.

Satoh, T., Kato, H., Kumagai, Y., Yoneyama, M., Sato, S., Matsushita, K., Tsujimura, T., Fujita, T., Akira, S., and Takeuchi, O. (2010). LGP2 is a positive regulator of RIG-I- and MDA5mediated antiviral responses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *107*, 1512-1517.

Schlee, M., Roth, A., Hornung, V., Hagmann, C.A., Wimmenauer, V., Barchet, W., Coch, C., Janke, M., Mihailovic, A., Wardle, G., *et al.* (2009). Recognition of 5' triphosphate by RIG-I helicase requires short blunt double-stranded RNA as contained in panhandle of negative-strand virus. Immunity. *31*, 25-34.

Schlitzer, A., McGovern, N., and Ginhoux, F. (2015). Dendritic cells and monocyte-derived cells: Two complementary and integrated functional systems. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. *41*, 9-22.

Schoenemeyer, A., Barnes, B.J., Mancl, M.E., Latz, E., Goutagny, N., Pitha, P.M., Fitzgerald, K.A., and Golenbock, D.T. (2005). The interferon regulatory factor, IRF5, is a central mediator of toll-like receptor 7 signaling. J Biol Chem. *280*, 17005-12.

Schroder, K., and Tschopp, J. (2010). The inflammasomes. Cell. 140, 821-832.

Segura, E., Touzot, M., Bohineust, A., Cappuccio, A., Chiocchia, G., Hosmalin, A., Dalod, M., Soumelis, V., and Amigorena, S. (2013). Human inflammatory dendritic cells induce Th17 cell differentiation. Immunity. *38*, 336-348.

Senftleben, U., Cao, Y., Xiao, G., Greten, F.R., Krahn, G., Bonizzi, G., Chen, Y., Hu, Y., Fong, A., Sun, S.C., *et al.* (2001). Activation by IKKalpha of a second, evolutionary conserved, NF-kappa B signaling pathway. Science. *293*, 1495-1499.

Serbina, N.V., Salazar-Mather, T.P., Biron, C.A., Kuziel, W.A., and Pamer, E.G. (2003). TNF/iNOS-producing dendritic cells mediate innate immune defense against bacterial infection. Immunity. *19*, 59-70.

Seth, R.B., Sun, L., Ea, C.K., and Chen, Z.J. (2005). Identification and characterization of MAVS, a mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein that activates NF-kappaB and IRF 3. Cell. *122*, 669-682.

Sheppard, P., Kindsvogel, W., Xu, W., Henderson, K., Schlutsmeyer, S., Whitmore, T.E., Kuestner, R., Garrigues, U., Birks, C., Roraback, J., *et al.* (2003). IL-28, IL-29 and their class II cytokine receptor IL-28R. Nat Immunol. *4*, 63-8.

Shi, Y., Wu, Y., Zhang, W., Qi, J., and Gao, G.F. (2014). Enabling the 'host jump': Structural determinants of receptor-binding specificity in influenza A viruses. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. *12*, 822-831.

Shinya, K., Ebina, M., Yamada, S., Ono, M., Kasai, N., and Kawaoka, Y. (2006). Avian flu: Influenza virus receptors in the human airway. Nature. *440*, 435-436.

Short, K.R., Brooks, A.G., Reading, P.C., and Londrigan, S.L. (2012). The fate of influenza A virus after infection of human macrophages and dendritic cells. J. Gen. Virol. *93*, 2315-2325.

Sieczkarski, S.B., and Whittaker, G.R. (2002). Influenza virus can enter and infect cells in the absence of clathrin-mediated endocytosis. J. Virol. *76*, 10455-10464.

Sieczkarski, S.B., and Whittaker, G.R. (2003). Differential requirements of Rab5 and Rab7 for endocytosis of influenza and other enveloped viruses. Traffic. *4*, 333-343.

Siegal, F.P., Kadowaki, N., Shodell, M., Fitzgerald-Bocarsly, P.A., Shah, K., Ho, S., Antonenko, S., and Liu, Y.J. (1999). The nature of the principal type 1 interferon-producing cells in human blood. Science. *284*, 1835-1837.

Silverman, R.H. (2007). Viral encounters with 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetase and RNase L during the interferon antiviral response. J. Virol. *81*, 12720-12729.

Siren, J., Imaizumi, T., Sarkar, D., Pietila, T., Noah, D.L., Lin, R., Hiscott, J., Krug, R.M., Fisher, P.B., Julkunen, I., *et al.* (2006). Retinoic acid inducible gene-I and mda-5 are involved in influenza A virus-induced expression of antiviral cytokines. Microbes Infect. *8*, 2013-20.

Siren, J., Pirhonen, J., Julkunen, I., and Matikainen, S. (2005). IFN-alpha regulates TLRdependent gene expression of IFN-alpha, IFN-beta, IL-28, and IL-29. J Immunol. *174*, 1932-7.

Smith, K.D., Andersen-Nissen, E., Hayashi, F., Strobe, K., Bergman, M.A., Barrett, S.L., Cookson, B.T., and Aderem, A. (2003). Toll-like receptor 5 recognizes a conserved site on flagellin required for protofilament formation and bacterial motility. Nat. Immunol. *4*, 1247-1253.

Snijder, B., Sacher, R., Ramo, P., Damm, E.M., Liberali, P., and Pelkmans, L. (2009). Population context determines cell-to-cell variability in endocytosis and virus infection. Nature. *461*, 520-523.

Song, L., Liu, H., Gao, S., Jiang, W., and Huang, W. (2010). Cellular microRNAs inhibit replication of the H1N1 influenza A virus in infected cells. J. Virol. *84*, 8849-8860.

Sreenivasan, C., Thomas, M., Sheng, Z., Hause, B.M., Collin, E.A., Knudsen, D.E., Pillatzki, A., Nelson, E., Wang, D., Kaushik, R.S., *et al.* (2015). Replication and transmission of novel bovine influenza D virus in guinea pig model. J. Virol.

Staeheli, P., Haller, O., Boll, W., Lindenmann, J., and Weissmann, C. (1986). Mx protein: Constitutive expression in 3T3 cells transformed with cloned mx cDNA confers selective resistance to influenza virus. Cell. *44*, 147-158.

Suet Ting Tan, R., Lin, B., Liu, Q., Tucker-Kellogg, L., Ho, B., Leung, B.P., and Ling Ding, J. (2013). The synergy in cytokine production through MyD88-TRIF pathways is co-ordinated with ERK phosphorylation in macrophages. Immunol. Cell Biol. *91*, 377-387.

Sun, L., Wu, J., Du, F., Chen, X., and Chen, Z.J. (2013). Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is a cytosolic DNA sensor that activates the type I interferon pathway. Science. *339*, 786-791.

Sun, W., Li, Y., Chen, L., Chen, H., You, F., Zhou, X., Zhou, Y., Zhai, Z., Chen, D., and Jiang, Z. (2009). ERIS, an endoplasmic reticulum IFN stimulator, activates innate immune signaling through dimerization. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *106*, 8653-8658.

Tailor, P., Tamura, T., Kong, H.J., Kubota, T., Kubota, M., Borghi, P., Gabriele, L., and Ozato, K. (2007). The feedback phase of type I interferon induction in dendritic cells requires interferon regulatory factor 8. Immunity. *27*, 228-239.

Takaoka, A., Yanai, H., Kondo, S., Duncan, G., Negishi, H., Mizutani, T., Kano, S., Honda, K., Ohba, Y., Mak, T.W., *et al.* (2005). Integral role of IRF-5 in the gene induction programme activated by toll-like receptors. Nature. *434*, 243-249.

Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Horiuchi, T., Hoshino, K., Takeda, K., Dong, Z., Modlin, R.L., and Akira, S. (2002). Cutting edge: Role of toll-like receptor 1 in mediating immune response to microbial lipoproteins. J Immunol. *169*, 10-4.

Talon, J., Horvath, C.M., Polley, R., Basler, C.F., Muster, T., Palese, P., and Garcia-Sastre, A. (2000). Activation of interferon regulatory factor 3 is inhibited by the influenza A virus NS1 protein. J. Virol. *74*, 7989-7996.

Tamura, T., Kurotaki, D., and Koizumi, S. (2015). Regulation of myelopoiesis by the transcription factor IRF8. Int. J. Hematol. *101*, 342-351.

Tapia, K., Kim, W.K., Sun, Y., Mercado-Lopez, X., Dunay, E., Wise, M., Adu, M., and Lopez, C.B. (2013). Defective viral genomes arising in vivo provide critical danger signals for the triggering of lung antiviral immunity. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003703.

Thitithanyanont, A., Engering, A., Ekchariyawat, P., Wiboon-ut, S., Limsalakpetch, A., Yongvanitchit, K., Kum-Arb, U., Kanchongkittiphon, W., Utaisincharoen, P., Sirisinha, S., *et al.*

(2007). High susceptibility of human dendritic cells to avian influenza H5N1 virus infection and protection by IFN-alpha and TLR ligands. J. Immunol. *179*, 5220-5227.

Thomas, P.G., Dash, P., Aldridge, J.R., Jr, Ellebedy, A.H., Reynolds, C., Funk, A.J., Martin, W.J., Lamkanfi, M., Webby, R.J., Boyd, K.L., *et al.* (2009). The intracellular sensor NLRP3 mediates key innate and healing responses to influenza A virus via the regulation of caspase-1. Immunity. *30*, 566-575.

Thompson, W.W., Moore, M.R., Weintraub, E., Cheng, P.Y., Jin, X., Bridges, C.B., Bresee, J.S., and Shay, D.K. (2009). Estimating influenza-associated deaths in the united states. Am. J. Public Health. *99 Suppl 2*, S225-30.

Thompson, W.W., Shay, D.K., Weintraub, E., Brammer, L., Cox, N., Anderson, L.J., and Fukuda, K. (2003). Mortality associated with influenza and respiratory syncytial virus in the united states. JAMA. *289*, 179-186.

Tissari, J., Siren, J., Meri, S., Julkunen, I., and Matikainen, S. (2005). IFN-alpha enhances TLR3mediated antiviral cytokine expression in human endothelial and epithelial cells by up-regulating TLR3 expression. J Immunol. *174*, 4289-94.

Tong, S., Li, Y., Rivailler, P., Conrardy, C., Castillo, D.A., Chen, L.M., Recuenco, S., Ellison, J.A., Davis, C.T., York, I.A., *et al.* (2012). A distinct lineage of influenza A virus from bats. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *109*, 4269-4274.

Tong, S., Zhu, X., Li, Y., Shi, M., Zhang, J., Bourgeois, M., Yang, H., Chen, X., Recuenco, S., Gomez, J., *et al.* (2013). New world bats harbor diverse influenza A viruses. PLoS Pathog. *9*, e1003657.

Trinchieri, G. (2003). Interleukin-12 and the regulation of innate resistance and adaptive immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. *3*, 133-46.

Turan, K., Mibayashi, M., Sugiyama, K., Saito, S., Numajiri, A., and Nagata, K. (2004). Nuclear MxA proteins form a complex with influenza virus NP and inhibit the transcription of the engineered influenza virus genome. Nucleic Acids Res. *32*, 643-652.

Tussiwand, R., and Gautier, E.L. (2015). Transcriptional regulation of mononuclear phagocyte development. Front. Immunol. *6*, 533.

Unterholzner, L. (2013). The interferon response to intracellular DNA: Why so many receptors? Immunobiology. *218*, 1312-1321.

Upham, J.P., Pickett, D., Irimura, T., Anders, E.M., and Reading, P.C. (2010). Macrophage receptors for influenza A virus: Role of the macrophage galactose-type lectin and mannose receptor in viral entry. J. Virol. *84*, 3730-3737.

van Riel, D., Leijten, L.M., van der Eerden, M., Hoogsteden, H.C., Boven, L.A., Lambrecht, B.N., Osterhaus, A.D., and Kuiken, T. (2011). Highly pathogenic avian influenza virus H5N1 infects alveolar macrophages without virus production or excessive TNF-alpha induction. PLoS Pathog. *7*, e1002099.

Vanhaesebroeck, B., Stephens, L., and Hawkins, P. (2012). PI3K signalling: The path to discovery and understanding. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 13, 195-203.

Varga, Z.T., Ramos, I., Hai, R., Schmolke, M., Garcia-Sastre, A., Fernandez-Sesma, A., and Palese, P. (2011). The influenza virus protein PB1-F2 inhibits the induction of type I interferon at the level of the MAVS adaptor protein. PLoS Pathog. *7*, e1002067.

Veckman, V., Miettinen, M., Pirhonen, J., Siren, J., Matikainen, S., and Julkunen, I. (2004). Streptococcus pyogenes and lactobacillus rhamnosus differentially induce maturation and production of Th1-type cytokines and chemokines in human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Leukoc Biol. *75*, 764-71.

Veckman, V., Osterlund, P., Fagerlund, R., Melen, K., Matikainen, S., and Julkunen, I. (2006). TNF-alpha and IFN-alpha enhance influenza-A-virus-induced chemokine gene expression in human A549 lung epithelial cells. Virology. *345*, 96-104.

Vreede, F.T., Jung, T.E., and Brownlee, G.G. (2004). Model suggesting that replication of influenza virus is regulated by stabilization of replicative intermediates. J. Virol. *78*, 9568-9572.

Wang, C., Deng, L., Hong, M., Akkaraju, G.R., Inoue, J., and Chen, Z.J. (2001). TAK1 is a ubiquitin-dependent kinase of MKK and IKK. Nature. *412*, 346-351.

Wang, S.F., Huang, J.C., Lee, Y.M., Liu, S.J., Chan, Y.J., Chau, Y.P., Chong, P., and Chen, Y.M. (2008). DC-SIGN mediates avian H5N1 influenza virus infection in cis and in trans. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. *373*, 561-566.

Wang, T.T., and Palese, P. (2009). Universal epitopes of influenza virus hemagglutinins? Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. *16*, 233-234.

Wang, X., Li, M., Zheng, H., Muster, T., Palese, P., Beg, A.A., and Garcia-Sastre, A. (2000). Influenza A virus NS1 protein prevents activation of NF-kappaB and induction of alpha/beta interferon. J. Virol. *74*, 11566-11573.

Ward, C.L., Dempsey, M.H., Ring, C.J., Kempson, R.E., Zhang, L., Gor, D., Snowden, B.W., and Tisdale, M. (2004). Design and performance testing of quantitative real time PCR assays for influenza A and B viral load measurement. J. Clin. Virol. *29*, 179-188.

Weber, F., Wagner, V., Rasmussen, S.B., Hartmann, R., and Paludan, S.R. (2006). Doublestranded RNA is produced by positive-strand RNA viruses and DNA viruses but not in detectable amounts by negative-strand RNA viruses. J. Virol. *80*, 5059-5064.

Weber, M., Sediri, H., Felgenhauer, U., Binzen, I., Banfer, S., Jacob, R., Brunotte, L., Garcia-Sastre, A., Schmid-Burgk, J.L., Schmidt, T., *et al.* (2015). Influenza virus adaptation PB2-627K modulates nucleocapsid inhibition by the pathogen sensor RIG-I. Cell. Host Microbe. *17*, 309-319.

Wharton, S.A., Belshe, R.B., Skehel, J.J., and Hay, A.J. (1994). Role of virion M2 protein in influenza virus uncoating: Specific reduction in the rate of membrane fusion between virus and liposomes by amantadine. J. Gen. Virol. *75 (Pt 4)*, 945-948.

White, J.M., and Wilson, I.A. (1987). Anti-peptide antibodies detect steps in a protein conformational change: Low-pH activation of the influenza virus hemagglutinin. J. Cell Biol. *105*, 2887-2896.

Wies, E., Wang, M.K., Maharaj, N.P., Chen, K., Zhou, S., Finberg, R.W., and Gack, M.U. (2013). Dephosphorylation of the RNA sensors RIG-I and MDA5 by the phosphatase PP1 is essential for innate immune signaling. Immunity. *38*, 437-449.

Winterling, C., Koch, M., Koeppel, M., Garcia-Alcalde, F., Karlas, A., and Meyer, T.F. (2014). Evidence for a crucial role of a host non-coding RNA in influenza A virus replication. RNA Biol. *11*, 66-75.

Wise, H.M., Foeglein, A., Sun, J., Dalton, R.M., Patel, S., Howard, W., Anderson, E.C., Barclay, W.S., and Digard, P. (2009). A complicated message: Identification of a novel PB1-related protein translated from influenza A virus segment 2 mRNA. J. Virol. *83*, 8021-8031.

Wisskirchen, C., Ludersdorfer, T.H., Muller, D.A., Moritz, E., and Pavlovic, J. (2011). The cellular RNA helicase UAP56 is required for prevention of double-stranded RNA formation during influenza A virus infection. J. Virol. *85*, 8646-8655.

Wu, W., Zhang, W., Booth, J.L., and Metcalf, J.P. (2012). Influenza A(H1N1)pdm09 virus suppresses RIG-I initiated innate antiviral responses in the human lung. PLoS One. 7, e49856.

Wurzer, W.J., Ehrhardt, C., Pleschka, S., Berberich-Siebelt, F., Wolff, T., Walczak, H., Planz, O., and Ludwig, S. (2004). NF-kappaB-dependent induction of tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) and fas/FasL is crucial for efficient influenza virus propagation. J. Biol. Chem. *279*, 30931-30937.

Wynn, T.A., Chawla, A., and Pollard, J.W. (2013). Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease. Nature. 496, 445-455.

Xiao, H., Killip, M.J., Staeheli, P., Randall, R.E., and Jackson, D. (2013). The human interferoninduced MxA protein inhibits early stages of influenza A virus infection by retaining the incoming viral genome in the cytoplasm. J. Virol. *87*, 13053-13058.

Xu, L.G., Wang, Y.Y., Han, K.J., Li, L.Y., Zhai, Z., and Shu, H.B. (2005). VISA is an adapter protein required for virus-triggered IFN-beta signaling. Mol. Cell. *19*, 727-740.

Yamamoto, M., Sato, S., Mori, K., Hoshino, K., Takeuchi, O., Takeda, K., and Akira, S. (2002). Cutting edge: A novel toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter that preferentially activates the IFN-beta promoter in the toll-like receptor signaling. J. Immunol. *169*, 6668-6672.

Yamayoshi, S., Watanabe, M., Goto, H., and Kawaoka, Y. (2015). Identification of A novel viral protein expressed from the PB2 segment of influenza A virus. J. Virol.

Yanai, H., Chen, H.M., Inuzuka, T., Kondo, S., Mak, T.W., Takaoka, A., Honda, K., and Taniguchi, T. (2007). Role of IFN regulatory factor 5 transcription factor in antiviral immunity and tumor suppression. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. *104*, 3402-3407.

Yarovinsky, F., Zhang, D., Andersen, J.F., Bannenberg, G.L., Serhan, C.N., Hayden, M.S., Hieny, S., Sutterwala, F.S., Flavell, R.A., Ghosh, S., *et al.* (2005). TLR11 activation of dendritic cells by a protozoan profilin-like protein. Science. *308*, 1626-1629.

Yasuda, J., Nakada, S., Kato, A., Toyoda, T., and Ishihama, A. (1993). Molecular assembly of influenza virus: Association of the NS2 protein with virion matrix. Virology. *196*, 249-255.

Yi, A.K., Yoon, J.G., Hong, S.C., Redford, T.W., and Krieg, A.M. (2001). Lipopolysaccharide and CpG DNA synergize for tumor necrosis factor-alpha production through activation of NF-kappaB. Int Immunol. *13*, 1391-404.

Yoneyama, M., Kikuchi, M., Natsukawa, T., Shinobu, N., Imaizumi, T., Miyagishi, M., Taira, K., Akira, S., and Fujita, T. (2004). The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. Nat Immunol. *5*, 730-7.

Yoneyama, M., Onomoto, K., Jogi, M., Akaboshi, T., and Fujita, T. (2015). Viral RNA detection by RIG-I-like receptors. Curr. Opin. Immunol. *32*, 48-53.

Yu, W.C., Chan, R.W., Wang, J., Travanty, E.A., Nicholls, J.M., Peiris, J.S., Mason, R.J., and Chan, M.C. (2011). Viral replication and innate host responses in primary human alveolar epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages infected with influenza H5N1 and H1N1 viruses. J. Virol. *85*, 6844-6855.

Zandi, E., Rothwarf, D.M., Delhase, M., Hayakawa, M., and Karin, M. (1997). The IkappaB kinase complex (IKK) contains two kinase subunits, IKKalpha and IKKbeta, necessary for IkappaB phosphorylation and NF-kappaB activation. Cell. *91*, 243-252.

Zaritsky, L.A., Bedsaul, J.R., and Zoon, K.C. (2015). Virus multiplicity of infection affects type I interferon subtype induction profiles and interferon-stimulated genes. J. Virol. *89*, 11534-11548.

Zeng, H., Pappas, C., Katz, J.M., and Tumpey, T.M. (2011). The 2009 pandemic H1N1 and triplereassortant swine H1N1 influenza viruses replicate efficiently but elicit an attenuated inflammatory response in polarized human bronchial epithelial cells. J. Virol. *85*, 686-696.

Zhang, D., Zhang, G., Hayden, M.S., Greenblatt, M.B., Bussey, C., Flavell, R.A., and Ghosh, S. (2004). A toll-like receptor that prevents infection by uropathogenic bacteria. Science. *303*, 1522-1526.

Zhang, R., Chi, X., Wang, S., Qi, B., Yu, X., and Chen, J.L. (2014). The regulation of autophagy by influenza A virus. Biomed. Res. Int. 2014, 498083.

Zhang, Y.H., Zhao, Y., Li, N., Peng, Y.C., Giannoulatou, E., Jin, R.H., Yan, H.P., Wu, H., Liu, J.H., Liu, N., *et al.* (2013). Interferon-induced transmembrane protein-3 genetic variant rs12252-C is associated with severe influenza in chinese individuals. Nat. Commun. *4*, 1418.

Zhao, L., Zhu, J., Zhou, H., Zhao, Z., Zou, Z., Liu, X., Lin, X., Zhang, X., Deng, X., Wang, R., *et al.* (2015). Identification of cellular microRNA-136 as a dual regulator of RIG-I-mediated innate immunity that antagonizes H5N1 IAV replication in A549 cells. Sci. Rep. *5*, 14991.

Zhao, M., Zhang, J., Phatnani, H., Scheu, S., and Maniatis, T. (2012). Stochastic expression of the interferon-beta gene. PLoS Biol. *10*, e1001249.

Zhirnov, O.P. (1990). Solubilization of matrix protein M1/M from virions occurs at different pH for orthomyxo- and paramyxoviruses. Virology. *176*, 274-279.

Zhirnov, O.P., and Klenk, H.D. (2013). Influenza A virus proteins NS1 and hemagglutinin along with M2 are involved in stimulation of autophagy in infected cells. J. Virol. *87*, 13107-13114.

Zhirnov, O.P., Konakova, T.E., Wolff, T., and Klenk, H.D. (2002). NS1 protein of influenza A virus down-regulates apoptosis. J. Virol. *76*, 1617-1625.

Zhong, B., Yang, Y., Li, S., Wang, Y.Y., Li, Y., Diao, F., Lei, C., He, X., Zhang, L., Tien, P., *et al.* (2008). The adaptor protein MITA links virus-sensing receptors to IRF3 transcription factor activation. Immunity. *29*, 538-550.

Zhou, Z., Jiang, X., Liu, D., Fan, Z., Hu, X., Yan, J., Wang, M., and Gao, G.F. (2009). Autophagy is involved in influenza A virus replication. Autophagy. *5*, 321-328.

Zigmond, E., Varol, C., Farache, J., Elmaliah, E., Satpathy, A.T., Friedlander, G., Mack, M., Shpigel, N., Boneca, I.G., Murphy, K.M., *et al.* (2012). Ly6C hi monocytes in the inflamed colon give rise to proinflammatory effector cells and migratory antigen-presenting cells. Immunity. *37*, 1076-1090.

Zou, J., Chang, M., Nie, P., and Secombes, C.J. (2009). Origin and evolution of the RIG-I like RNA helicase gene family. BMC Evol. Biol. *9*, 85-2148-9-85.

Recent Publications in this Series

101/2015 Kaisa Kyöstilä Identification of Novel Mutations and Molecular Pathways for Canine Neurodegeneration and Chondrodysplasia 102/2015 Emmi Joensuu Epigenetic Alterations in Sporadic and Familial Cancers 103/2015 Elina Reponen Preoperative Risk-Assessment Methods, Short-Term Outcome, and Patient Satisfaction in Elective Cranial Neurosurgery 104/2015 Riina Kandolin Cardiac Sarcoidosis in Giant Cell Myocarditis in Finland 106/2015 Karmen Kapp Polyphenolic and Essential Oil Composition of Mentha and Their Antimicrobial Effect 107/2015 Dina Popova Neurophysiological mechanisms of Plasticity Induced in Adult Brain 1/2016 Pauliina Saurus Regulation of Podocyte Apoptosis in Diabetic Kidney Disease - Role of SHIP2, PDK1 and CDK2 2/2016 Sanna Toivonen Derivation of Hepatocyte Like Cells from Human Pluripotent Stem Cells 3/2016 Marjaana Peltola AMIGO-Kv2.1 Potassium Channel Complex: Identification and Association with Schizophrenia-**Related Phenotypes** 4/2016 Niko-Petteri Nykänen Cellular Physiology and Cell-to-Cell Propagation of Tau in Neurodegeneration: The Impact of Late-Onset Alzheimer's Disease Susceptibility Genes 5/2016 Liisa Korkalo Hidden Hunger in Adolescent Mozambican Girls: Dietary Assessment, Micronutrient Status, and Associations between Dietary Diversity and Selected Biomarkers 6/2016 Teija Ojala Lactobacillus crispatus and Propionibacterium freudenreichii: A Genomic and Transcriptomic View 7/2016 César Araujo Prostatic Acid Phosphatase as a Regulator of Endo/Exocytosis and Lysosomal Degradation 8/2016 Jens Verbeeren Regulation of the Minor Spliceosome through Alternative Splicing and Nuclear Retention of the U11/U12-65K mRNA 9/2016 Xiang Zhao HMGB1 (Amphoterin) and AMIGO1 in Brain Development 10/2016 Tarja Pääkkönen (Jokinen) Benign Familial Juvenile Epilepsy in Lagotto Romagnolo Dogs 11/2016 Nora Hiivala Patient Safety Incidents, Their Contributing and Mitigating Factors in Dentistry 12/2016 Juho Heinonen Intravenous Lipid Emulsion for Treatment of Local Anaesthetic and Tricyclic Antidepressant Toxicity 13/2016 Riikka Jokinen

Genetic Studies of Tissue-Specific Mitochondrial DNA Segregation in Mammals



ISSN 2342-3161